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| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2011.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2011
was HK$1,986.7 million (2010: HK$1,412.0 million), an increase of
41% over 2010. The profit attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$868.9 million (2010: HK$1,432.5 million), representing a 39%
decrease compare to the year before.

The decrease in profit for the year was the result of:

(1) Lower contributions from non-core disposals: a non-core
subsidiary was disposed of in 2011 resulting in a gain on disposal
of HK$118.8 million. In 2010, two non-core subsidiaries were
disposed of and resulted in a gain on disposal of HK$613.7

million; and

(2) No exceptional profits: in 2010, there was an exceptional
profit attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$192.6
million for the Shanghai Allied Cement factory site relocation
compensation, after deducting income tax and income
attributable to the non-controlling interests.

Earnings per share amounted to HK57.67 cents (2010: HK95.07
cents), while net asset value per share attributable to owners of the
Company was HK$9.26 at the end of 2011 (2010: HK$8.36).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company has recommended a final
dividend of HK4 cents per share for the year ended 31st December,
2011 (2010: HK10 cents per share) payable to the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of

members of the Company on Thursday, 31st May, 2012.

4 KLZHBHRERR2AR Tian An China Investments Company Limited
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1) For determining the entitlement to attend and

vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (“2012 AGM”)

The 2012 AGM is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 24th May,
2012. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2012 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed on Wednesday, 23rd May, 2012 and Thursday, 24th May,
2012, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to be eligible to
attend and vote at 2012 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of 26th Floor, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22nd May, 2012.

(2) For determining the entitlement to the proposed

final dividend

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval by the
Shareholders at the 2012 AGM. For determining the entitlement
to the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31st December,
2011, the register of members of the Company will be closed
on Wednesday, 30th May, 2012 and Thursday, 31st May, 2012,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order for a Shareholder to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29th May, 2012. Subject to approval
by the Shareholders at the 2012 AGM, dividend warrants are
expected to be despatched to the Shareholders by post on or
around Wednesday, 20th June, 2012.

3/ Annual Report 2011 5
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of high-

end apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties,

property investment and property management, as well as the

manufacture, sale, and trading of cement and clinker in China.

An outline of our achievements in 2011 is described below:

(1)

(3)

We have continued to dispose of non-core assets. During the
year, we completed the disposal of our interest in Jiangmen Tian
An Garden. We also restructured the sale and purchase agreement
with the buyer of the Zhaoqing project on terms satisfactory to
Tian An. The disposal of our 50% interest in Huiyang Danshui
project is expected to be completed before the end of 2012.

Total attributable sales of the Group amounted to 98,400 m? in
2011 (2010: 126,600 m?), representing a decrease of 22%. A total
attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 230,600 m?2
(2010: 77,500 m2) of residential/commercial properties was
completed during the year under review, representing an increase
of 198%. The completion of the respective phases of our Panyu,
Longgang and Foshan cyberparks is the main reason for the large

increase in properties completed.

By the end of 2011, a total attributable GFA of approximately
737,400 m2 (2010: 470,600 m2) was under construction,
representing a 57% increase over 2010, including Shanghai
Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 1), Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1
Parts 1 and 2), Wuxi Manhattan (Phase 1 Part 2), Wuxi Tian An
Intelligent Park (Phase 1 Part 1), Nantong Tian An Garden (Phase
5 Part 2), Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1), Jiangyin Tian
An Cyber Park (Phase 1), Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber
Park (Phase 3), Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (Phase 4),
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (Phase 6
Part 2), Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1), Tianjin Tian
An Cyber Park (in Xiging District) (Phase 1), Changzhou Tian An
Cyberpark (Phase 1 Parts 3 and 4), Chongqing Tian An Cyberpark
(Phase 1), Huizhou Danshui Tian An Xinyangcheng (Phase 1 Part
1) and Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Part 1).

Rental income increased by 11% as compared with 2010.

KLZHBHRERR2AR Tian An China Investments Company Limited
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(4)

(6)

We will continue to devote significant efforts to our cyberpark
investments. Our southern cyberparks have been progressing
well. The projects in Shenzhen, Panyu, Longgang and Foshan
all performed in line with our expectations. As far as our eastern
and northern cyberparks are concerned, we expect completion
of construction works for our Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase
1) and Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Parts 3 and 4)
in 2012. Construction works for Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park,
Nantong Tian An Cyberpark. Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park,
Chonggqing Tian An Cyber Park and Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (in
Xiging District) have commenced and are progressing as planned.
During 2011, we acquired additional landbank in Tianjin (in
Dongli District) (870 mu), where we intend to build integrated
business parks.

The central and local governments in mainland China have
encouraged developers to focus their efforts on urban renewal.
Essentially this means demolishing old and decrepit buildings
to build new ones in their place with higher plot ratios. In this
regard, Tian An has commenced its first urban renewal project
in Huawei New City Area, Longgang district, Shenzhen. This is a
50/50 joint venture with Success group, a highly regarded private
developer in Shenzhen. Tian An Cloud Park has a site area of
760,000 m? and total GFA of approximately 2.8 million m2. This
will be a large scale development involving a combination of new
technology and a modern city complex (including industrial R&D
buildings, commercial and residential properties and apartments)
close to the centre of Shenzhen. Phase 1 of about 400,000 m?
will commence in the second quarter of 2012.

The cement division, which includes the production and trading
of cement and related products in Shandong and Shanghai,
contributed a segment profit of HK$60.2 million.

The previously announced spin-off of the cement division and
its separate listing on the main board of the Stock Exchange
under Allied Cement Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1312) was
accomplished on 18th January, 2012, raising gross proceeds of
HK$165 million. We believe that the listing of the division as a
separate unit will better reflect its value.

PLANS FOR 2012

Objectives for 2012 are as follows:

(1)

We will continue to adjust through acquisitions and disposals the
quality of our landbank and sale of our end products to balance the
demands of short term returns and long term capital appreciation.

3/ Annual Report 2011 7
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(2) We will accelerate construction works for all our development
projects. We are however cognitive of the slow property market
in China at the moment. We will adjust our products and pricing
where necessary to assist the sale of our products in this weak
environment.

(3) We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark
projects where we believe our products are competitive in the
present environment. We will increase our cyberpark landbank
where the initial capital outlay is considered to be low.

(4) We will work closely with onshore mainland banks which are
interested in extending credit to customers such as ourselves. We
hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-utilising
equity in order to increase our return on equity.

(5) We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Since the latter part of 2010, the central government has been
concerned with the increase in property prices. Accordingly, it has
tightened monetary policy, restricted the number of homes that can
be purchased and increased its low cost housing programme. Foreign
investment in residential properties has also been restricted. These
measures have dampened sentiment in the short term but we remain
confident of the longer term prospects of the property market in
China. We will continue to position our Group to take advantage of
opportunities as they are identified.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to
the customers for their trust.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei

Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2012
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment and joint venture investments in the PRC constituted the
most significant source of revenue to the Group. An analysis is as

follows:
(1) Property development

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and jointly controlled entities)
increased from HK$518.4 million to HK$763.7 million compared
with 2010. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted
of Changzhou Tian An Villas (Phase 2), Nantong Tian An Garden
(Phase 5) and Wuxi The Manhattan (Phase 1).

(2) Property investments

During the year, Shanghai Tian An Centre, Shanghai Racquet Club
& Apartments, Nanjing Tian An International Building, Dalian Tian
An International Tower and Beijing Park Apartments had satisfactory
leasing result and led to rental income increase from HK$346.7

million to HK$384.7 million, soaring by approximately 11%.

(3) Joint venture investments

2011 2010
FET TATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Contribution to profit:

Share of (loss) profit of associates (76) 1,728

Share of profit of jointly controlled
entities 474,664 264,537
474,588 266,265

10 RKEZHBEEERRAF Tian An China Investments Company Limited
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2. MAJOR SALES

For the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group’s sales activities

were concentrated principally on the following projects:

Project

Shenzhen Tian An Golf Garden (Phase 3)

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park
(Phases 2 and 3)

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech
Ecological Park (Phases 4, 5 and 6)

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
(Phase 3)

Shanghai Forest Villa

Wauxi The Manhattan (Phase 1)

Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)

Changzhou Tian An Villa
(Phase 1 and Phase 2 Part 1)

Changchun Tian An City One
Other projects

Total

3. LAND PORTFOLIO

Use

Residential
Commercial

Commercial/
Residential

Commercial

Residential
Residential
Commercial/
Residential
Residential

Residential
Commercial/

Residential

FEfE
HERERR
Attributable
GFA sold

F 75 Km?
10,000
23,000
22,900
4,000

1,800

5,800

23,400

2,300
4,000

1,200

98,400

The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
10,405,000 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
7,843,700 m?, consisting of 346,600 m? of completed investment

properties and 7,497,100 m? of properties under development and for

development), located mainly in Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou,

Huizhou, Dongguan, Foshan, Chongqing, Nantong, Wuxi,

Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing, Fuzhou, Changchun, Dalian, Tianjin

and Zhaoqing.

3/ Annual Report 2011 11
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RZEBE——F+_A=+—H  KEBEZEZE As at 31st December, 2011, the Group’s land portfolio principally

THASMT

(1) BRARIFRREYFE

2) BERIREYRE

consisted of the following:

(1) Properties under development and for development

REMELS
BREER
GFA

[SES {¥%  attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

Region F 73K m? F 73K m? F 73K m?

Northern China 1,411,500 910,900 2,322,400

Eastern China 1,657,600 1,303,300 2,960,900

Southern China 490,700 1,723,100 2,213,800

Total 3,559,800 3,937,300 7,497,100
(2) Completed investment properties

REEEG

BREER

GFA

[SES %  attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

Region F 75K m? 753K m2 773K m?

Northern China 61,400 23,500 84,900

Eastern China 146,900 68,400 215,300

Southern China 46,400 - 46,400

Total 254,700 91,900 346,600
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R-E——F+_-_A=+—8 AEE(BIE
HIWB AR - ETREEE QAR RARESA
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2,239)% 8T o A& E R EENGIE B2 548
A WikE B RIBENE © RICAL R -

R-E——F+-A=+—0 AKEERE
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4. EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2011, the Group, including its subsidiaries but
excluding associates and jointly controlled entities, employed 2,192
(31st December, 2010: 2,239) persons. The Group maintains a policy
of paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2011 is listed below:

RAEEAL REEE4L
HE Qualified University 50BR AT 508% LA b
Region Professionals Graduates Age 50 or Below Age Over 50
a5 28 (76%) 31 (84%) 23 (62%) 14 (38%)
Hong Kong
=it 32 (74%) 38 (88%) 33 (77%) 10 (23%)
Northern China
FEH 72 (63%) 79 (69%) 81 (71%) 33 (29%)
Eastern China
=R 22 (59%) 33 (89%) 30 (81%) 7 (19%)

Southern China

ENEEE I NASE NS BEREE
REREBABEIRE  BUEFIIRET
NTSHENEHETHRAZHS TEEE
AENMEFREEUBHRERMEI4 - 155
49 o

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 14, 15 and 49 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. EEEH
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
1. LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING

As at 31st December, 2011, the Group maintained its liquidity at
a healthy level with a balanced portfolio of financial resources.
The total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$2,287.8 million, providing sufficient working
capital for the daily operations of the Group.

As at 31st December, 2011, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,377.0 million (31st December,
2010: HK$2,927.6 million), including current liabilities of
HK$1,780.0 million (31st December, 2010: HK$1,166.5 million)
and non-current liabilities of HK$1,597.0 million (31st December,
2010: HK$1,761.1 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over total
equity) of the Group was 7% (31st December, 2010: negative of
2%). The borrowings were mainly used to finance the properties for
development and properties under construction. Increase in finance
costs is mainly due to the increase in market interest rates.

Approximately 72% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since the investments and operation of the
Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 68% of the Group’s borrowings bear interest at fixed rates
while the remainder is at floating rates.

2. RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.

3. PLEDGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2011, bank deposits of HK$52.9 million,
interest in a subsidiary of HK$115.0 million, aggregate carrying
values of property, plant and equipment, development properties
and investment properties of approximately HK$425.3 million,
HK$1,859.0 million and HK$5,920.1 million respectively, were
pledged for banking facilities and other loans granted to the Group
and mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and trade
payables.

14 KL BEEEARR AT Tian An China Investments Company Limited
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4. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A portion of a property for development that is held by a jointly
controlled entity with carrying value of HK$5.4 million is under idle
land investigation by the local authority. The piece of land owned
by the jointly controlled entity was entitled for several land use
right certificates. The development of more than half of the piece
of land was either completed or under development, except for a
portion of the land with 2 land use right certificates for the remaining
development of the whole project. The development progress of
properties for development of several jointly controlled entities with
carrying value of totally HK$228.6 million cannot wholly fulfill
building covenants under land grant contracts. The whole pieces of
land of these jointly controlled entities are under phased construction
stage and portion of them are either completed or under development,
except for a portion of vacant land for the remaining development of
the whole project. Moreover, further development of another property
for development of the Group with carrying value of HK$276.2
million has been overdue. In order to comply with the requirements
of local authorities, the Group has made application to restructure
the ownership of that property for development and new subsidiaries
will be established to hold and develop that property. Further, a land
site included in investment property of the Group with carrying value
of HK$318.5 million had been identified as idle land by the local
authority. The Group has invited another investor to develop this land
site jointly. The construction works for the first phase of development
is in progress. The Group is currently working diligently to prevent
the possible classification as idle land, including negotiating the
feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on legal
advices, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that the idle

land confiscation may not materialise.

As at 31st December, 2011, guarantees given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and bank facilities
utilised by an investee classified as available-for-sale investments
amounted to approximately HK$178.1 million. All the guarantees
provided by the Group were requested by banks and under normal
commercial terms. Legal actions were taken against the Group
resulting in possible contingent liabilities of approximately HK$203.4
million. The Group has assessed the claims and obtained legal
advice, and considers that either it is too early to assess the range of
possible liability at this stage or no additional provision is required to
be made.

3/ Annual Report 2011 15
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PROJECT REVIEW
1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Southern China
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m? with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m2. The Cyber
Park consists of industrial/office buildings, cyber technology buildings,
deluxe residential apartments and multi-function clubhouse.

The lettable commercial GFA is 50,130 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern to
other cities, including Guangzhou Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Dongguan,
Shenzhen Longgang, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Tianjin and Chongging, so
as to develop into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have
area upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will
increase accordingly.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project has a
site area of approximately 118,850 m? and total GFA of approximately
356,500 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park is used
to develop this project. Phase 3 has been commenced with GFA of
approximately 96,200 m? and expected to be completed in 2012.

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Huawei New City Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Tian An Cloud
Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000 m? and plan
to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m2. The project
is planned to be developed into a combination of new technology
and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D, commercial,
residential and apartments properties. Construction work for Phase
1 with a GFA of approximately 400,000 m? will be commenced in
2012.
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Perspective of Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Aerial View)
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Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District
of Dongguan, covers land area of approximately 159,931 m?
with total GFA of approximately 463,500 m2. The project is
planned to be developed into an integrated business park with
comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial and
residential composite. First phase of complex building with a GFA of
approximately 78,000 m2is under construction. Acquisition of second
piece of land is under negotiation with the local government.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large
scale project has a site area of 513,088 m2 and a total GFA of
approximately 712,500 m2. Phase 6 with GFA of approximately
57,000 m? is under construction and expected to be completed in
2012. The park development consists of industrial/office buildings,
science and technology buildings, high-class residential buildings and
multi-function clubhouse.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (45 %)

Located in Guicheng of Nanhai with site area of approximately
103,100 m2 and total GFA of approximately 257,800 m2. This project is
developing with the similar pattern as Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park.
Phase 4 with GFA of approximately 55,000 m?2 is under construction
and expected to be completed in 2012.

Huizhou Danshui Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Danshui of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 393,570 m? and
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had been
modified accordingly. Phase 1 with GFA of approximately 38,800 m? is
under construction and expected to be completed in 2012.
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Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the
oriental and international residents like to reside and adjacent to
the entrance of the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project
will be developed to a deluxe residential district with a site area
of approximately 362,320 m? and a total GFA of approximately
470,000 m2. Phase 1 of the project has a GFA of approximately
63,400 m? will be completed in first quarter of 2012. Since the
local government is modifying the surrounding planning of the land,
the master planning for property development is being modified

accordingly.
Shanghai Tian An Villa (100%)

This project, located near the Shanghai Sheshan National Travel and
Resort Area, combines the art of western architecture and eastern
architectural style, integrating island living, water facing, garden
and greenery. Construction work for the Phase 1 low density high-
class villas with GFA of approximately 32,200 m? was completed.
Phase 2 Part 1 villas with GFA of approximately 16,300 m? are under
construction. Since the local government is modifying the surrounding
planning of the land, the master planning for property development is

being modified accordingly.
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of
approximately 58,930 m2. This project has been re-planned as a
commercial and entertainment complex. The relocation of the last
few families is in final stage. Construction work of Phase 1 is expected

to commence in 2012.

Wauxi The Manhattan (100%)

This project is situated to the southwest of Wuxi city centre on a
site of 59,480 m? to be developed into a total GFA of approximately

146,200 m2. Phase 1 Part T with a GFA of approximately 38,000 m2 is
completed.
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Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (100%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District, with a site area of
approximately 106,960 m? and a total GFA of approximately
213,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. The construction of Phase 1
with a GFA of approximately 107,200 m? is expected to be completed
in2012.

Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial
Zone, with a site area of approximately 289,496 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 830,100 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Phase 1 of residential and
complex buildings with a GFA of approximately 126,100 m? is under
construction and expected to be completed in 2012.

Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wu Jin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favourable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa district in Changzhou. The
project occupies a site of 473,335 m2. Phase 2 Part 1 was completed.
Phase 2 Part 2 is expected to be commenced in 2012.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area with a site area of approximately 92,766 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 184,800 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Construction work for Phase 1,
E1 of approximately 7,200 m? is expected to be completed in 2012.

Nantong Tian An Garden (100%)

Situated on a site of 203,800 m? with a total GFA of 239,300 m? at
the heart of the New City Zone of Nantong, this is the first massive
ecological residential project in Nantong. Construction work for Phase
5 with GFA of approximately 27,100 m? is expected to be completed
in 2013.
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Perspective of Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (Aerial View)
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Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m2 and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite. Construction work
of Phase 1 with GFA of approximately 104,000 m? is expected to be
commenced in 2012.

Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,200 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 363,700 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase
1 with a GFA of approximately 81,000 m? is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2012.

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park - Green Village is located in
commercial centre area of Dadukou District, Chongqing, with a site
area of approximately 357,800 m? and a total GFA of approximately
894,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 145,400 m? is under construction and expected to be
completed in 2012.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in the
Dalian Economic & Technology Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 84,100 m? have been completed.
Master plan for Phase 3 is waiting for approval.

Dalian Tian An Jinma Centre (100%)

This project is located at the main road, Jin Ma Road, of the Dalian
Economic & Technology Development Zone and will be developed
into commercial/residential buildings with a total GFA of 134,400 m2.
Master plan is waiting for approval.
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Perspective of Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (Phase 4)

REBRLZEZE(—H) (HRE)
Perspective of Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (Phase 1)
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Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,954 m?, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 408,200 m? is being developed by stages. Construction
work for Phase 4 with a total GFA of 82,400 m? will be completed
2013.

Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiqing
District, Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 588,075 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 1,190,100 m2. The project is planned
to be developed into integrated business park with comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential
composite. Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately 119,600 m? is under
construction and expected to be completed in 2012.

Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (100%)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 582,000 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Construction work for Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 200,000 m? will be commenced in 2012.

2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m2. 24,940 m? were sold, 1,620 m2 were self occupied and
the remaining GFA of 22,350 m?2 have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies.

24 KL BEEEARR AT Tian An China Investments Company Limited



EERENWE DN

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEAEFERELTMAE (100%)
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Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 261 apartments with
68,380 m2; (2) a club house with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?; and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 979 m2. This project is leased property. Most of the tenants
are overseas top management from multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is approximately 90%.

Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou, the most flourishing shopping
district in Nanjing City. The building links up to the subway station.
The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,300 m? have been leased to
a department store. The office building with a GFA of approximately
11,500 m?, 235 m? were sold, the remaining GFA were 11,265 m? of
which 10,500 m? have been transferred to property investment.

Changzhou Tian An City Plaza (100%)

This 14-storey building with a total GFA of 48,400 m2 comprises a
large shopping arcade, first-class offices and a hotel. A GFA of the
properties for rent is 24,400 m?2 of which 24,080 m? of shopping
arcade has been leased.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The
total GFA is 67,200 m2. This 52-storey building is the tallest landmark
building of Dalian. 14,550 m? were sold, the remaining GFA have
been transferred to property investment.

Beijing Tian An Building (40%)
With a total GFA of 9,910 m2, this office building is located at a
prime site near the Beijing Hotel and Tian’anmen Square. The whole

building has been rented out to a lessee. The lessee had renovated the
building as a business hotel.
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Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m2.
Approximately half of the total number of units have been sold and
the remaining units kept for leasing purpose.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Fuzhou Summit Golf Country Club & Dengyun Resort (68.40%)

Built on a site of approximately 2,500,000 m?, of which site area
of approximately 1,718,400 m? was developed into an 18-hole golf
course, driving range and clubhouse, and the remaining site area of
approximately 781,600 m? will be developed into villas and other
deluxe living amenities. Rebuilding of golf course was commenced
in 2010. The revision of master planning of the Resort, which
would optimise the application of land resources, was submitted
for approval. Development of a new phase of villas is expected to

commence in 2012.
Zhaoging Resort & Golf Club (87.97 %)

An agreement was entered on 3rd December, 2007 to dispose in
stages of this project, of which the transaction is estimated to be
completed before the end of 2013.

Allied Cement Holdings Limited (75 %)

The spin-off and separate listing of Allied Cement Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1312) has been accomplished on 18th January, 2012.
The Group’s shareholding interest was then decreased from 100% to
75%.

The Group has 3 cement projects in Shanghai and Shandong. Its
principal activities are the manufacture and sales of high-grade
cement and clinker. The Shanghai Allied Cement factory will be
rebuilt in Pudong District of Shanghai subsequent to the confirmation
of site area with the government. The total sales volume of the cement
and clinker amounted to 2.02 million tonnes in 2011.

Sales from production and trading of cement and related products
by the operations in Shandong and Shanghai contributed a segment
profit of HK$60.2 million.
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Perspective of Fuzhou Tian An Dengyun Resort (Aerial View)
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Particulars of Property Development

BRR ERIR &8
TREEER BEER  BEEER  FERR
Buildable EREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
BE%E WEEE R# Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
ThHARm! FHAm’ Thxm  FhHAW
AR ZER BB EE AHEIER
A mEEE LR 118,850 Commercial 356,500  Phased 149,000 96,200 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang e (onstruction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North,
Longgang District, Shenzhen
RERZHES EE AHEIER
RENEHE 159931 Commercial 381,900 Phased - 78,000 39%
Dongguan Tian An [f= Construction
Cyber Park Residential 81,600  Stage - - 39%
Nancheng District, Dongguan -
463,500 78,000
ENRZERHENEE EE AHEIER
BT BEE - DBHR730% 513,088 Commercial 568,300 Phased 325,400 57,000 50%
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu iz Construction
Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential 144,200  Stage 45,300 - 50%
No. 730, Ying Bin Road, -
Panyu District, Guangzhou 712,500 370,700 57,000
BLRZEEHBAA EE AHEIER
Bl - BSE  BERE 103,100 Commercial 257,800 Phased 166,400 55,000 45%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park e (onstruction
No.1, Jianping Road, Stage
Nanhai District, Foshan
ENRARZRTES" AEREE AHEIER
BT BHE - AkE 393,570 Commercial 783,000 Phased - 38,800 100%
Huizhou Danshui Tian An Sun Life City" & Residential e (onstruction =
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, Stage
Huizhou
EBESEAERN" i AHEIER
R REM BEs 1128500 Residential 500,000 Phased 11,700 - 87.97%
Thaoging Resort & Golf Club” e (onstruction _—
Huilong Town, Gaoyao City, Stage
Zhaoging
BMBELG fr= AHEIER
M BEH366% 781,600 Residential 604,500 Phased 10,200 - 68.40%
Fuzhou Dengyun Resort WERES Construction
No.388, Dengyun Road, Fuzhou Ancillary & Stage
Commercial 143,600 - - 68.40%
748,100 10,200
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BRR  ERIR &B

TEREER BEER  BEEE  fibEs
Buildable EREE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BE%E WEEE R# Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
THRm! THAm! Thkm'  FhAn
EXRZEE f%E PEHIER
Liam - BR - EEE 362,320 Residential 405,800 Phased - 61,200 99.99%
TEERR MEREE Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & Stage
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Commercial 64,200 - 2,200 99.99%
Cao Bao Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai 470,000 63,400
-_— -_—
LERZAIE(ZHR=H) f%E PEHIER
HiEm - o545t 363,200 Residential 308,700 Phased - 16,300 100%
Shanghai Tian An Villa === C(onstruction _—
(Phases 2 & 3) Stage
Lot No. 654, Song Jiang, Shanghai
LERZBREE BERAE HER
Liam - £ke - Bl 58,930 Commercial 178,000  #irlE& - - 100%
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine & Residential = Planning&
Peninsula Design Stage
Chang Hua Road, Putuo District,
Shanghai
LERZRE(ZHGS) %€ RER
L SR 10285 3,600 Residential 3,600 R - - 80%
Shanghai Central Garden e Planning &
(Phase 3 GS) Design Stage
No. 1028, Jin Xiu Road, Shanghai
BHERE %€ PEBTRER
a5 HER09R 59,480 Residential 146,200  Phased 38,000 27,100 100%
Wuxi The Manhattan = (onstruction _— =
No. 809, Hubin Road, Wuxi Stage
BHERZESY B PHETRE
BB - MRANE 106,960 Commercial 213,900 Phased - 107,200 100%
BRI Smm— (Construction —
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Stage
South of Kelang Road and
North of Guanshan Road, Wuxi
ENRZEEE mE PHIETRE
BT RERHR 28949 Commercial 458,400  Phased 54,800 90,300 50%
HEH568% f%® Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 371,700  Stage 39,300 35,800 50%
No. 588, Wunan Road, -
Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, 830,]00 94,]00 ]26,]00
Changzhou — ]
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Particulars of Property Development

xR KRIR &0
TEEEER BEER  BEER  FeER
Buildable EREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
BE%E WEEE R# Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAkm FhAm Fhkm  Fhkm?
ENRZRE i AHEIER
B BiER 473335 Residential 137,900 Phased 66,000 - 100%
725 e Construction —
Changzhou Tian An Villa Stage
No. 2, Fengyuan Road,
Wu Jin District, Changzhou
BRAZHES AEREE AHEIER
BRm - BRI 92,766 Commercial 184,800  Phased - 7,200 100%
EXE tER & Residential e Construction —
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Stage
Guanghua Road,
Baixia Hi-Technology,
Industrial Development Area,
Nanjing
HERZTE [f= AERIER
AT RIS 203,800 Residential 239,300  Phased 212,200 27,100 100%
Nantong Tian An Garden = C(onstruction _—
No. 88, Hongjiang Road, Nantong Stage
BRRRUE Bx RERRHRES
mEm - REEE 160,367 Commercial 398,200  Planning & Design - - 100%
KRB e Stage
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park
South of Changping Road and East of
Yongtong Road, Nantong
TBRZYES [5H DERIER
TB™  RILAESSH 173200 Commercial 228,700 Phased - 81,000 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park fr= Construction
No. 55, Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000  Stage - - 50%
363,700 81,000
_— _—
ERRZUEY EE DERIER
EE™ ARARE 357,800 Commercial 586,100 Phased - 145,400 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park ¥ Construction
Dadukou District, Chongging Residential 308,800  Stage - - 50%
894,900 145,400
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Particulars of Property Development

BRR  ERIR &B
TREAER BEER  BEER  FERR
Buildable EREE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
BE%E WEEE R# Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhAm Fhkm'  Fhkm?
REXZBRTE £ PERIRR
A& BERBNREE 58650 Residential 122,100 Phased 84,100 - 60%
gty e Construction —
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical
Development Zone, Dalian
REXZEFAD EE RER
AEN - BERBNREE 19421 Commercial 32300 R - - 100%
i frE Planning &
Dalian Tian An Jinma Centre Residential 102,100  Design Stage - - 100%
Jin Ma Road, Economic & -
Technical Development Zone, Dalian 134,400
—_—
RERZE-H FERE% PERIER
REM  EAAE6615 414,954 Residential & Phased Construction
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial 408,200  Stage 157,500 82,400 100%
No. 661, Guigu Street, Changchun _ _ =
RERZUBA Bx FERIRR
KM AER 588,075 Commercial 889,600  Phased - 119,600 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park i Construction
Xiging District, Tianjin Residential 300,500 Stage - - 50%
1,190,100 119,600
—_— —_—
RRRZESHE A% RER
XET  REE 582,000 Commercial 934400  FEHER - - 100%
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port i Planning &
Dongli District, Tianjin Residential 385,000 Design Stage - - 100%
1,319,400
—_—
Bt - Notes:

(1) BEFEFTHES0%E= G

(2) BEFIHEmE

B) ERBE-_ZFT——F+_A=+—HZEH

(1) Agreement for disposal of 50% interest was signed.

(2) Disposal agreement was signed.

(3) The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2011.
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Particulars of Properties under Construction

K@ ATh
BHEE
Gross B RIFH
REEE EEfAEER Floor Area Estimated
HEE® Gross Interest Held Attributable Completion
Project Name Floor Area by the Group to the Group Year
FAHKm? FAKm?
1. RIRZEMEEGEN(=H) 96,200 50% 48,100 2012
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (Phase 3)
2. RERZEHBEH(—H) 78,000 39% 30,400 2013
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
3. BMRZESFREREEGEZ) 57,000 50% 28,500 2012
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park
(Phase 6 Part 2)
4. BRILAZESEBIM (L) 55,000 45% 24,800 2012
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (Phase 4)
5. BIMNAKRZENES (—H8—i) 38,800 100% 38,800 2012
Huizhou Danshui Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 1 Part 1)
6. LBXRZZE(—H—-#tk=H#t) 63,400 99.99% 63,400 2012
Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1 Parts 1 & 2)
7. LBRTHE(ZH—4) 16,300 100% 16,300 2012
Shanghai Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 1)
8. EHESRE(—HH) 27,100 100% 27,100 2013
Wauxi The Manhattan (Phase 1 Part 2)
9. EHRLZEEM(—H—#) 107,200 100% 107,200 2012
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park (Phase 1 Part 1)
10. BMARZEES (— 8= Romit) 126,100 50% 63,100 2012
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Parts 3 & 4)
1. ERAREBR(—HE1) 7,200 100% 7,200 2012
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 E1)
12. EBALRIER (TS 4) 27,100 100% 27,100 2013
Nantong Tian An Garden (Phase 5 Part 2)
13. IRRLEIEH(—H) 81,000 50% 40,500 2012
Jiangyn Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
14, EERZEHEH(—H) 145,400 50% 72,700 2012
Chonggqing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
15, RERZE—H(EH—Ht) 82,400 100% 82,400 2013
Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Part 1)
16. RERLZHUBH(—H) 119,600 50% 59,800 2012
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
me
Total: 1,127,800 737,400

Bt EERBE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HB2%& Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2011.
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Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments

1. M3
PROPERTY
SEES
LIES BE L3t BEER
BEER BEER Frih g GFA
MELE Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A&
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group Use
FrKm? FrAm? Py Km?
RIR LG
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park
—RYRZ BB RS~ 10,540 - 50% 5270 BELBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
—RYIRZBIHHERES 4,400 - 50% 2200  EERMBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
— R BB 20,530 - 50% 10260  EERBAE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
- FIEMRZRBAERAE 13,760 - 50% 6,880  WELMLE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park Commercial and office
RSB 202 900 - 100% 900  HRE
26/F, Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Office
AR ZEIFAE208 850 - 100% 850 B
20/F, Shenzhen Tian An International Building Office
AIEE —BREH 1,460 - 100% 1460  BE
Shenzhen Tian Bei Yi Road, shops Commercial
RIR L B E S H 15,640 - 50% 7,820 EARLBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial and office
BNAREBHEHEE 13,410 - 50% 6700 %
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park Commercial
Bl R LA B BB 9,130 - 45% 4110 BE
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Commercial
LBRZHRL 22,350 - 98% 21900  HERBNE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial and office
EBRRHOSE - 81EM1612 4,740 - 100% 4740 HDE
5/F, 8/F & 16/F, Shanghai Tian An Centre Office
LERERKERINLE 68,380 - 100% 68380  fi%
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
LETERE 1,510 - 99% 1500  EE
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
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Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments

SEELS

BEER

GFA
Attributable A%
to the Group Use

S EE £

BEE® BEER Frib s
NELH Property  Car Parking Interest Held
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group

Fikm ik
EHRZAE 1,420 - 95%
Wauxi Tian An Building
EHTILE 2,830 - 95%
Wuxi Redhill Peninsula
BRAZERAE 76,800 - 100%
Nanjing Tian An International Building
BNRZHTES 24,400 - 100%
Changzhou Tian An City Plaza
BN R 9,090 - 100%
Changzhou New City Garden
BMNRLZEE M 3,600 - 50%
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park
BEMEEAE4E 710 - 100%
4/F, Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building
BRRAN7EE 1,300 - 100%
2/F, Block 17, Nantong Jin Xiu Court
BRAREE 630 - 100%
Nantong Tian An Garden
ERREZKE 9,910 - 40%
Beijing Tian An Building
ERBEEHS 880 - 100%
Beijing Lakeside Garden
IRRZRE 21,410 - 100%
Beijing Park Apartments
AERZBRIEE 2,010 - 60%
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden
RERZEBEAE 52,660 - 100%
Dalian Tian An International Tower
RERREM 4,740 - 100%
Changchun Tian An City One

399,990
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Particulars of Property and Hotel Investments

SEELS
LIES BE &6 BEER
BEER BEER Frft i GFA
MELE Property  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable ik
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group Use
FIKm? FoKm? FJoKm?
LERZFL-ER - 7,770 98% 7610  BE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
PERZTEE -8 - 3,950 80% 3,160 B
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERARBNAE-ER - 2,510 100% 2510 EE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
LERERIRERSNAE -5 10,600 - 100% 10600  &fF
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Club House Club
10,600 14,230 23,880
2. G5
HOTEL
WREHY SEPMSER B JE A FE#E
HE BB Expiry  Interest Held Hotel No. of
Project Name Date by the Group Gross Area Rooms
FYear S Km?
MR LT EE9-1212
9/F to 12/F, Changzhou Tian An City Hotel 2043 100% 1,190 23

Wit ERRB-F-—Ft-A=t-RAZEH

Note:

The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2011.
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ARBBIRIABERZ BERERF2KFEZ
TEER  UEHARERE REMRBT T
BRA - ARRIEFE((EFE DEGFEERZ
EEERYARAZANMEFTRREEBER
BEZ-

TEERERTR

REBEBEXZABRARES LHARR
(T EmARA D MR+ UAE 2 BEERTERT
A(TEXERTA]) EFECEHARTZ
TCEERTHR  UERMNZELREZRR
HBEHENAREN - R T X@EEZETEEN
FRZREETRIN RBE-_FT——%F+=A
=t+—RHLFE ARFCEAEEERTA
ZRAINETHEBZTANGX - EEEHED
BERMNBETZER R LHEERRTER
TR E Bk -

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the light of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”), the Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of
the Company with the adoption of the various enhanced procedures
which are detailed in this report. The Company has applied the
principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code during the year ended 31st December, 2011,
except for certain deviations as specified with considered reasons
for such deviations as explained below. The Board will review the
current practices at least annually, and make appropriate changes if

considered necessary.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises fourteen directors (“Directors”) in total,
with six Executive Directors, four Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Hu Aimin (Deputy Chairman)

Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Ng Qing Hai
(re-designated as Non-Executive Director
on 18th January, 2012)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi
Lee Shu Yin
(appointed on 18th March, 2011)

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 58 to 64. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Company, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee
Seng Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family
or other material relationships among members of the Board.

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has four INEDs representing about one-third of the Board. At least
one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an
annual confirmation of his/her independence and considers that all
the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results. During the year,
four Board meetings were held and attendance of each Director at the
Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board Committees”
of this report.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, recommendations on Directors’
appointment or re-appointment, material contracts and transactions as
well as other significant policy and financial matters. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive management
under the instruction/supervision of the Executive Committee which
has its specific written terms of reference. The respective functions
of the Board and management of the Company have been formalised
and set out in writing and will be reviewed by the Board from time
to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and

regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are
normally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date
of a regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other
Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated
to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on

reasonable notice by any Director.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her associates have a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.
In addition, a written procedure was established in June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) shall be separate and shall not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Company, is primarily responsible for the leadership
of the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and
(iii) the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In June 2005, the Board established and adopted a written nomination
procedure (“Nomination Procedure”) specifying the process and
criteria for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company. The Executive Committee shall, based
on those criteria as set out in the Nomination Procedure (such as
appropriate experience, personal skills and time commitment, etc.),
identify and recommend the proposed candidate to the Board for
approval of an appointment. The existing Nomination Procedure has
been included in the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
with effect from the establishment of the Nomination Committee on
26th March, 2012.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his appointment.
This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations to be
observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible
for re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive
Directors (including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years
commencing from 1st January, 2011.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following AGM and in both cases, those
Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting.
Every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee (established on 26th March, 2012), a
Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee and an Executive
Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of reference.
Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the committees,
which are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board
members and the committees are required to report back to the Board
on their decision and recommendations where appropriate. The
procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in
the section headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for
the committee meetings so far as practicable.

HE-ZT——F+-H=+—HIEFE % Theindividual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of
EENERY FHNEZEGRFELZELEYE  the Board, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee during the
Z BRI e E s T year ended 31st December, 2011 are set out below:
g/ BHERZRY
Number of meetings attended/held
FMEES BREEE
E=zg Remuneration Audit

EEHF Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
HITESE: Executive Directors:
HER(GIFE) Hu Aimin (Deputy Chairman) 2/4
RIBHW (B ) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 1/4
PR (EFABATE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 4/4
B (F/4E2) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 2/4
B3 Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4
A Tao Tsan Sang 4/4
FHTES ! Non-Executive Directors:
ERE(FE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 4/4
58 Ng Qing Hai 3/4

(R=ZF—=F—HF+/1H (re-designated as Non-Executive Director

HEBHHTTEE) on 18th January, 2012)
HRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 4/4 2/3
FHE Lee Shu Yin 2/2

(RZF——F=HT/VAZF) (appointed on 18th March, 2011)
BYFHITES INEDs:
51z Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 4/4 ”n 3/3
SEE Jin Hui Zhi 3/4 171 2/3
mEL Ngai Wah Sang 4/4 7l 3/3
E)328 Lisa Yang Lai Sum 4/4 11 3/3
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established on 26th March,
2012 and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Mr.
Ngai Wah Sang, all being the INEDs and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau
being an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if
considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and select or make recommendations to the Board on

the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
(iii) to assess the independence of INEDs; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters

by way of circulation.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Mr. Francis J. Chang
Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Jin Hui Zhi,
Mr. Ngai Wah Sang, and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and has access to independent professional advice
according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are:

(i) to review and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy
and packages of the Directors and, where appropriate, to
consult the Chairman and/or the Managing Director about the
Remuneration Committee’s proposals relating to the remuneration

of other Executive Directors;

(ii) to review and recommend performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives approved by the
Board from time to time;

(iii) to review and recommend the compensation payable to Executive
Directors relating to any loss or termination of their office or

appointment;

(iv) to review and recommend compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(v) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his/her own

remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company are in line with the code provision B.1.3 of the CG Code,
but with a deviation from the code provision of the remuneration
committee’s responsibilities to determine the specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors and senior management of a listed
company. The Board considers that the Remuneration Committee
of the Company shall review (as opposed to determine) and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
Executive Directors only and not senior management for the following
reasons:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively

carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) all Remuneration Committee members are INEDs who may not
be industry skilled and come from differing professions and
backgrounds and they are not involved in the daily operation of
the Company. They may have little direct knowledge of industry
practice and standard compensation packages. The Remuneration
Committee is thus not in a position to properly determine the

remuneration of the Executive Directors;

(iii

=

the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control their

compensation; and

(iv) there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation

packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the website of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2011 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “Board Committees” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2011. In 2011 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended

31st December, 2010;

(ii

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2010 and the increment in
salary for the year 2011 of the Executive Directors;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
adoption of new exchange rates for translation of Renminbi into
Hong Kong dollars for the remuneration packages calculation of
the Chairman, the Managing Director and a Deputy Managing
Director;

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the employment contract of the Chairman;

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the employment contract of the Managing Director; and

(vii)recommended for the Board’s approval the extension of the
retirement age under the employment contract of the Managing
Director.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM each year.
Further remuneration payable to Directors (including any service fees
of the INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and services will
depend on their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements whereas detailed changes in the emoluments
of certain Directors during the interim period and up to the date of
the Interim Report were also disclosed in the Interim Report of the
Company dated 19th August, 2011. Details of the remuneration policy
of the Group are also set out in the “Employee and Training” section
contained in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 13.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties
and has access to independent professional advice according to the

Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are:

(i) to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment, re—
appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
external auditor;

(ii) to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature and
scope of each year’s audit;

(iii

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements

-

(iv

before submission to the Board;

(v) to discuss any problems and reservations arising from the interim
review and final audit, and any matters the external auditor may

wish to discuss;

=

(vi) to review the external auditor’s management letters and

management’s response;

(vii) to review the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk

management systems;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(viii) to review the internal audit plan, promote co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, and check whether the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Group; and

(ix) to consider any findings of the major investigations of internal
control matters and management’s response.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company are
revised from time to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of
the CG Code, but with deviations from the code provision of the audit
committee’s responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to

supply non-audit services;

(i) ensure the management has discharged its duty to have an

effective internal control system; and

(iii) ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee of the Company shall
recommend (as opposed to implement) the policy on the engagement
of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for the following

reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to

develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;
(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive

Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee of the
Company only possesses the effective ability to scrutinise (as
opposed to ensure) whether management has discharged its duty
to have an effective internal control system. The Audit Committee
is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as this would
involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of permanent
experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either to ensure
co-ordination between the internal and external auditors but it can
promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not in a position
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced but

it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the

website of the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Three Audit Committee meetings were
held in 2011 and the attendance of each member is set out in the
section headed “Board Committees” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2011. In 2011
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the

works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the audit
scope and fees proposed by the external auditor in respect of
the final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2010 (“2010
Final Audit”), the interim results review for the six months ended
30th June, 2011 (“2011 Interim Review”) and the final audit for
the year ended 31st December, 2011 (“2011 Final Audit”) of the
Group;

(ii) reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report/
audit completion report from the external auditor and the
management’s response in relation to the 2010 Final Audit, 2011
Interim Review and 2011 Final Audit;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the

(iv)

(vi)

financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2010, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2011 and for the year ended
31st December, 2011 together with the relevant management

representation letters and announcements;

reviewed the internal audit review reports/summaries (“IA
Reports”) prepared by the Group Internal Audit Department
(“IAD”), and instructed that the issues raised would be addressed

and managed by the management;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the

Whistle Blower Policy;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the

Price-Sensitive Information Guideline;

(vii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the

Connected Transaction Policies;

(viiireviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the

(ix)

modified Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures to
align with the amendments of the relevant Hong Kong Accounting
Standards;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the report
on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting

function, and their training programmes and budget; and

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee to align with the

amendments to the revised CG Code effective on Tst April, 2012.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cONTINUED)
Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February
2004. Subsequent to Mr. Ng Qing Hai’s re-designation as Non-
Executive Director on 18th January, 2012, the Executive Committee
currently consists of four Executive Directors, being Messrs.
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee),
Ma Sun, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang. The Executive
Committee is vested with all the general powers of management and
control of the activities of the Group as are vested in the Board, save
for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the Executive
Committee. The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were
revised in March 2008 following the adoption of the Whistle Blower
Policy by the Company.

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company
or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2011, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and ensure the consolidated financial statements are

prepared on the going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 81 and 82.

Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems and ensure that the controls
are sound and effective to safeguard the Shareholders’ investments
and the Group’s assets at all times. In 2011, the Board, through the
Audit Committee and IAD, had reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss; to
manage rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and
goals. It has a key role in the management of risks that are significant
to the fulfilment of business objectives. In addition to safeguarding
the Group’s assets, it should provide a basis for the maintenance of
proper accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant

laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (cONTINUED)
Internal Control (continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance
of the IAD, conducted internal control reviews of the property
development and management group for the year ended 31st
December, 2011.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Manager reports to the Chairman and the Audit
Committee. The IAD plays an important role in providing assurance
to the Board that a sound internal control system is maintained and
operated by the management. This is part of the Board’s plan to
enhance the standards of the Group’s overall corporate governance
and comply with the code provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The Group Overall Risk Profile Analysis Report, and the Group
Internal Audit Plan and Strategy Report were prepared by the IAD and
issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for review. A discussion
of the policies and procedures on the management of each of the
major types of risk which the Group is facing is included in note 5b to

the consolidated financial statements.

The IAD performed internal control assessments of the property
development and management group for the year ended 31st
December, 2011. The IA Reports were distributed to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review. The IAD monitored that
the issues raised in the IA Reports would be addressed and managed
promptly by the management.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external
auditor is set out as follows:

B A K ER 2 RE Services rendered for the Group T
HK$000
Z B AR TS Audit services 4,350
FERZBRTS (B 152 B0 <P B 3R ARG & Non-audit services (including review of
PR EMP XS  HERERS - compliance of Occupational Retirement
BEBAKEIZERBRARZ Scheme Ordinance and review of interim results,
DI RBY EHIERBRIMEFAD R continuing connected transactions,
AP EEIERT(4) as reporting accountant and assessment on
internal controls for spin-off and separate listing
of Allied Cement Holdings Limited) 3,855
HEt Total 8,205
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Due to another business
engagement, Mr. Lee Seng Hui, the Chairman of the Board, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 20th May, 2011. However, Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, an Executive
Director of the Company, took the chair of that meeting and another
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee were
present thereat to be available to answer any question to ensure
effective communication with the Shareholders.

The chairman of any independent board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is
appointed, at least a member of the independent board committee)
will also be available to answer questions at any general meeting of
the Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also

welcome.

On behalf of the Board

oo

-

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2012
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities
as at 31st December, 2011 are set out in notes 53 and 54 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) other than Hong
Kong. The breakdown by principal activities of the Group’s turnover
and the contribution to profit before taxation for the year ended 31st
December, 2011 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities as at 31st December, 2011 are set out in notes 53 and 54 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are set
out in the consolidated income statement on pages 83 and 84 and in
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK4 cents per share
for the year ended 31st December, 2011 payable to the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Thursday, 31st May, 2012. Details
are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$116,233,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$3,264,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$308,369 and has been recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated

financial statements.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$54,870,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.
PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,

2011 are set out on pages 28 to 35.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank loans and other borrowings which are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 40
and 41 to the consolidated financial statements respectively. Interest
capitalised by the Group during the year in respect of properties
under development amounted to HK$34,945,000, details of which

are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Hu Aimin

Song Zengbin
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Ma Sun

Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui
Ng Qing Hai
(re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 18th January, 2012)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi
Lee Shu Yin
(appointed on 18th March, 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association
of the Company (“Articles of Association”), Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Mr.
Song Zengbin, Mr. Ng Qing Hai, Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai and
Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum shall retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Hu Aimin, aged 63, was appointed an additional Deputy Chairman
and an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hu graduated
from the Hunan University of China with a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration. He has over thirty years of experience
in administrative management, corporate governance and human
resources management. He was the secretary-general and the chief of
administration office of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Government.
Mr. Hu was previously the chairman of Shenzhen Investment Limited,
and a non-executive director of each of Coastal Greenland Limited,
Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. and Road King
Infrastructure Limited.

Song Zengbin, aged 57, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than thirty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 60, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. An architect, he
worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than twenty-six years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee was
previously the chief executive and an executive director of Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company. He resigned as a non-executive director of Sun Hung Kai
& Co. Limited (“SHK”) in September 2011. He is a cousin of Mr.
Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ma Sun, aged 71, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited in 1984 and
was then transferred to the Group in 1985. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Besides holding a Bachelor’s
Degree in Electrical Engineering, he has extensive experience in
electrical engineering and over twenty-six years of experience in
China commercial business, financial investment and property

development.

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 51, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
chartered company secretary. He had served various executive roles
in several companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary
for public listed companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director
of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company. He was previously an executive director of SHK Hong
Kong Industries Limited, a subsidiary of AGL.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 47, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in October 2009. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tao is the Financial Controller
of the Company. He joined the Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and is an associate of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants. He has extensive experience in

accounting, financial management and China business field.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 43, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated
from the Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours.
Previously, he worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild
& Sons (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and
an executive director of each of AGL and APL, both are substantial
shareholders of the Company. He is a non-executive director of each
of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC Resources”), Mount Gibson Iron
Limited (“Mount Gibson”) and Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”), the
shares of Mount Gibson and Tanami Gold are listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange. He is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (the
Managing Director of the Company).

Ng Qing Hai, aged 55, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in April 2003 and became the Managing Director
of the Company in October 2003. He was re-designated as a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in December 2005 and
subsequently re-designated as a Non-Executive Director and ceased
to act as a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in January
2012. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Ng completed a three years’ course in Finance and Accounting
in Building Materials Industry in Faculty of Enterprises Management
at Shanghai Institute of Building Materials Industry in 1983 and also
completed a course in management consultancy at GROUPE ESSEC
of France in 1988. Mr. Ng has been a non-practising member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants of the PRC since
1994. Mr. Ng is the 6th vice chairman of China Building Materials
Enterprises Management Association and of Shanghai Cement
Industrial Association of the PRC, and was a fellow member of Asian
Knowledge Management Association for the period from November
2005 to November 2006. Mr. Ng has extensive experience in
managing enterprises and in the cement industry in the PRC. He was
appointed a director of Allied Cement Holdings Limited (“ACHL”),
a subsidiary of the Company, in March 2011 and re-designated as
an executive director of ACHL in December 2011. Mr. Ng is also
the managing director of ACHL. He is currently the president and an
executive director of ChinaVision Media Group Limited (“ChinaVision
Media”), a former non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 62, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is the senior partner of P. C. Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors
and notaries in Hong Kong, and also one of the Company’s solicitors.
He is the Chairman of the Advisory Committee on Post-office
Employment for Former Chief Executives and Politically Appointed
Officials, Chairman of the Advisory Committee on Post-service
Employment of Civil Servants, Chairman of the Education Commission
and a member of Aviation Development Advisory Committee. He is
also the Founder Chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
Limited of which he is currently the Honorary President and Chairman
Emeritus. Dr. Cheng served as a member of the Legislative Council
of Hong Kong from 1991 to 1995 and Chairman of the Council and
Court of the Hong Kong Baptist University between 1997 and 2006.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong and overseas, both as independent non-executive director and
non-executive director, including ARA Asset Management Limited,
China Mobile Limited, China Resources Enterprise, Limited, City
Telecom (H.K.) Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, K. Wah International Holdings
Limited, Kader Holdings Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing
Investment Limited and Towngas China Company Limited. He was
previously a non-executive director of Galaxy Entertainment Group
Limited; and an independent non-executive director of ARA Asset
Management (Fortune) Limited (the manager of Fortune Real Estate
Investment Trust which is dually listed in Hong Kong and Singapore),
China COSCO Holdings Company Limited, Beijing Capital
International Airport Company Limited and SOCAM Development
Limited (formerly known as Shui On Construction and Materials
Limited) respectively.

3/ Annual Report 2011 61



EETEHRE

Directors’ Report

EENSREBABZBAER @)

FITES @)

ZHE RFENThR R-T——F=A%
ZER/ERRFZIEHTES - KEERAES
iz e RET R R ENRARZ XE LB
NMIBBL B o FREBFTMESITENEE
A BREEO_TFLEME  RERDEE
187 #88 o F AT B Grand River Properties
(China) Lid. (R—EZEXRFEEREBAR_E
T=FRIPI LA BB REM 2 i ER S BN
AR ZFEME - WITBPCR Asian RE Fund
GP, Ltd. CREEARF —2EMB AR ZHE
HAKREPA) ZITBAR - BEHEERK
MFESH A MR AT / Robert Fleming Securities 7
fRE - A FOR T E M 2 S 5 = Bl A &
EF © K& & Goldman Sachs International 2
WITES -

BYFIITES

HiEE  RFEA Tt RZTTNFNAE
ZERERRRAIZEILFNITES - BN
—NERNFRENEARFEFRILERm@mIE K
BURHBELTEM  WR—NEEFRFEN
ERZMEARKRE  RIEIFEEELTE
il o BEEAB=THFIRIT DERE - KE
REEEB 24 BRASRIEEZEITHR
B - WREEEMARIEEES - BixER
NASEEMBRARZESBLERIBEE
7 REE GG 2 AR o I AAllied
Overseas Limited 2 8| E @B IFNITES -
ARG REREEZHRMERBR AT 2B
FEITESE o

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Lee Shu Yin, aged 45, was appointed a Non-Executive Director
of the Company in March 2011. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Finance from the London Business School, and Bachelor of Arts and
Bachelor of Science Degrees from Stanford University. Mr. Lee is a
Chartered Financial Analyst charterholder. He has over twenty years
of experience in corporate finance, investment and management. Mr.
Lee is currently the chief investment officer of Grand River Properties
(China) Ltd., a Shanghai-based real estate investment consulting
company that he co-founded in 2003, and also an executive of PGR
Asian RE Fund GP, Ltd. which manages a property-related investment
account of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He previously
held various positions as a vice president and director in the Asian
Equities division of JP Morgan Securities Limited / Robert Fleming
Securities while based in London, New York and Boston and as an
executive director of Goldman Sachs International in Hong Kong.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, aged 57, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University
in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada since
1977. He has over thirty-four years of experience in banking,
corporate finance, investment and management and has held various
executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed
companies. Mr. Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres
Consultancy Limited and a registered person under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance. He is also the deputy chairman and an
independent non-executive director of Allied Overseas Limited;
and an independent non-executive director of APAC Resources and

Royale Furniture Holdings Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 52, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the
business market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai
Horizon Investment Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”) and the deputy
president of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai.
Shanghai Horizon is a company principally engaged in the investment
of three major industries, namely bio-engineering, commercial real
estate and medical. He is also an independent non-executive director
of ChinaVision Media, a former non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Jin was formerly chief member of Youth Work Ministry,
chief member and deputy director of Research Department, member
of Standing Committee and minister of Youth Work Ministry of China
Communist Youth League Shanghai Committee.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 53, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai is currently the deputy chairman and the chief executive

officer of Earnest Investments Holdings Limited.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 45, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Foley Cheung Chun Pan, aged 41, is the Director of Fund and
Investment Division, and the General Manager of Sales and Marketing
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in August 2008. He
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Cheung
holds a Master’s Degree in Global Management and E-Commerce
from The University of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from University of Strathclyde, United Kingdom. He
has over seventeen years of experience in China Real Estate business.

Dai Hong Liang, aged 43, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. He re-joined the Group in April 2009 and was
previously the Acting General Manager of the Fuzhou Region
from December 2003 to November 2005. He is also a director of
a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Dai holds a Bachelor Degree of
Architecture and a Master’s Degree in Finance. He has over seventeen

years of experience in the field of investment in China.

Song Zhu Feng, aged 51, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December
2003. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing
Hua University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering.
He has over twenty years of experience in the fields of engineering
and property development.

Cindy Yung Yee Mei, aged 46, was appointed the Company Secretary
of the Company in March 2004. She is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. She is an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) has an unexpired service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2012 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

At 31st December, 2011, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun,
Directors, had the following interests in the shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

EHE
BERITRAZ
BHAED

Approximate % of

EENE BEERODZEE the relevant issued EanE
Name of Directors Number of shares held share capital Nature of interests
R 705,969,096 46.85% HAhaEzs
Lee Seng Hui (Btzt1) Other interests
(Note 1)

= 47,945 0.003% B AR
Ma Sun Personal interests
(LNEZEEAFNDEAR)
(held as beneficial owner)

HBiat - Notes:
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#{=5ELee and Lee Trust Z{E5EA ° HEE B
Lee and Lee Trust& HIFFHEEEFR A A
(IBAEE ) BEITRAL56.76%E e (B1F
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2. LFrERmRBEEE
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=t—H ARBZBZEZRESTHRAEMR
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HIERBIEXVER) 2 ERAR ) - RGO RE
FR A AR RIEE 5 M E 5155352
FEREMFEZELCH  IRBEEHEIS
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PIEZ EMBTAEZETEFRRINRE
SRIASTREARARBEBHARIMER
NAE) (B ) 2 (R ss sOR R

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng
Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
They together, through Lee and Lee Trust, owned approximately 56.76%
interest in the issued share capital of Allied Group Limited (“AGL")
(inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interest) and were therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares of the Company in which AGL
was interested through Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited, its 68.29%-owned
subsidiary.

2. All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2011, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) .
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APL which, through certain
of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money

lending, property development and investment;

2. Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (a former director of SHK who resigned
on 30th September, 2011) was a director of SHK (a subsidiary of
APL) which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending and property investment;

3. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is a director of AG Capital
Limited (a subsidiary of AGL) which is partly engaged in the

business of money lending;

4. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL
and SHK which, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and

investment; and

5. Mr. Ng Qing Hai is a director of ChinaVision Media which,
together with its subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the business

of distribution of cement.

Although the above mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship,
they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure that they will
act in the best interest of the Shareholders and the Company as a
whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses

of such companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

At 31st December, 2011, the following Shareholders had interests in

BRI E336IGIRTEAEE 25 MATE - the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
?ﬁ&ﬁzﬁ/ RSB DS 2 BREINT register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
BEROREBRAZEE
Number of shares and underlying shares held
BAER ZEER
(MBHEHEEA (ZEEE HER
S0E8) ZHER) ERITREZ
Personal Corporate BREIL
Interests Interests Approximate
(held as (interest of HibEx R % of the
e beneficial controlled Other Total  relevant issued
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests share capital
BemE(BR)ARAR([HamE]) - 705,969,096 - 705,969,096 46.85%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL") (Ha1) (Hizz2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HeEEERAR(MEEE]) - 705,969,096 - 705,969,096 46.85%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (Hit3) (Htit2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 705,969,096 - 705,969,096 46.85%
(Hfit4) (Hf7t2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
Penta Investment Advisers Limited (“Penta”) - - 448,652,476 448,652,476 29.78%
(AREEEA (Hit5)
FEE) (Note 5)
(held as
investment
manager)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BEROREBRG 2EA
Number of shares and underlying shares held
BARER EERER
(LEREEA (FEEE BB
FREA) ZHE) BRITRAZ
Personal Corporate BREIL
Interests Interests Approximate
(held as (interest of HibfER EREE % of the
REEZE beneficial controlled Other Total  relevant issued
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests share capital
Penta Master Fund, Limited 134,537,440 - - 134,537,440 8.93%
(Wfite)
(Note 6)
Penta Asia Long/Short Fund, Ltd. 136,799,852 - - 136,799,852 9.08%
(Hzt7)
(Note 7)
SEEEFRAA ( [&8&]) - 175,203,800 - 175,203,800 11.63%
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (H7#8)
(“Goldman Sachs”) (Note 8)
IGM Financial Inc. (“IGM”) - 75,364,000 - 75,364,000 5.00%
Power Financial Corporation - 75,387,000 - 75,387,000 5.00%
(“Power Financial”) (H7t9)
(Note 9)
Power Corporation of Canada - 75,387,000 - 75,387,000 5.00%
(“Power Corporation”) (10
(Note 10)
Gelco Enterprises Ltd (“Gelco”) - 75,387,000 - 75,387,000 5.00%
(Hzt11)
(Note 11)
Nordex Inc. (“Nordex”) - 75,387,000 - 75,387,000 5.00%
(H7t12)
(Note 12)
Paul G. Desmarais - 75,387,000 - 75,387,000 5.00%
(Hfi#13)
(Note 13)
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It & Penta i 18 H 45§ 2 B 12 8E 5 (Penta Asia
Long/Short Fund, Ltd.) B EE 2 #a - LB
5 (0)125,274,852 f i fn 2 #E 25 - R (DAEE R
11,525,000 & A X T AERE Ak 0 2 A A B 3F B
NIRSHEZITET A7 g2 -

RZZE——F+—A=+—H8 =aBFERHE
% XM & A 7] (82 3E Sky (Delaware) LLC  Sky
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()112,803,800 fi& A% £ : (i) 48 & 7 31,200,000
RERE1D 2 AR BIERS + I (i) A E 74 31,200,0000%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

7.

The interest was held by China Elite Holdings Limited (“China Elite”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings Limited which in turn
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL. APL was therefore deemed to
have an interest in the shares in which China Elite was interested.

The figure refers to the same interest of APL in 705,969,096 shares.

AGL owned approximately 68.29% interest in the issued share capital of
APL and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which
APL was interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary
trust. They together owned approximately 56.76% interest in the issued
share capital of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interest)
and were therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL
was interested.

These include (i) an interest in 424,287,476 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 24,365,000
underlying shares of the Company pursuant to the disclosure of interest
forms and dealings disclosure forms filed by Penta displayed on the
respective website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Securities and Futures Commission on 29th December, 2011 and 18th
November, 2011 respectively.

These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta and include (i) an interest
in 127,085,440 shares; and (ii) an interest in unlisted cash settled
derivatives of the Company equivalent to 7,452,000 underlying shares of
the Company.

These duplicated parts of the interests of Penta held through its controlled
management account, Penta Asia Long/Short Fund, Ltd. and include (i) an
interest in 125,274,852 shares; and (ii) an interest in unlisted cash settled
derivatives of the Company equivalent to 11,525,000 underlying shares of
the Company.

Goldman Sachs (through various of its affiliates including Sky (Delaware)
LLC, Sky (Cayman) Ltd. and Elevatech Limited) was deemed to be
economically interested in (i) 112,803,800 shares; (ii) security interests
equivalent to 31,200,000 shares; and (iii) unlisted cash settled derivatives
of the Company equivalent to 31,200,000 underlying shares of the
Company as at 31st December, 2011.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Power Financial owned approximately 56.37% interest in the issued share
capital of IGM and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares
in which IGM was interested. Additionally, Power Financial was deemed
to have an interest in 23,000 shares held by Great-West Lifeco Inc., a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of Power Financial.

Power Corporation, through 171263 Canada Inc. (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Power Corporation), owned approximately 66.26% interest
in the issued share capital of Power Financial and was therefore deemed
to have an interest in the shares in which Power Financial was interested.

Gelco owned approximately 53.74% interest in the issued share capital
of Power Corporation and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which Power Corporation was interested.

Nordex owned approximately 94.95% interest in the issued share capital
of Gelco and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Gelco was interested.

Mr. Paul G. Desmarais owned approximately 68.00% interest in the issued
share capital of Nordex and was therefore deemed to have an interest in
the shares in which Nordex was interested.

All interests stated above as at 31st December, 2011 represent long
positions as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31st
January, 2011 and the 2010 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company entered into a renewed sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“Services
Agreement”) with AGL on 31st January, 2011, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to renew and extend the terms of
the sharing of administrative services and management services
agreement dated 31st January 2008 for a period of three years
commencing from Tst January, 2011 to 31st December, 2013
and to reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred in respect of the
administrative services, which included the corporate secretarial
services, provision of registered office address, office space,
utilities, courier and delivery, telephone (including international
telephone), internet, photocopying and other ancillary office
services provided by AGL to the Group (“Administrative
Services”) and management services, which included the
management, consultancy, strategic and business advice services
provided by the senior management and the selected staff of AGL

to the Group (“Management Services”).

Since AGL is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company through its interests in its subsidiary,
APL, AGL is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the entering into of the Services Agreement and the transactions
regarding the sharing of the Management Services contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions for
the Company under Rule 14A.14 of the Listing Rules, which
are subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The transaction
regarding the sharing of the Administrative Services between the
Company and AGL contemplated under the Services Agreement
are exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rules
14A.31(8) and 14A.33(2) of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs
have reviewed the transactions regarding the sharing of the

Management Services and have confirmed that the transactions

were:

(i) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of

the Company;

(ii) conducted on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) entered into in accordance with the terms of the Services
Agreement governing the transactions regarding the sharing
of the Management Services and on terms that were fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the above
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The auditor has issued
his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the above continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group in the Annual Report in accordance with Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has

been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules, details of
the Services Agreement and the aggregate amount of the
Management Services for the year ended 31st December, 2011 of
HK$16,200,000 are required to be included in this report of the

Company in accordance with Rule 14A.45 of the Listing Rules.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31st
January, 2011 and the 2010 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company as customer entered into an insurance brokerage
services agreement (“Insurance Brokerage Services Agreement”)
with Sun Hung Kai Insurance Consultants Limited (“SHK
Insurance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK which is in turn
a non wholly-owned subsidiary of APL (a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company), as service
provider on 3Tst January, 2011, pursuant to which SHK Insurance
agreed to provide packaged insurance brokerage services to the
Group for a term of two years commencing from Tst January,
2011 to 31st December, 2012 by assisting the Group in procuring
insurance policies (including but not limited to directors” and
officers’ liability, property, business interruption, motor vehicle,
contractor all risks, public liability and employees benefits and
compensation) to be taken out with third party insurers (“Insurance
Brokerage Services”).

Since SHK and SHK Insurance are associates of APL, SHK
and SHK Insurance are regarded as connected persons of the
Company. Accordingly, the entering into of the Insurance
Brokerage Services Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions for
the Company under Rule 14A.14 of the Listing Rules, which
are subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’

approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have
reviewed the transactions contemplated under the Insurance
Brokerage Services Agreement and have confirmed that the

transactions were:

(i) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Company;

(ii) conducted on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) entered into in accordance with the terms of the Insurance
Brokerage Services Agreement governing the transactions
regarding the Insurance Brokerage Services and on terms
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the above
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by HKICPA. The auditor has issued
his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the above continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group in the Annual Report in accordance with Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules, details of the
Insurance Brokerage Services Agreement and the aggregate
amount of the Insurance Brokerage Services for the year ended
31st December, 2011 of HK$1,366,802 are required to be
included in this report of the Company in accordance with Rule
14A.45 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10th
December, 2007, Tian An China Hotel and Property Investments
Company Limited (“TACHP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as vendor entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(“First Agreement”) with Lead Step Holdings Limited (“Lead
Step”) as purchaser, the Company as vendor’s guarantor and Mr.
Fong Ting (“Mr. Fong”,
as purchaser’s guarantor on 3rd December, 2007, pursuant to
which: (i) TACHP agreed to sell and Lead Step agreed to purchase
2,121,212 shares (“Sale Shares”) and 11,878,788 shares (“Option
Shares” or “Second Sale Shares”)

now known as “Mr. Fong Kai Shing”)

of US$1.00 each, representing
approximately 15.15% and 84.85% of the issued share capital
of Asia Coast Investments Limited (“Asia Coast”), a then indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at the considerations
of HK$100,000,000 and HK$560,000,000 (“Option Price”)
(subject to adjustment) respectively (“Disposal”); and (ii) Lead
Step was granted, inter alia, the option to require TACHP to sell
to Lead Step the Option Shares at the Option Price within the
extended call option period, which expired on 3rd December,
2008 (“Extended Call Option Period”).
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Since Mr. Fong is a beneficial owner of the entire share capital of
Lead Step and a director of CBI Investment Limited (“CBI”) and
Zhao Qing Golf and Development Co., Ltd., the then indirect
non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, Mr. Fong is a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Disposal
under the First Agreement constituted a connected transaction for
the Company and was subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. Since the consideration ratio (as defined in
the Listing Rules) for the Disposal was more than 5% but less
than 25%, it also constituted a discloseable transaction for
the Company under the Listing Rules. The ordinary resolution
approving the First Agreement was passed by the independent
shareholders of the Company by poll at the extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”) held on 30th January, 2008.

Subsequently, as disclosed in another announcement of the
Company dated 4th December, 2008, TACHP and Lead Step
were in the process of negotiation for the entering into of a
supplemental agreement to extend the Extended Call Option
Period and the completion date for the sale and purchase of the
Option Shares following the expiry on 3rd December, 2008 and
5th December, 2008 respectively.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10th
June, 2011 (“Announcement”), Sea Vanguard Limited (“Sea
Vanguard”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of TACHP, as vendor,
TACHP, the vendor under the First Agreement which had
transferred the Second Sale Shares to Sea Vanguard on 6th April,
2011, as warrantor, the Company, Lead Step as purchaser and
Mr. Fong as purchaser’s guarantor (collectively “Parties”) entered
into the termination and sale and purchase agreement on 10th
June, 2011 (“Agreement”), pursuant to which the Parties agreed
to terminate the First Agreement so far as the same related to the
Second Sale Shares and to proceed with the sale and purchase
of the Second Sale Shares and the shareholder’s loan indebted
by Asia Coast and its subsidiaries (“Disposal Group”) to Sea
Vanguard under the Agreement (“Shareholder’s Loan”) at the
total considerations of HK$710,000,000, details of the payment

arrangements were stated in the Announcement.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Save for the guarantee provided by Mr. Fong, the due and
punctual performance of Lead Step’s obligations to repay
the remaining balance of the consideration in the amount of
HK$510,000,000 together with interest accrued thereon by 8
successive quarterly payments of not less than HK$30,000,000
each under the Agreement is further secured by the new security
documents, namely (a) the share mortgage charging over the
Sale Shares and the Second Sale Shares executed by Lead Step as
the mortgagor and Sea Vanguard as the mortgagee; (b) the share
mortgage charging over the shares of CBI held by Asia Coast
executed by Asia Coast as the mortgagor and Sea Vanguard as
the mortgagee; and (c) the debenture provided by CBI as chargor
in favour of Sea Vanguard as chargee charging by way of first
floating charge over all its undertaking, property and/or assets, on
completion.

Since Mr. Fong is the sole beneficial owner of Lead Step,
which holds more than 10% shareholding in Asia Coast, and
is directors in the members of the Disposal Group, Mr. Fong
is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Agreement constituted
a connected transaction for the Company and was subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Since the
relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the
transactions contemplated under the Agreement, on a stand alone
basis and when aggregated with the transactions contemplated
under the First Agreement, was more than 5% but less than 25%,
it also constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules. The ordinary resolution approving the
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder was
passed by the independent shareholders of the Company by poll
at the EGM held on 1st August, 2011.
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As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and
SHK dated 29th December, 2011, Allied Cement Holdings
Limited (“ACHL”), a then indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and an indirect 75%-owned subsidiary of the Company
upon its listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 18th
January, 2012, the executive directors of ACHL (“ACHL Executive
Directors”), Autobest Holdings Limited (“Autobest Holdings”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company
and Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Limited (“SHKIS”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK which is in turn a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of APL (a substantial shareholder
of the Company), entered into an underwriting agreement on
29th December, 2011 (“Underwriting Agreement”), pursuant to
which SHKIS agreed to subscribe or procure subscribers for the
following number of shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of ACHL (“ACHL Shares”) offered by ACHL, on the terms and
conditions of the Underwriting Agreement and the prospectus
issued by ACHL on 30th December, 2011: (a) 31,350,000 new
ACHL Shares for subscription at HK$1.00 each (“Offer Price”)
by the public in Hong Kong (“Public Offer Shares”); and (b)
133,650,000 new ACHL Shares for subscription at the Offer Price
pursuant to the conditional placing by SHKIS of such shares with
professional, institutional and other investors (“Placing Shares”).
ACHL Executive Directors, Autobest Holdings and the Company
provided certain warranties and undertakings in the Underwriting
Agreement. Based on the underwriting commission of 2.5% of the
Offer Price for all the Public Offer Shares and Placing Shares and
the underwriting commitment by SHKIS, SHKIS is expected to
receive HK$4,125,000 as underwriting commission from ACHL.

Since SHKIS and SHK are associates of APL, both SHKIS and
SHK are regarded as connected persons of the Company. As
each of the percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules)
calculated with reference to the expected maximum underwriting
commission payable by ACHL was less than 5%, the entering
into of the Underwriting Agreement constituted a connected
transaction for the Company and was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and
ACHL dated 15th February, 2012, subsequent to the year end
date, E/BEEA BB AE (Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.)
(“Shanghai SAC”), a 60%-owned subsidiary of All-Shanghai
Inc. which in turn is a 83.33%-owned subsidiary of ACHL (a
75%-owned subsidiary of the Company) and its another 40%
is owned by F/E/KJER (Shanghai Cement Factory) which
in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of /&£ (£E)
472 7] (Shanghai Building Material (Group) General Company)
(“Shanghai Building Material”), entered into (BN ER [HEEE
5B | &1EW#%) (Bailonggang Project Construction Cooperation
Agreement) (“Cooperation Agreement”) and (BN R A& QA
(JRA)) #3%) (Principle Agreement for the Establishment of the
JV Company) (“JV Principle Agreement”) with Shanghai Building
Material on 13th February, 2012, pursuant to which a joint
venture company (“JV Company”) is proposed to be established
as a limited liability company in the PRC by Shanghai Building
Material and Shanghai SAC for the development of new cement
production facilities at Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai, PRC
(“Transaction”). Upon establishment, the JV Company will be
held as to 50% by Shanghai Building Material and 50% by
Shanghai SAC.

Since Shanghai Building Material is deemed to have 40%
interest in Shanghai SAC which is a subsidiary of ACHL and the
Company, Shanghai Building Material is a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the Transaction constituted a
connected transaction for the Company and was subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Since the
applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) for
the Transaction were more than 5% but less than 25%, it also
constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company under the
Listing Rules. The Company will convene an EGM to seek the
approval of the independent shareholders of the Company by way
of poll on the Cooperation Agreement, JV Principle Agreement

and transactions contemplated thereunder.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 11% and 41% of

the Group's sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$104,000 during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 36 to 54.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.
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ZEEm AUDITOR

KABBRBRERBERS LIR2RFZEF A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
THEEY e« MEM S SHA{TEEARAFZ  Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.
TZERED o

HEESN On behalf of the Board

[ Covittin [ Covittin
W W
ey Lee Seng Hui

TR E Chairman

BB —E——F=A-+/xH Hong Kong, 26th March, 2012
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) set out on pages 83
to 211, which comprise the consolidated and Company statement of
financial position as at 31st December, 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (cONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31st December, 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

><j‘,§(ﬁe/ de‘u. TA’\W\D/(LV\

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2012
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(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)
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Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Marketing and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Net decrease in fair value of held-for-
trading investments

Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
of completed properties to investment
properties

Increase in fair value of investment
properties

Write-down of inventories of completed
properties

Recoveries of bad debts written off in prior
years

Amortisation of properties for development

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Gain on disposal of an associate

Gain on site relocation compensation

Finance costs

Share of (loss) profit of associates

Share of profit of jointly controlled entities

Profit before tax

Taxation

Profit for the year

FaE
NOTES

19

19

10
11

12

13

2011 2010
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,986,707 1,411,986
(1,248,602) (787,113)
738,105 624,873
116,742 99,548
(50,006) (36,099)
(298,622) (237,764)
(49,644) (92,337)
(3,808) (7,915)
12,275 7,211
296,094 386,824
(7,245) (30,517)
51,266 2,610
(57,083) (53,991)
118,785 613,665
- 12,297

- 513,851
(151,242) (136,377)
(76) 1,728
474,664 264,537
1,190,205 1,932,144
(320,789) (310,423)
869,416 1,621,721
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Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

FaE
NOTES

17

2011 2010
FET THIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
868,938 1,432,455
478 189,266
869,416 1,621,721
B Rl

HK cents HK cents
57.67 95.07
N/A N/A
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(BE=F——F+=A=+—ALER)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

2011 2010
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AN A Profit for the year 869,416 1,621,721
Hivz2mEWa=(EA) Other comprehensive income (expense)
BERINEBEL Exchange differences arising on translation of
EHE=R foreign operations 572,354 355,560
JEMRHRIZEHI AT Share of other comprehensive income of
Hip 2w jointly controlled entities 73,389 41,641
AMEHERERAREBELZ Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale
Vo investments (14,002) (3,251)
REEMERMEIR 2 HE Reserves released upon disposal of properties 53 139
RHEE TR B LR R R 2 Other reserves realised on disposal of a
Hib A subsidiary 30,843 -
EREREYRRZ Surplus on revaluation of properties upon
M B RER transfer to investment properties 5,632 -
RNEE 2 By 2 E R Other comprehensive income for the year 668,269 394,089
RNEEEEWRETE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,537,685 2,015,810
FHMEARERENT Total comprehensive income attributable to:
ZAN/NCI[ S Owners of the Company 1,513,842 1,813,747
FRIER S Non-controlling interests 23,843 202,063
1,537,685 2,015,810
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(At 31st December, 2011)
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DRRGEEE

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Deposits for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment

Investment properties

Properties for development

Deposits for acquisition of properties for
development

Prepaid lease payments on land use rights

Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Loans receivable

Available-for-sale investments

Goodwill

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories of properties
— under development
— completed

Other inventories

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from jointly controlled
entities

Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders

Loans receivable

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Prepaid lease payments on land use rights

Financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss

Other structured deposits

Held-for-trading investments

Prepaid tax

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale
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B eE
NOTES

18

27
28
29
30
31
33
21
34
35

51

36

2011 2010
F&T FETT
HK$/000 HK$’000
799,915 639,205
2,241 41
6,615,050 6,651,340
4,668,777 3,586,628
1,767,902 1,426,113
110,523 90,753
7,332 7,408
1,033,275 776,838
- 47,059

130,439 112,340
640 640
74,927 37,559
15,211,021 13,375,924
1,146,044 1,169,064
1,675,850 601,011
63,097 43,994
2,601 3,244
395,031 101,503
12,767 12,166
209,850 160,505
665,665 1,080,966
2,638 1,824
351,167 35,608
189,225 -
15,019 24,131
9,249 15,810
52,922 288,183
2,234,901 2,923,509
7,026,026 6,461,518
853,008 736,113
7,879,034 7,197,631
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Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Pre-sale deposits

Tax liabilities

Dividends payable to non-controlling
shareholders

Membership debenture

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-free borrowings

Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

Deferred rental income from a tenant
Rental deposits from tenants
Membership debenture

Deferred tax liabilities

Patrick Lee Seng Wei

ZRE
Director

EF

MieE
NOTES

37

43

41

36

38
39

40
42

43

2011 2010
FET FATT
HK$/000 HK$’000
2,376,776 1,262,893
84,910 482,199
637,644 578,552
5,972 -
4,312 -
1,745,355 1,139,844
34,637 26,652
4,889,606 3,490,140
125,425 392,602
5,015,031 3,882,742
2,864,003 3,314,889
18,075,024 16,690,813
301,354 301,354
13,654,400 12,291,235
13,955,754 12,592,589
791,589 773,574
14,747,343 13,366,163
1,596,980 1,761,137
88,792 93,074
24,499 18,065
43,066 -
1,574,344 1,452,374
3,327,681 3,324,650
18,075,024 16,690,813

Edwin Lo King Yau

BEH
Director

EF

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th
March, 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

3% Annual Report 2011 87



D EMBMRR K

Company Statement of Financial Position

(R==F—F+=AR=+—8H)

(At 31st December, 2011)

FRBEE Non-current assets

ME - BELRE Property, plant and equipment

NUIIEYNCIPE 2 Interests in subsidiaries

RAERIZESI QR 2 s Interests in jointly controlled entities

REBEE Current assets

Hip BURERTR - =RE R Other receivables, deposits and
FAfRER prepayments

L= INCIDE A Amounts due from subsidiaries

HRIFE IR A Amounts due from jointly controlled
RER entities

RiITETF RS Bank balances and cash

REBEE Current liabilities

H{th FE - BR X Other payables

MIAEE Tax liabilities

B B AE K
BB

REBEEFE

REERRBRE

PRAS Ktk
N
&

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-free borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FRE
Director

EF

38 AR BEERRAF Tian An China Investments Company Limited

2011 2010

Mo FET FET
NOTES HK$/000 HK$’000
18 19,138 16,440
22 3,039,891 2,888,785
24 10,906 10,393
3,069,935 2,915,618

2,948 683

7,512,387 7,410,436

1,553 1,553

129,968 16,537

7,646,856 7,429,209

9,387 10,722

30,021 28,132

40 200,000 -
41 299,583 55,184
538,991 94,038

7,107,865 7,335,171

10,177,800 10,250,789

38 301,354 301,354
39 9,876,446 9,949,435
10,177,800 10,250,789

Edwin Lo King Yau
B
Director

EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(BE=Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

AARRREN

Attributable to owners of the Company

kA K L Ex

EERE  EABE  WERE SRR FRRER
R& Share  Special  Capital Exchange EftftE  HftfiE  RithEd Non-  EBR#E
Share  premium capital  redemption translation Revaluation Other  Retained @it controlling Total
capital  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserves earnings Total interests equity
Thr  TEr TR TEr  TAr  TEr TEr TEr  TEr  TEr TR
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
RZF-25-A-A At Tst January, 2010 301,354 3352781 1417669 134679 874,890 26,452 (61,354) 4,837,845 10,884316 501,201 11,385,517
BEHEEL Exchange differences arising
ERER on translation - - - - 342763 - - - 342,763 12,797 355,560
EiERRAHAR Share of other comprehensive
ZEMAH income of jointly controlled
Y entities = = = = 41,641 = = - 41,641 - 41,641
TREEREALRE Decrease in fair value of available-
2R for-sale investments = = = = = (3,251) = = (3,251) = (3,251)
Rt ENERFHES Reserves released upon disposal of
L properties - - - - - - 139 - 139 - 139
REEHT Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1432455 1432455 189,266 1,621,721
AERRE Total comprehensive income
hiag for the year - - - - B4 (B00) 139 1432455 1813747 202,063 2,015,810
JER Capital contribution from non-
i) controlling interests - - - - - - - - - %872 96,872
Rt ENBAR Realised on disposal of subsidiaries
R (hizs) (note 8) - - - - (1,525) - - 1,525 - - -
REE-FRER AR Realised on disposal of an associate
(o) (note 9) = = - - (8008 - - 8008 - - -
RE-BAREHATE  Realised on disposal of a
B2 jointly controlled entity - - - - (11,619 - - 11619 - - -
RESE Dividend recognised as distribution = - - = - - - (105,474)  (105,474) - (105,474)
EARTFHE Dividend distributed to non-
En ke controlling interests - - = = = = = = - (26562 (26562)
RZE-ZF+ZA=T—H At31st December, 2010 301,354 3,352,781 1,417,669 134,679 1,238,142 23,201 (61,215) 6,185,978 12,592,589 773,574 13,366,163
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE=Z—F+-A=1+—HIFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

AARRRES

Attributable to owners of the Company

kA it & )

EERE EAEBE RORE SERE FRRER
k& Share  Special  Capital Exchange  EfiftE  HftfiE  Rirkd Non-  EBREE
Share  premium capital  redemption translation Revaluation Other  Retained @it controlling Total
capital  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserves  earnings Total interests equity
TEL Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEr  TEr TEn TEr TiEn
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
RZZ——%-A-A At Tst January, 2011 301,354 3,352,781 1417,669 134,679 1,238,142 23,201 (61,215) 6,185,978 12,592,589 773,574 13,366,163
HEREE Y Exchange differences arising
BizE on translation - - - - 548989 - - - 548989 23365 572334
EiEARAHAR Share of other comprehensive
ZEMAE income of jointly controlled
Y entities = = = = 73,389 - - - 73,389 - 73,389
HtERENLBE Decrease in fair value of available-
LD for-sale investments - - - - - (14,002) - - (14,002 - (14,002
REENERHER Reserves released upon
2fif disposal of properties = = = - - - 53 _ 5 _ 5
RE-FHEARS Realised on disposal of a subsidiary
BHis) (note 6) - - - - - - 308 - 308 - 3088
ERERENERY Surplus on revaluation of properties
EEL upon transfer to investment
Vi properties - - - - - 5,632 - - 5,632 - 5,632
KEEHF Profit for the year - - - - - - - 868,938 868,938 478 869,416
FERRE Total comprehensive income
g for the year - - - - 622378 (8,370) 30,89 868,938 1,513,842 23,643 1,537,685
ROERBAAR Realised on disposal of subsidiaries
"ilhizs) (note 8) = = - - 014) - - 918 - - -
REE Dividend recognised as distribution = = = = = = - (150677)  (150,677) - (150,677)
EARFHER Dividend distributed to non-
Ea RS controlling interests = = = = = = - - - (5,828  (582)
RZF——EFZA=1—H At31stDecember, 2011 301354 3352781 1,417,669 134679 1,851,375 14,831 (30,319) 6,913,384 13,955,754 791,589 14,747,343

90 AR BEERRAF Tian An China Investments Company Limited



HRERERND R

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(BE=—T—F+=-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

B aE
NOTES

%7_]'% OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
: Adjustments for:

H A K Wz Other income and gains
—RRBIA — Dividend income
—RITER > EWERR R — Interest income on bank deposits,
WS A B HA receivables and loan receivables
— KB A RZEHI AR — Interest income from jointly
HMEUA controlled entities
—Hibgm R — Interest income on other structured
M BHA deposits
— R R LR — Imputed interest income on non-
ZAEERSEA current interest-free receivables
— BT BIBIERIEAREE - Fair value gain on financial assets
B SREEL designated as at fair value through
AT L6 profit or loss
AHEEREARBELZ Decrease in fair value of available-for-
M sale investments
HEEBEREAABEZ Decrease in fair value of held-for-trading
mL investments
HERIEEEREZ Gain on disposal of held-for-trading
Wes investments
ERIMEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
REMFE 2 of completed properties to investment
N EENR properties
KEMEARBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
2 properties
ERTMEHFEZ Write-down of inventories of completed
MERE properties
VAR i 8H 2 32 Bk Recoveries of bad debts written off in
Y] prior years
HEME A T2 W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
HE R E QR 2 e Gain on disposal of an associate
BB E M E Gain on site relocation compensation
FE(hE & N al BT CaF) Share of loss (profit) of associates
fEAG 2L RHE |2 ] Share of profit of jointly controlled
Al entities
AR E RN Finance costs
ENMEE Depreciation and amortisation
HEMEHTE - BE R (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of
R (e ) 1B property, plant and equipment
—EEE A R EEE Impairment loss of (reversal of) an
(#m) associate
LEESEHRIL Operating cash inflows before movements
SEHEMA in worl%ing capital
YEFSEM Increase in inventories of properties
SRS EINE G Increase inz)roperties for development and
FERYEZ deposits for acquisition of properties for
ol development
HiFEiEm Increase in other inventories
B 5 REMEWARR - Decrease (increase) in trade and other
BRI FOR(GEM) receivables, deposits and prepayments
REEERERD Decrease in held-for-trading investments
HRE ZRITRT (Increase) decrease in restricted bank
(3 )R deposits
B 7 N H A FE T AR K Increase (decrease) in trade and other
EmOmA) payables
&S Ol )IE (Decrease) increase in pre-sale deposits
—HEP ZELEHE Increase in deferred rental income from a
W ASE AN 5 tenant
BRPzHESEEEM Increase in rental deposits from tenants

2011 2010
FERT TAETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,190,205 1,932,144
(12,861) (3,829)
(44,642) (43,076)
- (7,641)
(3,943) -

- (2,395)
(12,429) (5,538)
238 -
3,808 7,915

- (83)
(12,275) (7,211)
(296,094) (386,824)
7,245 30,517
(51,266) (2,610)
(118,785) (613,665)
- (12,297)

- (513,851)

76 (1,728)
(474,664) (264,537)
151,242 136,377
101,422 89,730
(839) 9,533

643 (370)
427,081 340,561
(899,340) (220,394)
(1,303,139) (449,357)
(16,850) (23,465)
391,109 (562,111)
5,571 105
(60,272) 307,511
652,464 (62,746)
(186,788) 270,424
(4,282) (5,000)
6,434 103
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HRERERND R

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(BE—ZT——F+-_A=1+—HIFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

2011 2010
hE=g FET FHETT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
AREEERKIRe Cash used in operations (988,012) (404,369)
BARBIATER R HIE{ER  PRC income tax and Land Appreciation
([ 32 ER ) Tax (“LAT”) paid (169,797) (206,138)
AR EIFT S B R PRC income tax refunded 334 916
AREEXK 2 NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
HEFE ACTIVITIES (1,157,475) (609,591)
REXEHK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
AL &IPS Interest received 37,808 48,046
B ERE Dividends received from:
/NG — associates - 27,500
— HEEH QA — jointly controlled entities 54,067 78,906
— At ERE — available-for-sale investments 12,861 3,829
BEYE  BEKEHE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (57,070) (138,739)
HEME - BER Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
RIS equipment 4,434 1,901
BEIREYE Purchase of investment properties (116,233) (62,714)
HERE M Proceeds from disposal of investment
Fri% properties 7,718 17,798
AR AZE Capital contribution to jointly controlled
HEHEFIA T entities (60,242) (88,235)
HEMBARIFE Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 141,182 1,035,778
& — R E R RIS Proceeds from disposal of an associate - 271,003
BERHHERE Purchase of available-for-sale investments (56,599) (19,936)
BERETEBEFIXAAMEE Purchase of financial assets designated as
RIEZSRMEE at fair value through profit or loss (816,867) (335,294)
HEEB TR FEA Placement of other structured deposits (180,723) =
HERMEHERE Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
Fri% investments 25,172 =
HEETEBIEFIZARMBME  Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
RIBZCREE designated as at fair value through profit
A5 or loss 523,057 305,354
5 BB A (E 0 Proceeds from site relocation
IEFAE RS compensation, net of related expenses 61,728 187,328
ERALERBARLZ Deposits received in relation to disposal of
B ERE subsidiaries 456,067 =
HEZESI R EIER Repayment from jointly controlled entities 4,262 141,079
B N TR Advances to associates - (51,715)
FEFERAS AG R (& X Advances to non-controlling shareholders (601) (12,166)
BIREN Loans repayment 315,713 288,582
BT EXN Loans advanced (308,587) (142,835)
FBYEIRIR Z R1T7F 302 2E  Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 322,266 305,334
FERIR 2 SRITIERZTEA Placement of pledged bank deposits (84,542) (49,999)
REREXHZ NET CASH FROM INVESTING
RE&FE ACTIVITIES 284,871 1,810,805
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REBRETRND X

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(BE=Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

EFIE
BN E
B IR R

% &
%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%%&

FERFTREMER
3H PRRARER 2

/Eﬁ

558 ) R B IEIE AR

LY=L NP

KB (RE) KEHER A ]

RE(AR)BMEXL 2
ReFE

RERAEEEERHE
(WD) B InF R

R—A—BZHER
RE%EER

SNE SR RN 2 R E

Rt=—A=t—HAZHER
RE%EER

RERREEEEAHR
R AT

RITREENRE

W RREZRITEF(HE)

BREDEAFTEEEL
RITRF MRS

B aE
NOTES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Dividend paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders

New bank and other loans raised

Repayment of bank and other loans

Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders

(Repayment to) advances from non-
controlling shareholders

Advances from associates

Advances from (repayment to) jointly
controlled entities

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
1ST JANUARY

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
31ST DECEMBER

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash

Less: restricted bank deposits (Note)

Bank balances and cash included in assets
classified as held for sale 36

2011 2010
TExT TFET
HK$/000 HK$’000
(174,271) (156,924)
(150,677) (105,474)
- (26,762)
1,390,389 1,003,974
(1,058,873) (1,355,583)
- 96,872

(1,790) 629
323 1,693
2,888 (5,248)
7,989 (546,823)
(864,615) 654,391
2,776,775 2,034,345
127,260 88,039
2,039,420 2,776,775
2,234,901 2,923,509
(229,342) (169,070)
2,005,559 2,754,439
33,861 22,336
2,039,420 2,776,775

Wiet - RREZRITEFRENRITAEFLIRE & Note: The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash

BIRTHETRAEMANEENMEERIER -

projects.

which can only be applied in the designated property development
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BE—Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

1. #E4E

ARRR—REFBEIMRLZ AR LW AR
nAE - ERDEREMERZAER AR (5
A1) £ e AR B MM ERIE A TRRZ =
REEWENAFR ARER | —HPIE -

AEEFERFEVFERRERE - HENE
PR R BRRRGEE - RIUVEE
EMEERRIREER - ARBZINEEERS
ARB(TARE]) - AARKEZ KA %7519
EREARAMB(HEDEE - HEMHHR
RUABBEE (BT 2Y - BEARTNY
RREWAMTR - ZEEARR 2 LTy
ARAREZRR/ETLIRRABZZINES -

2. BRAMIREEITEBMBR
HEA(EFBMBREER )

RAEE  AEBECEATIHESS A
e ([BEAGAE ) FTEM 2 5] REIERT
ZEBEGHEN(BEGT LR - HEHE
REER([BEMBRELER]) « BT RBE
(BB (EARTHERE2REBEES)2RE]) (A
TRIBI ] REERT 2 BB B %2R ) -
BEMEREEANEIA T -TERHNES
g sl opied
BT ERE 4R BEHBE
(ZZENELER)
BAGERERBITA kA8
BE(ERBRERBEES) BELSRATHEN
—REFAREBITA
BE(EREBRERER
—REE1957%

mo

®) MEETRREERAR

\

BRI E SN - RANEE AT R IERT
ZEBUBHREERNHAEEBRITIEEFE
ZEIBRBE RN e, HALRE BT BRR Ak
MRBEWEBATE

1. GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered
office which is also principal place of business of the Company is

disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are property development and
investment, sale of cement, clinker and construction materials, golf
course operation, provision of hotel and property management and
investment holding. The functional currency of the Company is
Renminbi (“RMB”) as the Group conducts most of its operations in
the People Republic of China (“PRC”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in the currency of Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Dollars”) which is different from the functional currency of the
Company, as the directors of the Company consider that Hong Kong
dollars is the most appropriate presentation currency in view of its

place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), amendments and
interpretations (“HK(IFRIC) Int”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”):
Amendments HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010
HKAS 24 (as revised
in 2009)
Amendments to HKAS 32
Amendments to
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Related Party Disclosures

Classification of Rights Issues

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group'’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(HE—Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

2. ERH REEITEBYBR
HEA(TEBMBREER )
(%)

BRETERFIRBIT AP BHER 2
2I(ER -2 ZFHEANEBUE
¥ 22 A A B R — 3B 4D)

BREGFEUFIREFTARE  —AERA
UEERN RS BR LM ERRM EREELM
E2EWERIAR 20 - RAFE - BEEAE
REB D MR - AEERENEREH K27
2T - RFETCEYER - At ERA M

BHRROBBECHREL - ARBRESL -

C MM B s R AE A /] RGBT %

EUpSER

AEE W EIRF A T 52 R E =R

R EERTER] - BRI R -

BRMBHREEAE7HR
EHIES
BRMBHREEAE7HR
EHIES
BRMBREERER
RERM RS LR
FIRIERT A
BRMBREERER
BRMBHREERE10%:
BRMBHREERE 1R
BRMBREERE12%
BRMBHREERE 135
BRGHERE R
EHIES
BRGEAE 125
EHIES
BRGHEAE19%:
(ZF——FEE5T)
BRGEAR27H:
(ZF——FEE5T)
BR G EAR28%:
(ZF——FEE5T)
BRGEAE2H
EHIES
BE(ERMBRERE
ZE8)-REZ0%R

BE-cHEEESR

BRE-AHEREEL TR
A

BRMBREERER L
AR BB
BE

TRTR

FAMBHRE

BERH

REMER S RE’

D BEE

HibzmbkacBE 251

ERERE - E

SIRM

BYRBHRR

REERRRAEEEL
&

BHEMEENSRAR’

BARSEERR AR
AR

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements (as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010)

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity may choose to
disclose an analysis of other comprehensive income by item in
the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial
statements. In the current year, for each component of equity, the
Group has chosen to present such an analysis in the statement
of changes in equity. Such amendments have been applied
retrospectively, and hence the disclosures in these consolidated
financial statements have been modified to reflect the change.

New and revised standards and interpretations issued
but not effective

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued but
are not yet effective.

Disclosures — Transfers of Financial
Assets'

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities®

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7 Transition Disclosures®
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements?
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements’
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income’
Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets*
Employee Benefits’®

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKAS 19 (as revised

in2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised Separate Financial Statements’
in2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised Investments in Associates and Joint
in 2011) Ventures®
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase

of a Surface Mine?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BE—Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

2. BRI REEITEBYBR
SEA(EBMBREER])
(&)

C MM B 5 R AE R E] RGBT 2
A28 E)

' RIE——FL A -BIURRBZFERE

BE =

P ORZE=F A - BHIURRBZFEHRE
BE =

P ORZE-—HF A BIURRBZFEHRE
BE =

YRR —F A HIURRBZFERE
BE =

P O RZE-——FtA-BINURRBZFEHRE
BE =

$ RZZE-NFE—A-BIURRBZFEHRE
BE =

BERMBHREENEIFREHTA

—ETNFRMZ2BEM B REERF 53
ATREENBLRABZHAE R_T—F
FEAZBEAVHERELENEIRBREIER
AESRABURKR LR ZRE

BEMBRELENFIORRE BEBGTE
AIF395R/ 2@ TA - ER Rt E JBENRE
EHEREREELRERBHEKARDAEE
HE - AR EHRREERNEEBEHNES
MERBNZEBEAREANRSREMK
RINAERREERASZMEE  —RIZH
RetHEEE R ZBHERAGE - FIEEA
BEHRERBEAREGRERRERR AR
BEE - I REBFBMBHREEAFI
5 BERAIUATAHEERE R 2K
REIRAREZHEAABERZS  ¥RE
P B A TR R -

ARBER(TEF)EY  RERRANEBEHM
BREERNEIRUFRAEE L EREEL
2V ERALERNEATE  UAKEZS
BMEEME - ARERTRFARFA - TK
ARERR AT B 2 AR fEET -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised standards and interpretations issued
but not effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after Tst July, 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2015.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2012.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after Tst July, 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after Tst January, 2014.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All
other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their
fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) anticipate that the
adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may have significant impact
on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets.
Regarding the Group's financial assets, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been
completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including HKFRS
10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and HKAS 28
(as revised in 2011).

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements” that deal with consolidated financial statements
and HK (SIC)-Int 12 “Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities”.
HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains three
elements: (a) power over an investee; (b) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (c) the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to
deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and HK
(SIC)-Int 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions
by Venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of
which two or more parties have joint control should be classified.
Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations
or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are
three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly

controlled assets and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be

accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the

current standards.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (continued)

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January, 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided that
all of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning 1st January, 2013. The Directors are in the process of
assessing the impact of the application of these five standards on the
results and financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The
scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument
items and non-financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs
require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about
fair value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive
than those in the current standards. For example, quantitative and
qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy
currently required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7
“Financial Instruments: Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to

cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning
1st January, 2013 and that the application of the new standard may
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement
or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made
in the other comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a) items that
will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items
that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive

income is required to be allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st July, 2012. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the

amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the general
principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the entity expects to recover
the carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under the amendments,
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model in
accordance with HKAS 40 “Investment Property” are presumed to be
recovered through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after Tst January, 2012. The Directors anticipate that
the application of the amendments to HKAS 12 in future accounting
periods may result in adjustments to the amounts of deferred tax
liabilities recognised in prior years regarding the Group’s investment
properties of which the carrying amounts are presumed to be
recovered through sale. The Directors are in the process of assessing
the impact of the application of this amendment on the results and

financial position of the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (CONTINUED)

For other new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations,
the Directors anticipate that their application will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date
of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with others
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. Prior to Tst January, 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries on
or after 1st January, 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries on
or after 1st January, 2010 (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, if (i) derecognises the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any components
of other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (iii)
recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest with any resulting difference
being recognise as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to
the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
prior to 1st January, 2010

When the Group increases its interest in an entity that is already
controlled by the Group, goodwill arising on such acquisition
represents the difference between the cost of additional interest
acquired and the increase in the Group’s share of the fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.
The difference between the consideration paid and the aggregate of
goodwill and the fair value of the assets attributable to the additional
interest acquired is recognised as a reserve movement. This difference
represents the portion of the revaluation difference that arose since
the original acquisition date that is attributable to the Group’s
increased interest in the subsidiary.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in

profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19

“Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
Standard.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010 (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
standard.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1st January,
2010 (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, as appropriate, with the

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before
the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from

the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.
An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of financial position at cost less any identified impairment loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a jointly controlled
entity. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or

joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, less any
identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses
is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the

investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Interests in associates (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount

of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing
significant influence over that associate, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance
with HKAS 39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses

significant influence over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’ consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments
in jointly controlled entities are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes
in the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the jointly controlled entities, less any identified impairment
loss. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled entity
equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional
share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount

of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,

after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint ventures (continued)
Jointly controlled entities (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount

of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of a jointly controlled entity that results in the Group
losing joint control over that jointly controlled entity, any retained
investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset
in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the previous
carrying amount of the jointly controlled entity attributable to the
retained interest and its fair value is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the jointly controlled entity. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that jointly controlled entity on
the same basis as would be required if that jointly controlled entity
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that jointly controlled entity would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses joint control over that jointly controlled

entity.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled
entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are
not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint ventures (continued)
Jointly controlled entities (continued)

Where a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity of the
Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s

interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Investment in a jointly controlled entity of the Company is stated
at cost less any identified impairment loss. Results of the jointly
controlled entity are dealt with in the financial statements to the

extent of dividends received and receivable.
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
Financial assets

The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets are classified into one
of the three categories, including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two
subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those
designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the

near future; or

e it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

112 Xz+hE#®REERALE Tian An China Investments Company Limited



e MW R K

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BE=Z—F+=-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

3. EESTHE®)

LT R =)
SHEEE)
BBBRIEL S EERETES 2HEEE)

HBEETIER  AREXZRGRZEREE
Bz EREER N A RERRIEERBRE
BEEAABEREZ CREE

o EIEBONSAER D A s I £ 2 5t
EAHRTH

s TREEBKEREELTHABIME
ZHAR 28 - URBEAKREZEER
REESIRERBEAABEELEEER
AHEERAE - AR 2 BERHRZEEARR
Bt s 3

o HBNEBE EFHALBRAXITETAZ
Z—#bfn - BEAEG LT3R A T
AN

FRBEREEANBEREZSREERLAA
BEME  FRAAEBEEINEHELHH
BRRERERER - RERRERZBEF
BIERBEEREEMREHIBEHHE -

B RIEWHR

ER M EUGRIATI N BB TS REMEBE
EHAEENRZITESREE - NERHE
Ri& - BERRERFBR(BEES REMER
R BUWER  BERRIR - KREHIA
AR - FFERBRR R - B AR TR -
BRI Z RITFRMRTEFMRE)HR
B BR R 2RO 42 8 5 P AN ORL (7] E B RE R (LS
BAR -

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may

be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial

recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement

or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided internally on that

basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit

or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend

or interest earned on the financial assets.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from jointly controlled entities, amounts due
from non-controlling shareholders, other structured deposits, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment

losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available for sales or are not classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in revaluation reserve is reclassified from equity

to profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered

to be objective evidence of impairment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For the other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could

include:
e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

financial re-organisation; or

e The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

Financial assets that are individually significant are assessed for
indicators of impairment individually. For certain types of financial
assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for indicators of

impairment on a collective basis.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period
in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed through profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase
in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the
fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions

of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying value on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-
free borrowings, trade and other payables, dividend payable to non-
controlling shareholders and membership debentures are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and the Company and not designated as at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group and the
Company measure the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 “Revenue”.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.
Inventories of properties are transferred to investment properties at fair
value when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
an operating lease. The difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Other inventories

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable,
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Cost is computed on a weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated cost
of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Properties for development

Properties for development is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises
the consideration for acquisition of land use rights and other costs
directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition
necessary for it to be capable of development of the properties. The
consideration for acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold
land held for future development. The costs that are directly
attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of development of the properties are capitalised as

costs of properties for development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Land and buildings on medium- Over the unexpired lease term or
term lease 40 years, whichever is shorter
Golf course on medium-term lease Over the unexpired lease term
4% — 8%

20% — 30%

Plant and machinery
Others
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Owner-occupied property is transferred to investment property
at fair value when it is evidenced by end of owner-occupation.
The difference between the carrying amount and its fair value at
the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment
will be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner occupation. Transfer from investment
property to property under development will be made where there is
a change in use, evidence by the commencement of construction for
property for sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at
fair value to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at
the date of change in use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated income statement in the year in

which the item is derecognised.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another
party. The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount
at the date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses (other than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on

a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases,
in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets

are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
income statement items that are never taxable or deductible. Liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised
to profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current
and deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts.

Income from properties developed for sale is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed and the properties have been
delivered to the purchasers and collectibility of related receivables is
reasonably assured. Profit or loss arising from the outright sale of an
entire development property prior to completion is recognised when
a binding sales contract becomes unconditional and the risks and

rewards of the ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are carried in the consolidated

statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Sales of other goods are recognised when goods are delivered and

title has passed.

Income from golf course operation and hotel and property

management is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to

that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s

rights to receive payment have been established.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange difference
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s net
investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal of foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in
which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is

reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st January,
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
exchange translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions of foreign
operations prior to 1st January, 2005 are treated as non-monetary
foreign currency items of the acquirer and reported using the

historical exchange rate prevailing at the date of the acquisition.
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition
is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset (disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’) previous

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the Group and
the Company is based on the evaluation of collectability and aging
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each customer and borrower. If the
financial positions of customers and borrowers of the Group were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required. During the year
ended 31st December, 2011, bad debts that were previously written
off in prior years of HK$51,266,000 (2010: HK$2,610,000) were
recovered in the current year.

Valuation of inventories of properties

Inventories of properties are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. The estimated net realisable value is estimated
selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost of
completion (if any), which are estimated based on best available
information.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated
at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers have
based on a method of valuation which involves certain estimates. In
relying on the valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the assumptions used in valuation have
reflected the current market conditions.

Estimate of fair value of financial assets designated as
at fair value through profit or loss

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets designated as
at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In
determining the fair value, the valuers have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation
report, the management has exercised their judgement and is satisfied
that the assumptions used in valuation have reflected the current
market conditions.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and equipment
with respect to depreciation, management estimates the useful lives
of various categories of property, plant and equipment according
to the industrial experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant industrial norm. If
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment is less than
the original estimate useful lives due to changes in commercial
and technological environment, such difference will impact the
depreciation charge for the remaining period.

Taxation

At 31st December, 2011, a deferred tax asset of HK$4,563,000 in
relation to unused tax losses has been recognised as set out in note
44. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the remaining tax
losses of HK$491,143,000 and other deductible temporary differences
of HK$579,569,000 as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. The realisability of the deferred tax
asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected, a material
reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the income statement for the period in which such a reversal takes

place.
Land appreciation tax

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,

borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Land appreciation tax (continued)

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in the PRC. The
details of implementation have been announced by local tax bureaux
in certain major cities, however, the Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with local tax bureaux in those cities in
PRC. Accordingly, significant judgements are required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Ownership of properties

At 31st December, 2011, certain land use rights certificates of a golf
course and properties for development totalling HK$1,381,823,000
(2010: HK$1,372,752,000) in the PRC have expired. In order to
renew the land use rights certificates, permit of Land Usage for
Construction must be granted by the local land bureau. The Group
has submitted the necessary documents to the local land bureau and
the renewal has not been granted yet as at the end of the reporting
period. The final outcome of the renewal application depends on
the local land policies. If the renewal is rejected, amendment to the
development plan may be required. The management has exercised
their judgement, taking into consideration legal opinion obtained,
and is satisfied that the Group still have the beneficial ownership of
the golf course and properties for development and no impairment is

associated with the properties.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

5a. Categories of financial instruments

rEE ¥ /NG|
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010
FTET FATT FTER FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 130,439 112,340 - =
HIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 15,019 24,131 - =
IEE B BEIR A A EE Financial assets designated as at
B CRIERE fair value through profit or loss 351,167 35,608 - =
B KR Loan and receivables
(P4EIRITHEEFENIES © (including bank balances and cash,
N ABEE# 2881777 7) and pledged bank deposits) 3,762,962 4,617,135 7,646,856 7,429,209
2HEE Financial liabilities
REHK AT 22 Financial liabilities measured at
SHaE amortised cost 5,239,613 4,190,526 508,970 65,906

5b. M EMERE B EREE

AEEZTZSRTABREARLERE &
EEERE B nF - AFREHAE IR
BBRERAR R - BER - B 5 R EMERE
FEEEBBRSREAANBEREZEME
E - HEBEER  EEERZRITER
RITEFENRES  EHREMBENERR &
MIHEBRBRERE - MEREEERREHEE
7o ZEEMITAFHBNEWERE - TXH
JIEZETRTAG R AR RNAREZE
Rl BE - BREEEREZEZFRR - A
FEOR K I A A U ERBUE & 2 f5 56

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-
sale investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due
from associates, jointly controlled entities and non-controlling
shareholders, loans receivable, trade and other receivables, financial
assets designed as at fair value through profit or loss, other structured
deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, dividend payable to non-controlling shareholders,
interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings and membership
debentures. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and

change in other prices of equity financial instruments (see below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or

the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.
(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on fixed-rate borrowings. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate borrowings
which carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a
certain percentage. The Group will continue to maintain a reasonable
mix of floating rate and fixed rate borrowings and take actions to
hedge against any foreseeable interest rate exposure, if necessary. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of bank and other borrowings of

the Group are disclosed in note 40.
Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable
rate borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit would decrease by approximately HK$21,410,000 and
HK$15,795,000 for the years ended 31st December, 2011 and 31st
December, 2010 respectively.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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eI United States Dollars
BT Hong Kong Dollars

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC other than Hong Kong and
certain bank and other loans of the Group are denominated in foreign
currencies (see notes 40 and 41). The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors
the related foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amount of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
are denominated in a currency other than RMB at the end of the

respective reporting periods are as follow:

A%E EING
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010

TERT TR FTERT TR
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

19,086 366,149 3,699 407
891,837 1,377,772 107,641 16,393
9,995 9,315 - 228
994,228 550,633 209,362 2,298
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b.Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of United States (“United
States Dollars”) and Hong Kong Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings as well as bank

balances and cash. A positive number indicates an increase in profit

ORI - for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currency.
If there is 5% increase in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies,
the increase (decrease) in the profit for the year is shown as below:

REH KA F]
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010
FH& T FBTT FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

e United States Dollars

NEFE R Decrease in profit for the year (455) (17,842) (185) 9)

BT Hong Kong Dollars

AR [ S5 7| Increase (decrease) in profit

HNCRA) for the year 5,120 (41,357) 5,086 (705)

EERERRS - BREI T TRERRAESNER
% ARFERERIYTNRREZEANEE

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

— revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by HK$13,044,000
(2010: increase/decrease by HK$11,234,000) for the Group as a
result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale shares.

— net profit would increase/decrease by HK$1,502,000 (2010:
increase/decrease by HK$2,413,000) for the Group as a result of
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2011, the Company’s and the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Company and the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties or financial guarantees provided by
the Company and the Group is represented by the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of financial position
and the amount of contingent liabilities disclosed in note 48. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the monitoring procedures are carried
out to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade receivables and other receivables at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. With respect to financial
guarantees provided to banks to secure the banking facilities granted
to subsidiaries by the Company, the Directors consider the credit risk is
limited because the subsidiaries have strong financial positions. The
management considers the credit risk exposure to financial guarantee
provided to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to property
purchasers is also limited because the facilities are secured by the
properties and the market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

Except for the loan receivable of HK$24,720,000 due from a related
party disclosed in note 50(a), the Group has a concentration of credit
risk as the loan receivables are advanced to a few independent third
parties. The loans receivables will be matured ranging from September
2012 to December 2012. Except for the loan receivable from a related
party, each of the loan receivables is secured by unlisted shares.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, an aggregate amount of
HK$154,630,000 was settled. The management considers the credit
risk exposure is limited as the receivables are secured and none of
them have been past due.

The Group also has a concentration of credit risk on the amounts
due from jointly controlled entities which are due from a few jointly
controlled entities. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts if any.
The management considers the credit risk exposure is limited.

The Company and the Group have no other significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s and the Company’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and
financial guarantee arrangements. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can
be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.
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THE GROUP

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Dividends payable to non-
controlling Shareholders
Interest-bearing borrowings
- fixed rate
- variable rate
Interest-free borrowings
Membership debenture
Financial guarantee contracts

2010
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings

- fixed rate

- variable rate
Interest-free borrowings
Financial guarantee contracts

THE COMPANY

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
- variable rate
Interest-free borrowings
Financial guarantee contracts

2010

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Other payables

Interest-free borrowings

Financial guarantee contracts

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

R R+=H

EERTEE =+-8
BHOR1MER REGH 2R
MEFHIFE  Repayable on BERERE Carrying
Weighted  demand or MEAZIE Total amount
average less than 1238 A 3 months 1255 SELLE  undiscounted at 31st
interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years Styears  cashflows  December
Bt FAL TAT TAT AT BT TAT TAT
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

- 1,809,291 - - - - 1,809,291 1,809,291

- 5,972 - - - - 5,972 5972
6.87% 107,770 35,887 364,170 1,549,305 523,459 2,580,591 2,271,854
3.55% 772,634 190 155,693 164,396 - 1,092,913 1,070,481
- 34,637 - - - - 34,637 34,637

- - - 4,312 34,061 9,005 47,378 47,378

- 178,057 - - - - 178,057 -
2,908,361 36,077 524175 1,747,762 532,464 5,748,839 5,239,613

- 1,262,893 - - - - 1,262,893 1,262,893
5.93% 94,412 34,149 700,388 1,381,663 123,529 2,334,141 2,195,469
3.18% 224,000 60,284 140,258 299,798 100,986 825,326 705,512
- 26,652 - - - - 26,652 26,652

- 209,924 - - - - 209,924 -
1,817,881 94,433 840,646 1,681,461 224,515 4,658,936 4,190,526

- 9,387 - - - - 9,387 9,387
3.62% 200,000 - - - - 200,000 200,000
- 299,583 - - - - 299,583 299,583

- 2,259,521 - - - - 2,259,521 -
2,768,491 - - - - 2768491 508,970

- 10,722 - - - - 10,722 10,722

- 55,184 - - - - 55,184 55,184

- 1,649,540 - - - - 1,649,540 -
1,715,446 - - - - 1,715,446 65,906
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“on demand or less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31st December, 2011 and 2010, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$570,153,000 and HK$122,141,000 respectively. Taking into
account the Group'’s financial position, the Directors do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe that
such bank loans will be repaid four years after the reporting date
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements (i.e. on or before September 2015). At that time,
the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$618,722,000.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts that the Group or the Company could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectation at the end of the reporting period, the Group or the
Company considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will
be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in notes 40 and 41, membership debentures
disclosed in note 43, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital,
reserves and retained earnings.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing

debt, if necessary.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(@) the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets

are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

(b) the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions.

140 xz+hE#®REEMRALE Tian An China Investments Company Limited



e MW R K

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BE=Z—F+=-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

5. @@ T A

5b. M EREREBBRRBEE )

EMTAZAAEEE)

R HBHRREERZ A% BEHE

TREHBERERRAAABEFEZERMT
Bzt ZEeMIARBAABEEE
WRE - DRE-REE =R

@ F—RDIAEBEAEREXNEETSTHE
FAEREEXRBNRECREHE)

b) E-_RRIABEAERERK T BERE
—BMEEKREINE Z (AER) KE
E(BIZRERER) 2 BRRENB A
54

(© F=ZFZIAEBEFERERLIFREAH
EMBRBECFIBRENBANEELR
R B AREERT]

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b. Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

(@) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities;

(b) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

(c) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation

techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not

based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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(continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

DA BEE () Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position (continued)

2011
E—R E& E= et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

THET FET FET FERT
HK$’000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$’000

Financial assets
Held-for-trading investments
— Equity securities listed
outside Hong Kong 12,616 - - 12,616

Available-for-sale investments
— Equity securities listed

outside Hong Kong 14,149 - - 14,149
— Unlisted equity fund - 32,775 - 32,775
14,149 32,775 - 46,924
Financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss
— Structured deposit - 351,167 - 351,167
2010
F—& E_R E=& ABET
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

TAT TR TR T
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Financial assets
Held-for-trading investments
— Equity securities listed

outside Hong Kong 16,201 - - 16,201
— Unlisted debt securities — 5,527 = 5,527
16,201 5,527 - 21,728
Available-for-sale investments
— Equity securities listed
outside Hong Kong 17,481 - - 17,481
— Unlisted equity fund - 67,992 - 67,992
17,481 67,992 - 85,473
Financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss
— Structured deposit = 35,608 = 35,608
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

5b.Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position (continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the current year.

For unlisted equity fund and unlisted debt securities classified as level
2, the fair values are provided by the relevant investment managers.
The unlisted equity fund is measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Based on the relevant agreements, the Group can
require the relevant investment managers to redeem the units at the
net asset value per unit by giving a written redemption notice not less
than 90 business days and the fair value of the unlisted equity fund is
therefore determined based on the net asset value per unit provided

by the relevant investment manager.

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss,
HK$3,808,000 related to fair value change on held-for-trading
investments.

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of
HK$14,002,000 related to fair value change on available-for-sale
investments and is presented in “investment revaluation reserves”. (see
note 39)
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out and located in the PRC other than Hong Kong. The
Group’s basis of organisation is determined based on four main
operations: property development, property investment, manufacture,
sale and trading of cement, clinker and construction materials and
other operations, that includes hotel and property management and
golf course operation. Similarly, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments, reported to the Executive Directors of the Company for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, also

focused on the four main operations.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue, results and assets

by reportable and operating segments for the year under review:

2011 2010

FET TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sale of completed properties 763,690 518,372

Rental income 384,706 346,747
Manufacture, sale and trading of

cement, clinker and

construction materials 727,263 452,617

Income from golf course operation 25,561 25,574
Income from hotel and property

management 85,487 68,676

1,986,707 1,411,986

There are no intersegment sales and transfers among the reportable

and operating segments.
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and operating segment is as follows:

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group’s revenue and assets for the year were derived mainly from
activities carried out and located in the PRC other than Hong Kong.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and segment results by reportable

£E - #HE
REEKE
ABR
BEH
Manufacture,
sale and
trading of
cement,
L3295 YI%¥RE  clinker and Hit&E
Property Property construction Other &5t
development  investment materials  operations Consolidated
FHET THERT FTHET FHET THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z——F Consolidated income
+=A=+—H1  statement for the year
FEZHEWERE ended 31st December, 2011
2 EEA SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 763,690 384,706 727,263 111,048 1,986,707
ES RESULTS
2 2B A Segment profit 232,985 534,158 63,002 23,521 853,666
H b A N Ues Other income and gains 116,742
ENZo ATt Unallocated corporate
=3 expenses (103,549)
& R AN Finance costs (151,242)
FE(GE &N Bl Share of loss of associates (19) - - (57) (76)
JE5 FE R Share of profit of jointly
RNAENE M controlled entities 399,585 70,667 - 4,412 474,664
BRAERT A Profit before tax 1,190,205
-_——
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aftEamE

Consolidated statement of
financial position as at
31st December, 2011

Assets

Segment assets

Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled
entities

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

£E - HE

REEKIR

AZRR

BEMH

Manufacture,

sale and

trading of

cement,

MERR  WERE  clinkerand  Hft1&E

Property Property construction Other =5
development investment materials  operations Consolidated
TER TER TER TER TER
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
9,659,450 7,671,463 760,220 163,188 18,254,321
9,933 - - - 9,933
684,458 732,099 - 11,749 1,428,306
3,397,495
23,090,055
1,325,114 325,220 8,285 175,187 1,833,806
6,508,906
8,342,712
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6. DEER#)

BE-Z——#F
+=HA=+—H
I FEZH &R

BRERD EHN K
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FTEZ SR
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HEMEH DR
RS K522
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ERTYEFEER
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AV ELE]
Yo zs
REMELAEE
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BERTIVEFEZ
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FIEEERERAR
EBEIFRD
ek} = /NC]
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other information for the
year ended
31st December, 2011

Amounts included in the
measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets

Depreciation and amortisation

(Gain) loss on disposal and
write off of property, plant
and equipment

Fair value gain on transfer of
inventories of completed
properties to investment
properties

Increase in fair value of
investment properties

Write-down inventories of
completed properties

Recoveries of bad debts written
off in prior years

Net decrease in fair value of
held-for-trading investments

Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries

£E - HE
REEKIE

BEMH

Manufacture,

sale and

trading of

cement,

MERRE  WERE  clinkerand  HittEE

Property Property construction Other &5t
development investment materials  operations Consolidated
TER TER TER TER TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
1,308,105 120,196 34,279 68,261 1,530,841
68,582 4,165 19,308 9,367 101,422
(28) 15 369 (1,195) (839)
- 12,275 - - 12,275
- 296,094 - - 296,094
7,245 - - - 7,245
46,135 - 5,131 - 51,266
- - - 3,808 3,808
118,785 - - - 118,785
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6. DEER#E)

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

KE  #HE
REEKE
B
Manufacture,
sale and
trading of
cement,
MR MERE  clinker and Hith &3
Property Property  construction Other =
development investment materials operations  Consolidated
THT FET FAET FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BE-ZE—ZF Consolidated income
+=BA=+—Hi  statement for the
FEZEEWEER  year ended
31st December, 2010
2 HBA SEGMENT REVENUE
HINHE External sales 518,372 346,747 452,617 94,250 1,411,986
ES RESULTS
D EbE A (E5E) Segment profit (loss) 650,847 642,281 531,801 (25,915) 1,799,014
H YA B Wz Other income and gains 99,548
Rz % Unallocated corporate
ZH expenses (96,306)
& A AN Finance costs (136,377)
JEAG B =N B Al Share of profit (loss) of
(E518) associates (838) 2,566 = = 1,728
JE 15 R 12 Share of profit of jointly
NCIbvl controlled entities 150,539 113,882 = 116 264,537
B A E A Profit before tax 1,932,144
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6. DEER#)

R-E—ZF
+=A=+—A%2
HEMEMR TR

BE

DEEE

N NI
RIEREHI QT Z
2

KD BREE

>t

BHREE

8f&

DEAE

RegE Dz bE
B\

Consolidated statement of
financial position as at
31st December, 2010

Assets

Segment assets

Interests in associates

Interests in jointly controlled
entities

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

&2 M0 B RS S BRI FE3 Pt i AR SR

EEFBE -2 -

L ONSL 6

7 s A (B8 ) A0 &

PREREO R (R ER) -
BERA - BIAHE R R RAR

BRI B

ZHARNEN (BB MRS B EXER -
L TIER T AR RMITESERERD B M T

RERBMZFE -

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HE - #HE

REEKE

ZEMH

Manufacture,

sale and

trading of

cement,

MERE M#EKE  clinker and HinzE

Property Property  construction Other i
development investment materials operations  Consolidated
TAET TAT TAT TAT TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
7,736,045 6,856,813 632,462 386,270 15,611,590
10,595 - - 57 10,652
439,817 428,628 - 9,896 878,341
4,072,972
20,573,555
N
1,415,808 190,497 15,594 281,258 1,903,157
5,304,235
7,207,392

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit
(loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each segment without
allocation of other income and gains, finance costs, share of profit
(loss) of associates and jointly controlled entities and unallocated
corporate expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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6. DEER#E)

BE-F-FF
t=A=+-H

IEEEZ HER
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other information for
the year ended
31st December, 2010

Amounts included in the
measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

Addition to non-current assets

Depreciation and amortisation

Loss (gain) on disposal and
write off of property, plant
and equipment

Fair value gain on transfer of
inventories of completed
properties to investment
properties

Increase in fair value of
investment properties

Write-down inventories of
completed properties

Reversal of (allowance for) bad
and doubtful debts

Net decrease in fair value of
held-for-trading investments

Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries

Gain on disposal of an
associate

Gain on site relocation
compensation

HE #HE

KEEKE

AR

BZEYH

Manufacture,

sale and

trading of

cement,

MERER WERE  clinker and Hipe&

Property Property  construction Other il
development investment materials operations  Consolidated
TET TET TET TET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
459,401 67,117 125,754 13,182 665,454
64,603 4,647 12,445 8,035 89,730
3,348 401 6,302 (518) 9,533
- 7,211 - - 7,211
- 386,824 - - 386,824
30,517 - - - 30,517
4,898 541 162 (2,991) 2,610
- - - 7,915 7,915
536,469 77,196 - - 613,665
- 12,297 - - 12,297
- - 513,851 - 513,851
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6. DEER#)

i EEE R

AEEZ EBLURTE - IAEREELHINEP
EEZBARBERGRHEIERIMNONEES
E o ARBZERIFRBEESMNTE -

FRFEFZEHR

AEERERE-HINEFPRH ZBAZERE
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7. HApWA KW

B BA
—JEEMRBD
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RITHER MM AR
SN
KRB ERESIRE
ESCON
FE W E R B
WA
HA B IETR
LS BA
EEI Y L T
EERMBUA
EEEBBRaEARER
RIEZEMERE
Z R EEESE
THETON
HAWKA

8. HEMBARzWsE

REBEEZZE—F+_A=1+—HIEFER
ANEEHE — B A R Z100%HE 5 K% E
B B AR R ABERE S MK
WEFBRREMERR - ZHHENBRRZ
—HB AR —UESEAERH50%HE
& ZMBRARZEEFERE—TF+=

A=+—BHEIBEREFE -

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC. All of the Group’s
revenue from external customers is determined based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods were delivered. The
Group’s major non-current assets are located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue for the year.

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2011 2010
FET FH&IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Dividend income
— unlisted shares 12,636 3,657
— listed shares 225 172
Interest income on bank deposits
and receivables 29,028 38,419
Interest income from jointly
controlled entities - 7,641
Interest income from loans
receivable 15,614 4,657
Interest income on other structured
deposits 3,943 -
Imputed interest income on non-
current interest-free receivables - 628
Fair value gain on financial assets
designated as at fair value
through profit or loss 12,429 5,538
Subsidy income 9,699 18,383
Other income 33,168 20,453
116,742 99,548

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group disposed of
100% of its interests in and shareholder’s loan to a subsidiary which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is engaged in property
development in the PRC. The subsidiary is disposed of to a company,
of which its 50% interest is held by a director of the disposed
subsidiary. The net assets of the subsidiary were classified as held for
sales as at 31st December, 2010.
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8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group disposed of
its entire interests in, and shareholder’s loans to, two subsidiaries to
independent third parties. One of the subsidiaries is established in
the British Virgin Islands and its jointly controlled entity is engaged in
property development. The net assets of the subsidiary were classified
as held for sales as at 31st December, 2009. The other subsidiary is
established in the British Virgin Islands and its jointly controlled entity
is engaged in property investment.

The net assets of the subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as
follows:

2011 2010
FAT TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment 370 -
Interest in jointly controlled
entities - 350,389
Inventories of property under
development 487,049 -
Amount due from a jointly
controlled entity - 15,623
Trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments 12,793 -
Bank balances and cash 74,044 =
Trade and other payables (64) -
Pre-sale deposits (231,629) =
Non-current interest-bearing
borrowings (192,771) -
149,792 366,012
Other reserves reclassified to
profit or loss (Note a) 30,843 -
180,635 366,012
Gain on disposal 118,785 613,665
Net proceeds on disposals,
comprising 299,420 979,677
— Cash consideration received
in current year 215,226 1,035,778
— Cash consideration received
in prior year as deposit 84,194 -
— Transaction costs payable - (56,101)
299,420 979,677
Exchange translation reserve
transferred to retained earnings
(Note b) 9,145 10,947
Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 215,226 1,035,778
Bank balances and cash disposed of (74,044) -
141,182 1,035,778
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8. HEMBAR ZWE=E %)

HiaE -

@ HittEEERARMFENETA 6 - WEER
MMEMELEN AR EEFE

b) BEZFELEHBRAREAREZ)EEEEE
R RHER  BEZSEHEHBRARZR
SHIAE 57 B R 2 I 5 = BALIE 7 B R

DREZFHEAM °

9. HE—BEE QR zWE

RBE_Z—ZEF+_A=+—BIFERN
AN EE LA271,003,000 T 2B e RE - H
EER—HBERR2E31.25%E KRR
ER(ZEE R n#HE —HEMEARS0% 2
MEws) - e A 2R A & W Es 4312,297,00078
T ZEMENRNEYERE -

10. ZH B IFBME WS

R-ZBAFE+—HB-++H "EHEL
BRI — R E R —EIEE AN
BARRAER T FERE IS B IFERE
AR -REBE_E—ZF+-_A=+—HIEF
BN AEEETKEZREZZBHFE - ZfmE
BRSBTS RE W A513,851,00078 7T 1
HE_Z-—ZF+-_A=+—HLFE 5
HBBFEMES - AR ARRELTEEN A
192,617,000/ T °

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) Other reserves represented the fair value adjustment arising from
acquisition of properties under development in business combination in
prior years.

(b) Since the functional currencies of the disposed subsidiaries and the
Company are the same, exchange differences accumulated in exchange
translation reserve relating to the disposed subsidiaries are reclassified
from exchange translation reserve to retained earnings at the time of
disposal.

9. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF AN ASSOCIATE

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group disposed of
its entire 31.25% interest in and shareholder’s loan to an associate
that held 80% equity in a subsidiary for a cash consideration of
HK$271,003,000, resulting in a gain on disposal of HK$12,297,000.
The associates were engaged in property investment.

10. GAIN ON SITE RELOCATION COMPENSATION

On 27th November, 2009, the Group entered into a site relocation
compensation agreement with Shanghai Municipal Government for
land resumption in respect of land use right which was held by a non
wholly-owned subsidiary. During the year ended 31st December,
2010, the Group had completed the required relocation. The
compensation resulted in a gain of HK$513,851,000 to the Group.
Profit after tax attributable to the owners of the Company in respect of
site relocation amounted to HK$192,617,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2010.
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1. @& AN 11. FINANCE COSTS
MERF Interest on:
RITER Bank loans
HAE R Other loans
ERLHE Loans arrangement fee
FERBREERZ Imputed interest expenses on non-
EENEER current interest-free borrowings

o BAMERBRERYE

Less: amount capitalised on

G| properties under development
12. 18 12. TAXATION
X HBHE The charge comprises:

B EAEH R T IR ER
—AFEERE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax and LAT

— current year provision

—BEFETREE — under provision in prior years
TESEFE T (M 5E44) Deferred tax (note 44)
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2011 2010
FHB FET
HK$/000 HK$'000
173,673 159,117
1,130 700
9,145 -
2,239 2,094
186,187 161,911
(34,945) (25,534)
151,242 136,377
2011 2010
FET T
HK$/000 HK$'000
179,387 263,878
26,630 4,843
206,017 268,721
114,772 41,702
320,789 310,423
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12. BB (%)

REBEBEE ZRE R BN ZMFE R B
JERBU@ A - AL B BB NSHIE LB -
PR RIS HIRENE R RERR X ER
B RIBEANIBRECENBDL - —EH
BRAARLBNCEACLEENFREN _ZF
T FEREMFNPREEMERENER=F
ZAH50%WFEEEMEHRE - REXR-F
ZLF=ZA Tt NBERMPBELEMERE
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HZEMBGRER  AFEZTEEEMRSEHE
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REFECEMGHERTEREEMBIEE
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BB R 325% ©

T IIRE R 2 B TR AR R h B R S IR 1 P
FRIZRERTE - LR ERRIBEERRIEE
R PR R BRI REE -

BRI BRBRBERMEER 28 BT
[2008] 15% ' BT NFE—H—HMK R
REKY B ARIMEERFDRTIIEER
& E 2 IR B AN BTSRRI AR &
B EREHAFIR27IEERINERE D
KONBEI 2 R B A RSB0 1 kB INBI IR &
TERIINETERTEEEED - ROIRAF
ZIEFER A H 12,252,000 7T % 15,521,000
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HEFERBE-_ZT—TF+=-A=+—H1t
FEZERAWEGRENA ©

12. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the group
companies operating in Hong Kong do not have any assessable profits
for both years. The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the
rates applicable to respective subsidiaries. In accordance with the tax
legislations applicable to foreign investment enterprises, a subsidiary
is entitled to exemptions from the PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the
two years commencing from the first profit-making year of operation
in 2007 and thereafter, entitled to a 50% relief from the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for the following three years. The subsidiary
can continue to entitle such tax concession according to the Law of
the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax promulgated on 16th March, 2007
and the charge of PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year has been

provided for after taking these tax incentives into account.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with

certain allowable deductions.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC to “non-residential” investors since 1st January, 2008
shall be subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax and which held by
the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law
Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises
and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$12,252,000 and
HK$15,521,000 on the undistributed earnings has been recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st December,
2011 and 2010 respectively.
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12. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the

consolidated income statement as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at the domestic income tax rate
of 25% (2010: 25%)

Tax effect of share of profit of
associates and jointly controlled
entities

Tax effect of expenses not
deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses and other
deductible temporary differences
not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
losses and other deductible
temporary differences previously
not recognised

Effect of tax exemption granted to a
PRC subsidiary

Effect of different tax rates of
subsidiaries

Withholding tax on undistributed
earnings

PRC withholding tax

Effect on LAT

Underprovision in prior years

Others

Tax charge for the year

2011 2010
F#&T THIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
1,190,205 1,932,144
297,551 483,036
(118,647) (66,566)
33,435 25,701
(13,258) (156,626)
76,010 33,234
(21,228) (12,568)
(9,543) (4,610)
(8,115) -
12,252 15,521
28,402 -
15,330 (10,799)
26,630 4,843
1,970 (743)
320,789 310,423

The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the

jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is

used.
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Less: amount capitalised on properties
under development

Amortisation of:
Properties for development
Prepaid lease payments on
land use rights

Total depreciation and amortisation

Staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments) (Note b)
— Salaries and other costs
— Retirement benefits costs
— Less: amount capitalized on
properties under
development

Total staff costs

Gross rental income from
investment properties
Less: direct operating expenses
from investment
properties that generated
rental income during
the year

Auditor’s remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense

Exchange loss included in other
operating expenses (Note a)

Urban land use tax included in
other operating expenses

Gain (loss) on disposal and write-off
property, plant and equipment

Operating lease charges in respect
of land and buildings

Share of tax of associates
(included in share of (loss) profit
of associates)

Share of tax of jointly controlled
entities (included in share of
profit of jointly controlled
entities)

2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
42,957 34,780
(1,466) (1,580)
41,491 33,200
57,083 53,991
2,848 2,539
101,422 89,730
142,688 103,136
12,884 10,894
(10,954) (6,985)
144,618 107,045
(384,706) (346,747)
85,745 94,873
(298,961) (251,874)
5,904 3,977
1,021,450 604,818
2,548 28,287
37,090 26,035
839 (9,533)
5,561 3,101
9 1,819
320,706 325,499
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) Exchange loss mainly represented the net foreign exchange loss on
translation of bank balances, pledged bank deposits and interest-bearing
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars
into the Group’s functional currency Renminbi, which had appreciated
against Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars during the year
ended 31st December, 2011.

(b) The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee
as disclosed in note 14 and note 50(b) to the consolidated financial

statements for certain Directors as well as management personnel who are
not Directors or staff of the Company.

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fourteen (2010:

EvEWT - fourteen) Directors were as follows:
2011
we/
RBER HEEE RIREF
HitEh HEzRS BE L3
Salaries/ Performance  Retirement
EZWE  service fee related benefits
Directors’ and incentive scheme #at
fee other benefits payments contributions Total
TERT THET TET TERT TERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$/000
(Kiita)
(Note a)
HEER Hu Aimin 10 2,000 500 - 2,510
RIBH Song Zengbin 10 2,000 2,000 - 4,010
FRE (HT7ED) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Note b) 10 2,893 2,500 108 5,511
N Ng Qing Hai 10 1,976 716 90 2,792
B Ma Sun 10 2,941 300 258 3,509
SB=th Edwin Lo King Yau 10 766 990 35 1,801
TR AE Tao Tsan Sang 10 1,430 600 132 2,172
R Lee Seng Hui 10 3,190 4,500 31 7,731
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
HE Lee Shu Yin 8 - - _ 8
B 1E (ffatc) Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
(Note c) 10 77 - - 87
E/EMEC) Jin Hui Zhi (Note c) 10 77 - - 87
BREEL (f7tc) Ngai Wah Sang (Note c) 10 99 - - 109
SRR (Hitc) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note c) 10 77 - - 87
138 17,526 12,106 654 30,424
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14U EEME )

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

2010
e/

RIS E Kk B2 RINEF

Hi@h Alzfe STEIftER

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EEWE  service fee related benefits
Directors’ and incentive scheme st
fee other benefits payments contributions Total
FHAT TAT FHAT FHT THT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

(Hista)
(Note a)

7 1,417 - - 1,424
10 2,000 1,000 - 3,010
10 2,003 - 75 2,088
10 1,816 2,407 83 4,316
10 2,774 - 243 3,027
10 745 900 34 1,689
10 1,170 300 92 1,572
10 2,314 2,400 20 4,744
10 - - - 10
10 70 - - 80
7 50 - - 57
10 90 - - 100
10 70 - - 80
3 20 - - 23
127 14,539 7,007 547 22,220

MER Hu Aimin

RIEH Song Zengbin

AR (H152b) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Note b)
"B/ Ng Qing Hai

e Ma Sun

BR1 Edwin Lo King Yau
@A Tao Tsan Sang

FRIE Lee Seng Hui

BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi
f ey Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
EBEE Jin Hui Zhi

MEL Ngai Wah Sang

HREER Lisa Yang Lai Sum
B Xu Su Jing

Mzt -

(a)

SRERANFAXNGIEEESZAREFE
BES - FR_T— FZRERHRORE °

RZZB——F—A=+/\A  KRRABEARF
ZERREEFRERE(TFRLE ] (EFELE
BT FATN\BBERERAZEER
REEHWE(FE)BERADZHTES - UK
BEREBEEARNRR ZEBR)TLT —H
BESA - Iz KA B RIHER>) H$173,000
BT (R D RN EBRERTIN) © ()R
BEFEEERARREBEZRAMERZHBE
AL RGiBZFER T - AXNET=EA#H
T FEEZFHFMDN2EERTISREMAIL
BREFAEERABTZRERERMEE

W—ZT——F—A—Bif BUBLIFNTE
= HEEIELEE  SBERE  RELLLE
MGBRR T 2 REER_F—FF LFF10% °

Note:

(a)

The amounts represent the actual bonus in respect of the preceding year
paid to respective Directors during the year. The bonus in respect of the
year 2011 has yet to be decided.

On 28th January, 2011, an employment contract was entered into
between the Company and Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (“Mr. Lee”), the
Managing Director of the Company, subsequent to his retirement as
an executive director of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (a substantial
shareholder of the Company) and devotion of his time on a full time
basis on the Company with retrospective effect from 18th June, 2010,
pursuant to which Mr. Lee is entitled to receive (i) a monthly salary of
HK$173,000 (other than the Company’s provision of accommodation
to him in Shanghai); (ii) a discretionary bonus which is based on the
performance of both Mr. Lee and the Company; and (iii) a thirteen-month
salary payment that is made each December in respect of that year. The
remuneration of Mr. Lee was determined with reference to the prevailing
market conditions and based on the performance and contribution of Mr.
Lee in the Company.

The service fee of each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi, Mr. Ngai Wah Sang
and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, was increased by 10% with effect from 1st
January, 2011 as compared with 2010.
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14, EEMME )

ETERER " FEARRREARGE ZAFIK
He2 BB RRWHRME - ZARRAKERE
HEERS  XRAKERZEFES R EMIL
HFARREF 2 EHEEAB KB TARHERE
WINER - ZERE BRENTES0b)FTHRE
BEEF -

TRz ERENEEEBAERAERSES
It EETE YA oiE EllES -
BOR & 58 /58,742,0008 L( — T —Z4F ¢
5,686,000/57T) * WEBIEELERA ©

5. EEME

AEFELUSEMEALTEENML(ZZ—F
F:OMARRES  HM2EFER Lt
PizE14dh « B —(ZF—FF : —f1) AL
ZHET

e MEMRER

HXEARRZ

RIREHIEHE
R

HME 2z oM T

4,500,001/ 7T — 5,000,000/% T

AEE 2 HHBRRBRITH S H KT REHE
AEERRLERNEE 2 RBERE - REMF
N AEBYENEAME TZAERSH
Z AT E RSB E IMAREE 2 REN -

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Certain Directors received remuneration from a company, or a wholly-
owned subsidiary of such company which has significant beneficial
interests in the Company. Such company provided management
services to the Group and charged the Group a fee, which has been
included in management fee as disclosed in note 50(b), for services
provided by those Directors as well as other management personnel
who were not Directors and staff of the Company.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference to
the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of the
Group and can be apportioned to the Directors mentioned above. The
total of such apportioned amounts, which has been included in the
above table, is HK$8,742,000 (2010: HK$5,686,000).

15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
four (2010: four) were Directors whose emoluments are included in
note 14 above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2010: one)
individual were as follows:

2011 2010
FET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and other benefits 2,112 2,040
Performance related incentive
payments 2,600 2,500
Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 106 102
4,818 4,642
Their emoluments were within the following bands:
2011 2010
EEZE EEHE
Number of Number of
employees employees
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 1

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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16. IR 2

REE AR EL
BRE -
EN—F—FTFZRBRER
FRI0BW(ZT—FF
EN=FTNAFZER7B)

EERERER
FARaE(L
—ZT—TF : FRI10%ML)

EEgRRRBEBE T ——Ft-_A=1—
B BRFE 2 KRB E BR4B M ZF—F
F: BR10EM) - RIS ARFRRRA
RAAERITZBRAFAS LHLE

17. 8IREF
A TR 2 SRR AR T T 5 2E

) A
= -
Al 7 *

B

AT ESREN
pl il
(AR AR AESS
REZHA)

R

RN EESREREN
REFB BT
Epalrecds

BE_Z——FK T ZTF+_A=1+—H
IEFE - WEA2HERESRT - ARRE
EE——FRT-ZEF+_A=+—HIL
FEAIEEEEH TR

16. DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as
distributions during the year:
Final dividend for 2010 paid of

HK10 cents (2010: for 2009
paid of HK7 cents) per share

Final dividend proposed of HK4
cents (2010: HK10 cents) per
share

2011 2010
FERT TATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
150,677 105,474
60,271 150,677

The final dividend of HK4 cents (2010: HK10 cents) per share in
respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2011 has been
proposed by the Board and is subject to approval by the shareholders

at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following:

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic
earnings per share (profit for the
year attributable to owners of the
Company)

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, for the purpose
of basic earnings per share

2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
868,938 1,432,455
2011 2010
Tz Tz
000 000
1,506,769 1,506,769

No diluted earnings per share has been presented for the years
ended 31st December, 2011 and 2010 as there were no outstanding
potential ordinary shares during the years ended 31st December,

2011 and 2010.
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18. M1 - BEKRRE

A5E

BAE
RZZ-F5-f—-H
RS

BE
ERERENE
ENAE
NERAFEEE
HERFH

W-_E-FF+-A=1-H

T

BE

BRE0RT
mERE

BEERANZ

SRSRENFRYZ
WRERRS

iy

NEEHEEE

HE Rt

NN i 13

R=B——F+ZA=1-8

NERHEAE
RE R SR A

W-_E-FF+-A=1—H

S8R

AERHR
BEZRANZ
NEEHEAE
RE SR R
HOE R 2 RS

R-E-—-%+-A=+-A

R
R=F——#+ZA=1-A

AF-RE+-AZ1-R

THE GROUP

(o)

At 1st January, 2010

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transfer from investment properties
Reclassification

Reclassified as assets held for sale
Disposals and write-off

At 31st December, 2010

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transfer from inventories of
completed properties

Transfer to investment properties

Surplus on revaluation of properties upon

transfer to investment properties
Reclassification
Reclassified from assets held for sale
Disposals and write-off
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries

At 31st December, 2011

DEPRECIATION

At 1st January, 2010

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Reclassified as assets held for sale
Eliminated on disposals and write-off

At 31st December, 2010

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Transfer to investment properties
Reclassified from assets held for sale
Eliminated on disposals and write-off
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries

At 31st December, 2011

CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2011

At 31st December, 2010

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ERERE
A E R e %65 A
THRET BEXRS k&M
Land and Golf Leasehold
buildings course improvements,
in the PRC in the PRC EBIR RBERKE furniture, RE
on medium-  on medium-  Construction Plantand fixtures and Motor st
termlease  termlease  inprogress  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
TAL TAL TAL TEL TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
231,234 69,600 27,648 120,631 37,848 28,055 515,022
9,189 7,891 041 4,304 1,877 1,168 25,070
25,651 = 97,217 1,684 14,410 14,420 153,382
33,132 - - - - - 33,132
- - (10,427) 924 9,503 - -
(954) (4,911) - - 2,314 (247) (8,426)
(9,450) - - - (1,139) (5,093) (15,682)
288,802 72,586 115,079 127,543 60,185 38,303 702,498
14,603 9,413 5,683 6,358 1,247 1,639 38,943
2,060 - 28,000 2,636 14,527 7,047 54,870
4,521 = = = - - 4,521
(21,809) - - - - - (21,809)
5,032 - - - - - 5,632
69,098 - (147,762) 75,079 3,585 - -
34,260 120,720 - - 28,462 5,034 188,476
31 - - (292) (2,681) (3,981) (6,985)
- - - - (1,085) - (1,085)
397,136 202,719 1,000 211,324 104,240 48,642 965,061
3,492 4,638 = 1,910 11,765 14,505 36,310
380 718 - 84 619 582 2,383
6,987 5,160 - 7,212 9,862 5,539 34,780
(580) (3,847) - - (1,253) (246) (5,932)
(345) = - - (684) (3,219) (4,248)
9,928 6,609 - 9,206 20,329 17,161 63,293
822 1,554 - 743 608 782 4,509
9,282 5423 - 11,264 10,654 6,334 42,957
(2,806) - - - - - (2,806)
8,609 24,767 = = 23,361 4,561 61,298
2) - - (16) (589) (2,783) (3,390)
- - - - (715) - (715)
25,833 38,413 - 21,197 53,048 26,055 165,146
371,303 164,306 1,000 190,127 50,592 22,587 799,915
278,874 65,917 115,079 118,337 39,856 21,142 639,205
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18. 1% - MERRE#)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

£1E - &KW
R#&E
Leasehold
improvements,
furniture, RE
fixtures and Motor ot
equipment vehicles Total
FATT FATT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RRF THE COMPANY
BAE COST
R-—E—ZEF—HF—H At 1st January, 2010 20,666 6,874 27,540
PE H FE R Exchange adjustments 729 243 972
BE Additions 8,617 2,619 11,236
& K aEeE Disposals and write-off - (1,011) (1,011)
R-ZE—FEF+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2010 30,012 8,725 38,737
PE H FE R Exchange adjustments 1,482 431 1,913
BE Additions 5,320 = 5,320
HE AT iy Disposals and write-off (2,172) = (2,172)
R-E——F+_-_H=+—H At 31st December, 2011 34,642 9,156 43,798
e DEPRECIATION
R—E—ZEF—HF—H At 1st January, 2010 16,014 5,152 21,166
PE H FE R Exchange adjustments 565 182 747
FETE Provided for the year 219 1,021 1,240
A E K&t s s Eliminated on disposals and write-off = (856) (856)
R-_E—ZFF+_-_H=+—H At 31st December, 2010 16,798 5,499 22,297
P FEEE Exchange adjustments 830 271 1,101
NG Provided for the year 420 958 1,378
R E KT SER R Eliminated on disposals and write-off (116) - (116)
N-—=Z——F+=-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2011 17,932 6,728 24,660
FREE CARRYING VALUES
R=-ZB——F+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2011 16,710 2,428 19,138
R-_E—ZFF+_-_H=+—H At 31st December, 2010 13,214 3,226 16,440
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REE
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FET TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAIR VALUE
At 1st January 6,651,340 6,004,810
Exchange adjustments 336,287 221,469
Additions 116,233 62,714
Transferred from inventories of
completed properties 3,264 19,242
Transferred from (to) property,
plant and equipment 19,003 (33,132)
Transferred from prepaid lease
payments 1,708 -
Transferred to inventories of
properties under development (72,436) -
Reclassified as assets held for sale (741,000) =
Disposals (7,718) (17,798)
Fair value gain on transfer of
inventories of completed properties
to investment properties 12,275 7,211
Net increase in fair value recognised
in the income statement 296,094 386,824
At 31st December 6,615,050 6,651,340

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties and from (to)
property, plant and equipment, 31st December, 2011 and 31st
December, 2010 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Norton Appraisals Limited, a firm of
independent and qualified professional valuers not connected with the
Group. The valuation was principally based on investment approach
by taking into account the current rents passing and the reversionary
income potential of tenancies. For the properties which are currently
vacant, the valuation was based on each of the property interests by
capitalisation of the hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a
typical lease term and also make reference to the direct comparison
approach. For the properties which were transferred from inventories
of completed properties to investment properties, the valuation was
based on direct comparison approach.

Investment properties are all located in the PRC and comprise
properties held under:

rEH

THE GROUP
2011 2010
TR FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Long lease 2,815,400 3,193,600
Medium-term lease 3,799,650 3,457,740
6,615,050 6,651,340
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20. PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT

PROPERTIES IN THE PRC, AT COST

Balance at 1st January
Exchange adjustments
Additions

Transferred to inventories of
properties under development
Reclassified from (to) assets

held for sale

Balance at 31st December

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Balance at 1st January
Exchange adjustments

Amortisation for the year

Transferred to inventories of
properties under development

Reclassified from (to) assets

held for sale

Balance at 31st December

CARRYING VALUES

The Group’s properties for

development comprise:

Leasehold land in the PRC

Long lease
Medium-term lease

AEH
THE GROUP

2011 2010
FET T
HK$/000 HK$’000
3,942,513 3,502,250
148,850 62,280
967,309 410,993
(182,268) (12,446)
226,671 (20,564)
5,103,075 3,942,513
355,885 300,415
8,445 4,876
57,083 53,991
(9,069) (51)
21,954 (3,346)
434,298 355,885
4,668,777 3,586,628
3,246,884 2,911,513
1,421,893 675,115
4,668,777 3,586,628
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21. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE
RIGHTS

REE
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FEx TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
The Group’s prepaid lease payments
on land use rights comprise:
Leasehold land in the PRC
Long lease 48,876 49,613
Medium-term lease 64,285 42,964
113,161 92,577
Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current asset 110,523 90,753
Current asset 2,638 1,824
113,161 92,577
22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
PN
THE COMPANY
2011 2010
FERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Unlisted investments 3,151,037 3,002,753
Less: accumulated impairment (111,146) (113,968)
3,039,891 2,888,785

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31st December, 2011 are set

out in note 53.
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23. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

rEH
THE GROUP
2011 2010
TERT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investment in unlisted

associates (Note) 7,203 7,203
Share of post-acquisition profits and

losses and other comprehensive

income, net of dividends received 129 205

7,332 7,408

Note: Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of
HK$46,000 (2010: HK$46,000) arising on acquisitions of associates in
prior years.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

interests in associates is set out below:

2011 2010
FET TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
Total assets 47,790 46,781
Total liabilities (10,434) (8,974)
Net assets 37,356 37,807
Group’s share of net assets of
associates 7,332 7,408
Revenue 418 89,304
(Loss) profit for the year (451) 8,506
Group’s share of (loss) profits and
other comprehensive income of
associates for the year (76) 1,728
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24, INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES

Cost of investment in unlisted jointly
controlled entities (Note a)

Share of post-acquisition profits and
other comprehensive income, net

of dividends received

Amounts due from jointly controlled

entities (Note b)

Less: allowance for doubtful debts

Cost of investment in unlisted

jointly controlled entities

AEE
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FET THIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
444,343 384,101
588,932 392,737
38,607 38,607
(38,607) (38,607)
1,033,275 776,838
P NN
THE COMPANY
2011 2010
FiER FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
10,906 10,393

Details of the principal jointly controlled entities at 31st December,

2011 are set out in note 54.

Notes:

(@) Included in the cost of investment of jointly controlled entities is goodwill
of HK$409,000 (2010: HK$409,000) arising on acquisitions of jointly

controlled entities in prior years.

(b) The jointly controlled entities are not expected to repay the advances

within twelve months from the end of the reporting period and the

balances are classified as non-current. The amounts are unsecured and

interest-free.
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24. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (cONTINUED)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
interests in jointly controlled entities is set out below:

2011 2010
FERT THIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Total assets 9,862,367 6,538,632
Total liabilities (7,758,458) (4,951,017)
Non-controlling interests (33,224) (34,205)
Net assets 2,070,685 1,553,410
Group’s share of net assets of
jointly controlled entities 1,033,275 776,838
Revenue 2,894,634 2,061,692
Profit for the year 960,299 633,196
Other comprehensive income 223,578 117,487
Group's share of profits and other
comprehensive income of jointly
controlled entities for the year 548,053 306,178
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25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

EX

THE GROUP
2011 2010
FEx TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed

outside Hong Kong 14,149 17,481
Unlisted equity securities 83,515 26,867
Unlisted equity fund 32,775 67,992
130,439 112,340

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong are stated at fair value
which is determined based on the quoted market bid price available

on the relevant exchanges.

Unlisted equity securities represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by the entities established in the PRC and outside
Hong Kong and unlisted equity fund represent investments in unlisted
equity fund established in Hong Kong. Unlisted equity securities
are stated at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the Directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably. The unlisted equity fund is measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Based on the relevant agreements,
the Group can require the relevant investment manager to redeem the
units at net asset value by giving a written redemption notice not less
than 90 business days. The fair value of the unlisted equity fund is
provided by the relevant investment managers.
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26. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit (“CGU”), including a subsidiary in
property development segment. The carrying amount of goodwill as

at 31st December, 2011 allocated is as follows:

REM
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FEx TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Property development 640 640

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, management of the
Group determines that there is no impairment of its CGU that contains
goodwill.

27. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group’s inventories of properties are situated in the PRC. All of
the inventories of properties are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Properties under development with carrying amount
of HK$784,449,000 (2010: HK$477,136,000) are expected not to be
realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

28. OTHER INVENTORIES

TEHE
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Raw materials 39,729 27,314

Work in progress 303 339

Finished goods 23,065 16,341
63,097 43,994
3% Annual Report 2011 171



\

e MR E R K

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BHE-—Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

29, BRE N TR

as]
S

& R RI RN EEER - RERREEKTE

(Al
o

30. H[E#EH A TR

HERHARRRREER 8 RNEER
T -

31. FRER R KK

FFEBRBERRRZEER  RERNEERT

==}
SR °

32 EWER HABMEER

FEUE TR

HAb B IEER

29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

Amounts due from jointly controlled entities are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

31. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

32. LOANS RECEIVABLE/OTHER STRUCTURED
DEPOSITS

2011 2010

HtaE FET T

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans receivable (a) 209,850 207,564
Other structured deposits (b) 189,225 =
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32.

LOANS RECEIVABLE/OTHER STRUCTURED
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

At 31st December, 2011,

(i) loans receivable of HK$179,630,000 (2010: Nil) bear
interests ranging from 10% to 20% per annum, are secured
by shares mortgage and repayable between September to
October 2012.

(ii) Loan receivable of HK$5,500,000 (2010: Nil) bear interest at

Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 4% per annum, is
secured by share mortgage and repayable in December 2012.

(iii

=

Loans receivable of HK$24,720,000 (2010: HK$107,541,000)
bear interests at 4.25% (2010: ranging from 3.5% to 4.25%)
per annum, are unsecured and repayable in November 2012
(2010: repayable between March 2011 to November 2012).

At 31st December, 2010, loans receivable of HK$100,023,000
bear interests ranging from 4.5% to 20% per annum, are secured
by land and shares mortgage and repaid in 2011.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group entered
into principal protected-structured deposits that are denominated
in RMB with the aggregate principal amounts of RMB150,000,000
(equivalent to HK$180,723,000) with banks with maturity periods
ranging from three months to nine months and carried interest

ranged from 5.25% to 5.80% per annum.

Interests of the structured deposits vary depending on the
movement of the Shanghai Interbank Offered Rate (“SHIBOR").
The entire structured deposits are classified as loan receivable

and measured at amortised cost.

The Group has an option for early redemption of these structured
deposits at the interest rate ranged from 5.02% to 5.40% per
annum when SHIBOR increases or decreases by 500 basis points
comparing with SHIBOR at initial recognition date.
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33.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Proceeds receivable in respect of sale of properties are settled in
accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase

agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties and rental income
from lease of properties which are payable in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit

period of 30 days to 120 days to its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of

the reporting period:

rEH

THE GROUP
2011 2010
THET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Not yet due 31,306 35,648
Within 3 months 186,877 138,322
Between 4 and 6 months 72,797 28,107
Between 7 and 12 months 21,156 11,422
Over 12 months 1,208 22,546
313,344 236,045

As at 31 December, 2011, other receivables included a deposit of
HK$217,706,000 which was paid for acquisition of properties held for
sales from a company, of which its entire interest is held by a director
of a subsidiary, and the transaction is expected to be completed in
2012.

As at 31st December, 2010, other receivables included two deposits.
One deposit of HK$390,000,000 was paid as auction tender deposit
for acquiring a parcel of land at an open auction. The Group had not
bidden the land during the auction and the deposit was refunded in
February 2011. The other deposit of HK$290,041,000 was paid for
acquisition of properties held for sales from an independent third

party and the transaction was completed in 2011.

174  Xz+sE#REEMRAE Tian An China Investments Company Limited



e MW R K

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BE=Z—F+-A=1+—HILFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

HEECERESRAIABEEE
CEMEE

RERIEER

RBE_Z—F+-A=+—HIFEERN -
REEBERITTLAARKEE - ASBESR
AR #280,000,0007T (18 E 74 345,679,000/5
TRRAEBETR  FHAA=-T—=F
—RE=ZZF—=-FhA - HEREGERHFEE
EETEBTHIE RSB Mok # - Mt - %F
HBETRESHEARAEREEEERD
HRARINESTET A - RERTERE - FTE4&
BUHEGEREEEABREREANBEREL
SREE -

BEUEFFRR_-F——F+-_A=1t—RHZA
R EET R EREEEE(AIRBENBLEXF
e — EHERFEERARRE AETH
B EHERFEAERRAEERENER -
ZEETRERURRSRESNT - StALE
RO E RS - DA RER B et R
KRR SHTRITHEERBRIEQRIRE -

RBUEERR_F—FTF+_A=1T—HZA
REBEIAARFEREE2EINEEXE )M
{EHFTE - ARBERERREBUETRORD
ABEAREARE - RGBT RON S H
EBE - M EHBERN3I%E6% °

34.FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

AEH
THE GROUP

2011 2010

THExT FHTT

HK$’000 HK$’000

Structured deposits 351,167 35,608

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group entered into
principal protected-structured deposits that are denominated in RMB
with the aggregate principal amount of RMB280,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$345,679,000) with banks with maturity dates ranging from
January 2012 to September 2012. Interest of the structured deposits
vary depending on the exchange rate movement between the United
States Dollars and the Euro. Hence, the structured deposits contain
embedded foreign exchange derivatives that may not be closely
related to the host contract. The entire structured deposits are
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss on

initial recognition.

The fair values of structured deposits as at 31st December, 2011
have been arrived at based on the valuation carried out at that date
by Norton Appraisals Limited, a firm of independent and qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group. The valuations
are principally based on discounted cash flow analysis by taking into
account the specific terms and structure of the structured deposits as
well as the risk-free rate and specific risk of the counterparty banks as
the discount rate.

The fair values of structured deposits as at 31st December, 2010
were assessed by the management of the Company by reference to
the foreign exchange rate changes. The management of the Company
considered the fair value of the structured deposits was approximately
to its principal amount as the interest range was narrow which was

only ranging from 3% to 6%.
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35.HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

EH

THE GROUP
2011 2010
FEx TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed outside

Hong Kong 12,616 16,201
Unlisted equity securities 2,403 2,403
Unlisted debt securities - 5,527
15,019 24,131

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong are stated at fair value
which is determined based on the quoted market bid price available

on the relevant exchanges.

Unlisted equity securities represent investments in unlisted equity
securities issued by the entities established in the PRC. They are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors of the Group are of the opinion that their fair values
cannot be measured reliably.

Unlisted debt securities represent investments in unlisted debt
securities issued by bank in the PRC. The fair value is provided by the
counterparty bank. The fair value was principally taken at the last bid
or traded price as at the close of business at 31st December, 2010. As
at 31st December, 2011, the unlisted debt securities are fully disposed
of during 2011.
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36.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD

(a)

FOR SALE

On 3rd December, 2007, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a related company, of which a director
of the subsidiary to be disposed of is a beneficial owner. On 30th
January, 2008, the ordinary resolution for approving the sale
and purchase agreement was duly passed by the shareholders
of the Company at extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to
the sale and purchase agreement, the completion date of sale
and purchase of the subsidiary which is engaged in golf course
operation and property development shall not be later than 7th
December, 2008. The related company requested to extend the
completion date in order to obtain financing for the payment of
the balance of the consideration. At 31st December, 2010, the
Group received a non-refundable deposit of HK$111,418,000
which had been included in trade and other payables.

On 10th June, 2011, the Group entered into a new sale
and purchase agreement. Pursuant to the new sale and
purchase agreement, the total consideration has been revised
to HK$810,000,000. A further non-refundable payment of
HK$200,000,000 was received during the year. The remaining
balance of HK$510,000,000 is scheduled to be paid by
instalments on or before September 2013.

On 1st August, 2011, the ordinary resolution for approving the
sale and purchase agreement was duly passed by the shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting. As the
transaction is not expected to be completed within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary ceased to be classified as held for sale as at 31st
December, 2011.

On 23rd January, 2009, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party. Pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement, the Group agreed to sell its entire interest
in a subsidiary which is engaged in property development for a
cash consideration of HK$11,635,000. Full consideration has
been received and included in trade and other payables. The
transaction has not been completed at the end of the reporting
date.
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36.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (cONTINUED)

() On 23rd March, 2011, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a third party. Pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement, the Group agreed to sell its 50% interest
and shareholder’s loan in a subsidiary, which is engaged in
property investment for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(equivalent to HK$555,556,000). The Group received a deposit
of HK$256,067,000 which has been included in trade and
other payables. The Group will lose of control of the disposed
subsidiary when the transaction completed and the transaction is

expected to be completed on or before September 2012.

(d) On 15th July, 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a related company, of which 50% equity
interest is held by a director of a subsidiary to be disposed
of. Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Group
agreed to sell the subsidiary which is engaged in property
development for a cash consideration of RMB235,000,000
(equivalent to HK$283,133,000). During the year ended 31st
December, 2011, the disposal was completed, resulting in a gain
of HK$118,785,000 and are included in gain on disposal of a

subsidiary as set in note 8.

The assets and liabilities attributable to the two (2010: three)
subsidiaries as disclosed in part (b) and (c) (2010: (a), (b) and (d)) in
this note have been classified as assets and liabilities held for sale
as at 31st December, 2011 and 31st December, 2010 (see below).
The operations are included in the Group’s property development,
property investment and other operations for segment reporting
purposes (see note 6). The proceeds of disposal are expected to
exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities.
Accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised on the
classification of these operations as held for sale. The Group has
already received HK$579,120,000 (2010: HK$208,747,000) as non-
refundable deposits which are included in trade and other payables.
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36.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE (cONTINUED)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal

group classified as held for sale are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Properties for development
Investment properties

Prepaid lease payments on land use

rights
Inventories of properties under
development
Other inventories
Trade and other receivables
Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale

Trade and other payables
Pre-sale deposits

Tax liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-free borrowings
Membership debenture (note 43)

Deferred tax liabilities

Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale

REE

THE GROUP
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,653 128,831
- 204,717
741,000 -
- 15,941
72,436 363,391
- 897
4,058 -
33,861 22,336
853,008 736,113
7,213 87,147
112 21,239
133 102
- 176,258
- 6,564
- 43,576
117,967 57,716
125,425 392,602
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37.TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which are included in trade and other
payables, at the end of the reporting period:

rEE
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FTET FABT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Within 3 months 184,409 229,741
Between 4 and 6 months 12,833 7,649
Between 7 and 12 months 5,656 2,648
Over 12 months 362,645 233,399
565,543 473,437
38.SHARE CAPITAL
AEERAEA T
THE GROUP
AND THE COMPANY
EERROBE HE
Number of Nominal
ordinary shares value
BT
HK$’000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each
Authorised:
At 31st December, 2010 and
31st December, 2011 2,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 31st December, 2010 and
31st December, 2011 1,506,769,491 301,354
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39.RESERVES

THE GROUP

Other reserves comprise the fair value adjustment on properties

arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries.

The remittance outside of the PRC of accumulated profits of the

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is

subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of

foreign currencies generated and retained by these companies.

Revaluation reserves of the Group

L/ES RE
BEfhi#E B
Property Investment
revaluation revaluation ot
reserve reserve Total
FHET BT FHBT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 1st January, 2010 3,614 22,838 26,452
Decrease in fair value
of available-for-sale
investments - (3,251) (3,251)
At 31st December, 2010 3,614 19,587 23,201
Decrease in fair value
of available-for-sale
investments - (14,002) (14,002)
Surplus on revaluation of
properties upon transfer to
investment properties 5,632 - 5,632
At 31st December, 2011 9,246 5,585 14,831

3% Annual Report 2011 181



e MR w R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE=Z—F+-A=1+—HIFE)
(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

39. 1R 39.RESERVES (CONTINUED)
RATH] THE COMPANY
R E K EAEE  ERYE
wE  EARE it ffE
Share Special Capital  Exchange  ZE&H&H
premium capital redemption translation  Retained @5t
reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
TAT TAT AT THL AL TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-Z$F—-F—H At 1st January, 2010 3,352,781 1,417,669 134,679 558,239 4,544,767 10,008,155
BMEMELCERZR Exchange difference arising on translation - - - 354,150 - 354,150
RERELEE Loss attributable to owners = = = - (307,396)  (307,396)
RENE Dividend recognised as distribution - - = - (105,474)  (105,474)
RZZE—ZE+-F=1+—H At31st December, 2010 3,352,781 1,417,669 134,679 912,389 4,131,917 9,949,435
BERELELZR Exchange difference arising on translation - - - 492,255 - 492,255
R B 1R Loss attributable to owners = = = - (414,567)  (414,567)
BEAE Dividend recognised as distribution = = = - (150,677)  (150,677)
RZB——HF+ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2011 3,352,781 1,417,669 134,679 1,404,644 3,566,673 9,876,446

RNZZE——EF+_-_A=1+—H ' AAF A DIk
TR 2 A 25T F3,566,673,0007% T
—E—F4F : 4,131,917,00047T) °

BAFRTHRE RS ER R Z ST MHFRER
ARIBIRIR D EEREE © st EERR G EE
iEE 2 ERBARKRERNEE EARFR
ZETNF=ANBZAEEEEER - R
BETREERSEERE - RZE—F+=A
=t+—HB ARER-_ZTME=FNBEEF
EzBaER  1814,064,0008 T(—ZT—=
F 1 14,064,000/870)WARIFE ©

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31st December, 2011 represent the retained earnings of
HK$3,566,673,000 (2010: HK$4,131,917,000).

When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region stipulated that the credit arising on the
reduction be transferred to a special capital reserve, and that reserve
was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the liabilities of
the Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were
settled. At 31st December, 2011, liabilities of the Company included
HK$14,064,000 (2010: HK$14,064,000) in respect of liabilities in
existence at 9th March, 2004.
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40.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

40. fff S5

RITER
H A B

BHEM
A

FRESFIRATEE ¢
—FR
ER—5F
(ERNERERIES
ZRME
BENEBAF
EQINIGE

WIREHIR
—FREE
BE A EKS
FRREVIRTTER
FREE

i3

iR

2

I

s

B BRERRBAER
—FREHz

T

—FRIMZEER

Bank loans
Other loans

Secured

Unsecured

Carrying amount repayable:
Within one year
More than one year, but not
exceeding two years
More than two years, but not
exceeding five years

More than five years

Carrying amount of bank loans
that are not repayable within
one year from the end of the
reporting period but contain a
repayment on demand clause

Less: Amounts due within
one year shown under

current liabilities

Amount due after one year

AEE AATH

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010
FET T FHExT T
HK$/000  HK$'000  HK$7000  HK$'000
3,307,669 2,900,981 200,000 -
34,666 - - -
3,342,335 2,900,981 200,000 -
2,833,774 2,804,392 - -
508,561 96,589 200,000 -
3,342,335 2,900,981 200,000 -
1,175,202 1,017,703 - -
642,964 883,533 - -
392,956 685,968 - -
561,060 191,636 - -
2,772,182 2,778,840 - -
570,153 122,141 200,000 -
3,342,335 2,900,981 200,000 -
(1,745,355) (1,139,844)  (200,000) -
1,596,980 1,761,137 - -
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40. Mt BEK#)

AEEEHZESERREHNE T ZEHA
(KEFHEER)WT :

EEMER

—FR

RER—%F
BTEEMR

RERME -
BETEB=F

RER=F
BB+

RERE -
BETEBAF

JINCYINTGE

FE @ ANEE 22 BERTIZBEBIRITRIZER
BEMN—EMBE DL - SEH0.95%ZE3.40%(=
T—FF  HENK0.95%E2.3%) T EFE
WH— - ZRANEAEHTEE -

40.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual

maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:

Fixed-rate borrowings:

Within one year

In more than one year but not
more than two years

In more than two years but not
more than three years

In more than three years but not
more than four years

In more than four years but not
more than five years

In more than five years

2011 2010
FRET THIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
936,752 735,816
485,776 809,629
81,523 468,847
92,246 28,235
169,812 29,412
505,745 123,530
2,271,854 2,195,469

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings which carry

interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a certain

percentage that ranging from 0.95% to 3.40% (2010: ranging from

0.95% to 2.3%). Interest is repriced every one, three and six months.
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40. Mt B R &)

AEEBRZERMER(AEHE T ZH=R)E
Ep Ul

il

JE Al R

=

o mE B

ey
o -

AEBEMSERZEEER T IIE¥E

—g——%
BITREMER

RAEE AEBESZFEREE
1,390,389,000/8 7T * A 518,130,000/ 7T &
ENRRBEE  WEEBHRATISHNEGE - I
RZE——FE2-T=—FHH - FEFHED
ARAREEU B R L EFT -

40.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2011 2010

Effective interest rate:
2.88% to 10.00%
1.07% to 5.94%

4.50% to 10.00%
1.17% to 7.05%

Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

BT

AR#  Hong Kong st

Renminbi dollars Total

FAT FAT FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2011

Bank and other loans 2,480,199 862,136 3,342,335
2010

Bank and other loans 2,416,201 484,780 2,900,981

During the year, the Group obtained new loans in the amount of
HK$1,390,389,000 of which HK$518,130,000 was included under
current liabilities. The loans bear interest at market rates and will be
matured from 2012 to 2021. The proceeds were used to finance the
acquisitions of properties and operating activities of the Group.
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41.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS

Advances from non-controlling
shareholders

Amounts due to jointly controlled
entities

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Carrying amount repayable:
On demand or within one year

shown under current liabilities

AK%E
THE GROUP
2011 2010
FHET AT
HK$’000 HK$"000

ZN|
THE COMPANY
2011 2010

FTERT TAT
HK$’000  HK$'000

3,494 5,284 - _
6,070 3,182 - -
25,073 18,186 - -
- - 299,583 55,184
34,637 26,652 299,583 55,184
34,637 26,652 299,583 55,184
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N.B2EER =)

AEE R B ERZREER T EEFHE

S

REMER

REBREER  RERREERTHE -
42. —HZHF ZIELEEEWA

RZZFZEZFRAZ+H  AEEE—RH
FPREE—EREMFEEN —HAA=TF2
HEW=E  EpmzArRERNEBEREZ
WEYENEIEBH197,933,00075 7T © AR
BRENGAEBRA F2EXEHERS - M
BT FHEBESAINEERERS - RE
ETTRF+-A=T—HILFERN &%
Bz B HFIEETIER - AAEBAEZE
BYEREEE BE5] £67,308,000/8 7T * M
HRTFHEAPENSFEEXHSEERD -
RhERHE  BRLBAANERRECEEER
130,625,000 7T 0 48 & — R iH = 2 REHE
WA - RSB ZHAEFHTEFUE
AT ABERERBASBA - RZZ——F
TZA=1+—8  BR—FRTABRZ—H
M2 BEHE S WA %8,879,000/8 L (=ZF —
T4 : 8,461,000 7T) EBIEEE 5 R EME
SFERFRA ©

41.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

BT

AE®¥  Hong Kong st

Renminbi dollars Total

FA&T FAT FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2011

Interest-free borrowings 13,476 21,161 34,637
2010

Interest-free borrowings 5,329 21,323 26,652

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

42.DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A TENANT

On 26th May, 2002, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement
with a tenant in respect of leasing of an investment property for a
period of 20 years. Pursuant to the agreement, the tenant agreed to
bear the costs of fitting out works of the investment property at an
agreed amount of HK$197,933,000 payable on behalf of the Group
in lieu of paying operating lease rental to the Group for a period of 6
years, and paying a monthly operating lease rental over the remaining
lease period. During the year ended 31st December, 2005, the Group
revised the terms of the lease and determined with the tenant that the
costs of fitting out works of the investment property to be borne by the
Group would be revised to HK$67,308,000 and the annual operating
rental payable by the tenant for the remaining period would be
reduced. Taking consideration of the substance of the arrangements,
the reduction of costs of fitting out works to be borne by the Group
of HK$130,625,000 was reclassified as deferred rental income from
a tenant and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
straight-line basis over the remaining lease term of 17 years. At 31st
December, 2011, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$8,879,000 (2010: HK$8,461,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.
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43.BEESH

SREFASAARER  HRFEFNEER
ABR_THFRE  TARRNEMNEER
REIGABERIE KA

A

18

==
=
=

ile)3

R-_E—ZTF+_A=+—H F£EF
43,576,000 B TR D EAGEEEZHBEA

& o
44. EFEFIE

A B RN BEERUAR
MEERASHIT :

43. MEMBERSHIP DEBENTURE

Membership debenture represent golf guarantee fees which are
refundable to members twenty years after joining the golf club or can
be used by members to set off against the cost of purchasing villas at

the golf course.

At 31st December, 2010, membership debenture amounting to
HK$43,576,000 was reclassified as liabilities associated with assets

classified as held for sale.

44.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets

recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
RRAEE EHEA
iU NERNZ
(et NEHER
Adjustments Elimination
toconformto  RAEKER of inter-
3N the Group's ZBRH company
Business Bfi¥%  accounting  Withholding  charges in
combinations  Revaluation policies tax on properties
(Hita) of (##b)  undistributed (Hitc) BEEE Afts Azt
(Notea)  properties (Note b) earnings (Notec)  Tax losses Others Total
TAT TET TAL TAL TAT TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LS THE GROUP
RZZ-F5-f—-H At 1st January, 2010 948,244 456,652 (43,363) 23,097 (26,751) (4,200) 210 1,353,889
HE % Exchange adjustments 1,819 18,686 (1,969) - - (148) - 18,388
RERERE (BE) (Credit) charge to income
ks for the year (12,297) 109,725 (71,153) 15,521 - - (94) 41,702
PERHE Reclassified as held for sale - - 836 - - = - 836
W=ZE—FE+-F=+—H At31st December, 2010 937,766 585,003 (115,649) 38,618 (26,751) (4,348) 116 1,414,815
I i A Exchange adjustments 2,818 29,897 (2,419) - - (215) - 30,081
REREKE (BE) (Credit) charge to income
nk for the year (1,079) 75,395 28,287 12,252 - - (83) 114,772
PEAGE Reclassified as held for sale 63,204 (117,966) (5,489) - - - - (60,251)
WZT——F+ZF=F—H At31st December, 2011 1,002,709 572,389 (95,270) 50,870 (26,751) (4,563) 33 1,499,417
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EERIE 2)
Hist

@ EBAMBAL Té?&’ﬁ %f A EAEEY
ﬁ%ﬁFiZEDHETEA‘Ei%RI °

b) EEIEETHEARRZRAEEREBEAR
T EBERKAEAME 2 BIRE ERRAE FH
ﬁ%ﬁgi/z&uuﬁvﬁi%RIEE/a

() EEEFAAMBRARNERTYE BRIY
EEERREMEXRAZ ARIBERMESLZ
EDHETEA%E%RIAE&% °

ETEERREENBERERSMBARNEK
ZTFABRMELEE - U TRELERIRARA
Ve SRS SR EL DT

EREHIARE
EIETRIRE &

44 .DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
the fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
upon acquisition of subsidiaries.

This mainly represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising
from the adjustments to management accounts of certain subsidiaries to
conform to the Group’s policies of revenue recognition and capitalisation
of property development cost.

This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
the elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of
properties under development, inventories of completed properties and
investment properties of subsidiaries.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of

financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been

offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

financial reporting purposes:

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 1,574,344 1,452,374
Deferred tax assets (74,927) (37,559)
1,499,417 1,414,815
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44 RERLIE ()

RIEBRR AREHEE AT EER KRN 2
RE)F I TE 548 509,395,000 T (—E—=F
& 1 376,020,000/ 70) o W EEIEH 2
18,252,000/ 7L ( =T —Z4F : 17,392,000/5
TL)ERRAELERIBEEE - AREETEANR
Hom A - I EREER T 2 B IE/E518491,143,000
BIL(ZZE—ZF 358,628,000/ T ) FERIEIE
MIBEE - AERNIBEBEEEFE /IR _Z—h
AR #0212 2 8538438,550,000/8 7T (=
T —Z4F 1 320,408,000/ 7T)  EAEIER LA
MR EARER o

RMEBR AEEEMAI TR OhER
#£579,569,00078 70 (=ZF —Z4F : 524,230,000
PETT) o SRR RS KA BE A FE AR Aot i A1) 4K 8
ABAZAIMRERER - RS EWER L
AMBEREZZERELERIEEE °

4. FTEFRERS

RNEBEE-_ZT-—ZTFE+_A=+—"BIFERN
AEBH-—BERESARSEAAEE
139,765,000 7t (18 & A A K # 118,800,000
TR EEAEREZINTAEE - XEER
S E) 2 W (VAR SR B R (G 2 RE A A
2w MBI ERER W) R E BN
KNMEFENA °

44 .DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$509,395,000 (2010: HK$376,020,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$18,252,000 (2010: HK$17,392,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$491,143,000 (2010: HK$358,628,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of HK$438,550,000 (2010: HK$320,408,000) that will gradually
expire until 2016. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$579,569,000 (2010: HK$524,230,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

45.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2010, a jointly controlled entity
of the Group distributed properties with fair value of HK$139,765,000
(equivalent to RMB118,800,000) as dividend paid to the Group. The
Group included the properties received (net of unrealised gain on
the properties attributable to the Group’s interest in jointly controlled
entity) in inventories of properties in the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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46. & Z 5
REBR/HAR

RBEHR  ETREVERZ2EHBL -+
FoRAEANMEAZMENZE 2 BiEE
YR HEEBTERERARTSEENENE
S - ARAZEETHZWA (S HERIZETR)
ZRELLERER  BRFZHETORNETE
B HtREMEZHERH -2 TFRAE
BENYBLE TEEABHEBEE - ~EERK
ETAEE EXMET RO EBEHESIT

—F2ZR
RE_FEFAF(BEEEMF)
NhF &

N

R R AU B B AT 77 & 5 4
kAL A37,2150008 T (ZE—Z4F ¢
25,118,000787T) ©

46.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of 20 years from the date of commencement
of operation of a lessee that occupies the properties, with a renewal
priority at the end of the lease at the open market value. The rentals
are calculated at a certain percentage of the revenue (net of value
added tax) of the lessee, with a minimum annual rental. Other
investment properties were leased out for periods ranging from 1
to 10 years and the majority of the leases did not have any renewal
priorities given to the lessees. The Group had contracted with tenants
for the following future minimum lease payments:

rEE

THE GROUP
2011 2010
THET FHTT
HK$’000 HK$’000
Within one year 253,596 197,717
In the second to fifth years inclusive 368,339 310,817
After five years 175,097 220,426
797,032 728,960

Contingent rents which linked to the lessee’s turnover recognised
in income for the period amounted to HK$37,215,000 (2010:
HK$25,118,000).
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46. HEZHE(#)
AEBAEAHERL

RERR - NEEAGHBSZA TR BRE
TRBENEXEEXNERYE - BERR
RBZARREERSE

R—F2ZA
RE_FEEHF(BREEMF)
RAFZ&

LBEHEBANEASEERE THAEY
% BEARBZENES - BOKLHRTHHE
ERR—E—1F HETE-

47. 8 ARG

46.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises and plant and equipment which
fall due as follows:

2011 2010

THERT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

Within one year 2,713 3,374
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4,388 7,598
After five years 4,362 9,085
11,463 20,057

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office properties and plant and equipment. Leases
are negotiated for a term ranging from one to twenty years at fixed

rentals.

47.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

AEHE AAT
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010

T TR FERT T
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

ERNEG 2 BT Capital expenditure in respect of

R contracted commitments for:
—BEREAZ T — acquisition of land use

EAE rights in the PRC 380,706 1,202,328 - -
—BEWE  BEX — acquisition of property, plant

B and equipment 29,081 2,075 - -
—EERHNE — acquisition of available-for-sale

=& investment 111,989 128,310 - -

—EABRAT MR - capital contribution to a jointly

EH A E controlled entity

246,914 - - _
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48. B EE 48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) ARBEAEFER - ZE——FR-_FT—F
F+-_A=1+—BZEFRWOT :

(@) At 31st December, 2011 and 2010, the Group and the Company
had guarantees as follows:

REHE ARQH
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
2011 2010 2011 2010
TR FET TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
METHEBEEZ Guarantees given to banks in respect
RIBERMIRTT of mortgage loans granted to
EHHELR property purchasers 165,617 209,924 - =
s THRA K Guarantees given to banks in respect
EBAZRT of banking facilities granted and
EEMRITIEL R utilised by:
—MEBRAH — subsidiaries - — 2,259,521 1,649,540
— AN ERE — available-for-sale investments 12,440 - - -
b)) BH—FERZHATHAEMBEEmMES (b)) A portion of a property for development that is held by a jointly

5,424,000/ TR E D R YIE ERE M
WRAETTRE T AL - %A L RE
REFAZ TSR TR MWERZ -
B T ok £ 0 5 PR AR 2 i ER S 1R A (A
HESBRTEEN  BE— ¥ ITHERE
SER SR IEFERIEE -

AT HERZEHIA R REARE A228,644,000
BITHFERMENEERETERE T
R A B ARSI ¢ aE L FE R
NAMES THIFREA D HAZEEEE &R
T—EHEEIMIEREMIBEE NEEE
B - BRSO EREIBMNEERE -

RN - BREEA276,202,000/8 7T 2 FFEE
MENBRERRELER - ATEEH
WEANER  NEBEFHEEZGER
VIR BB R R 5 KT B A Rl i
PR ARS B REBERZME -

controlled entity with carrying value of HK$5,424,000 is under
idle land investigation by the local authority. The piece of land
owned by the jointly controlled entity was entitled for several
land use right certificates. The development of more than half of
the piece of land was either completed or under development,
except for a portion of the land with 2 land use right certificates
for the remaining development of the whole project.

The development progress of properties for development of
several jointly controlled entities with carrying value of totally
HK$228,644,000 cannot wholly fulfill building covenants under
land grant contracts. The whole pieces of land of these jointly
controlled entities are under phased construction stage and
portion of them are either completed or under development,
except for a portion of vacant land for the remaining development

of the whole project.

Moreover, further development of another property
for development of the Group with carrying value of
HK$276,202,000 has been overdue. In order to comply with the
requirements of local authorities, the Group has made application
to restructure the ownership of that property for development
and new subsidiaries will be established to hold and develop that

property.
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48.HEEBE©)
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T2 EREMECREAREE - THHER
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H1& - ST ERE{E A19,507,00078 7T IR M
ERIFE 2 A IEA SR o

—EZnHEHEE—BHBAR - EX
REAEFANARNEEZEREERD
31,272,000/ 7T ° BLIE(READAEITH -
EXREEERBEEER HUHBREE
TR RR AL BRE Z &K ERBFE AR
SENP BT ES AL -

48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Further, a land site included in investment property of the Group
with carrying value of HK$318,514,000 had been identified as
idle land by the local authority. The Group has invited another
investor to develop this land site jointly. The construction works

for the first phase of development is in progress.

The Group is currently working diligently to prevent the possible
classification as idle land, including negotiating the feasibility of
development plans with local authorities. Based on legal advices,
the Group has assessed the issue and considers that the idle land

confiscation may not materialise.

A property purchaser who previously purchased a property in
Shenzhen initiated legal proceedings against a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company to rescind the sale contracts and claim
for total sales proceeds paid of HK$142,010,000 together with
compensation. Inventories of completed properties with carrying
amount of HK$46,295,000 were held in the custody of the court.
In 2007 and 2008, conditional settlement agreements had reached
between the parties whereby the property purchaser agreed to
settle the case on condition that the Group has to arrange the
issue of ownership certificates of the subject properties under
the name of the property purchaser. In March 2010 and January
2011, portions of the properties held in custody of the court with
total carrying amount of HK$26,788,000 were released to the
Group as a result of the issue of ownership certificates of part of
the subject properties to the property purchaser. It is expected
that the remaining properties held in custody of the court with
carrying amount of HK$19,507,000 will be released to the Group
following the issue of ownership certificates of the remaining

subject properties under the name of the property purchaser.

A contractor has applied for arbitration against a subsidiary
claiming for outstanding construction costs and compensation of
totally HK$31,272,000 which are being disputed. The arbitration
is still in progress, but based on legal opinions, the Group has
assessed the claim and considers that the final outcome of the
claim will not have material effect on the financial position of the
Group.
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48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

A property purchaser initiate legal proceeding against a subsidiary
claiming for total compensation of HK$2,399,000 for the late issue
of title deed and the decrease in area of that property including
private garden and basement. The case is under trial by the court
in the PRC. The Group has assessed the claims and obtained legal
advice, and considers that it is too early to assess the possible
liability at this stage.

In 1998, the Company acquired a subsidiary that held a land site
in the PRC with the consideration partially satisfied by disposing
of its interest in a jointly controlled entity to the vendor. A
person who claimed to be the beneficial owner of the vendor
has initiated legal proceeding against the Company, for which
proceedings a writ was received by the Company in March 2008,
claiming the transfer of the interest in the jointly controlled
entity and losses in Renminbi of HK$23,506,000 equivalent plus
interest and other costs on the grounds that the Company had not
effectively transferred the legal title to the interest in that jointly
controlled entity to the vendor. The court judgment made in July
2009 was held in favour of the Company and the plaintiff had
appealed. In November 2010, The Higher Court had ordered
retrial to the case. The case is under trial by the court in the PRC.
The Group has assessed the claim and obtained legal advice,
and considers that the final outcome of the claim will not have

material effect on the financial position of the Group.

A former material supplier of cement business has initiated
legal proceeding against subsidiaries of the Company claiming
for outstanding construction and material supply costs and
compensation of HK$8,617,000 which are being disputed. The
court judgment was held in favour of the former material supplier.
The defendants had appealed and the Higher Court had ordered
retrial to the case. A total of HK$4,454,000 was recognised as
trade payable and other payable in relation to these claims. The
Group has assessed the claims and obtained legal advice, and
considers that no further provision was required in relation to the

potential compensation payable.
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49.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which is
registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance
in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees
who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees
joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join
the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$20,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$20,000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. During the year ended 31st
December, 2010 and 31st December, 2011, there was no forfeited
contributions used to set off contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to

the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31st December, 2011, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$24,655,000
(2010: HK$22,931,000).
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50.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties

as follows:

(@) Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited
(“SHK”) and its subsidiaries
(Note i)

— Insurance paid

— Rental income

— Loan arrangement fee
income

— Interest income

— Underwriting commission
and disbursements

— Amounts payable

— Loan receivable (Note ii)

— Loan interest receivable

(b) Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited
(“APL”) and its subsidiaries
and its ultimate holding
company and subsidiaries of
its ultimate holding company
(Note i)

— Rent, property management
and air-conditioning fees
paid

— Management fee

— Interest expenses

— Sundry expenses

— Amounts payable

— Loan payable (Note iii)

(c) Non-controlling shareholders of
the Group's subsidiary
— Management fee
— Interest expenses
— Sundry expenses

(d) A partnership of which a Non-
Executive Director of the
Company is a partner
— Legal and professional fees

(e) Key management personnel
compensation
— Salaries and other short-
term benefits
— Post-employment costs

(f) A company which is
significantly influenced by
an individual who is a close
family member of a Non-
Executive Director of the
Company
— Interest income

(g) Jointly controlled entities
— Dividend income (Note iv)
— Interest income

2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,367 2,922
- 986
2,000 934
2,026 217
4,155 -
6,224 2,758
24,691 47,059
29 61
2,644 2,465
16,200 14,140
429 -
329 1,088
4,377 4,960
23,056 -
81 1,399

701 -

- 57
3,605 2,174
32,503 23,546
729 595

- 10,800
351,465 249,270
- 7,641
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50.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (cONTINUED)

Certain key management personnel of the Group received
remuneration from a company, or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such
company, which has significant beneficial interests in the Company.
Such company provided management services to the Group and
charged the Group a fee, which has been included in management
fee as disclosed in part (b) of this note, for services provided by those
personnel as well as others who were not key management personnel

of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$11,550,000 (2010: HK$7,609,000).

Notes:

(i)  On 19th April, 2010, SHK entered into an acquisition agreement with its
parent company, APL, whereby SHK disposed of 38.06% of the total issued
share capital of the Company which represents the entire interest of SHK
in the Company. Upon completion on 28th June, 2010, APL became a
major shareholder with significant influence over the Company. SHK is a
subsidiary of APL as at 31st December, 2011 and 2010.

(ii) The loan receivable bears interest at 4.25% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in November 2012.

(iii) The loan payable bears interest at 4.5% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in July 2012.

(iv) Of the HK$351,465,000 dividend declared by the jointly controlled
entities during the year, the Group received HK$54,067,000 in the current
year. The remaining balance is expected to be received within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.
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51.PLEDGED ASSETS
At 31st December, 2011,

(@) Bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, properties for
development, properties under development, inventories of
completed properties, investment properties and interest in
a subsidiary of certain subsidiaries with carrying values of
HK$8,802,000 (2010: HK$241,433,000), HK$3 10,004,000 (2010:
HK$254,904,000), HK$613,732,000 (2010: HK$600,552,000),
HK$349,550,000 (2010: HK$1,234,304,000), HK$893,855,000
(2010: HK$374,370,000), HK$5,920,105,000 (2010:
HK$5,268,151,000) and HK$115,014,000 (2010: HK$ Nil)
respectively were pledged to banks for banking facilities granted
to the Group.

(b) Properties for development (included in assets classified as
held for sale as at 31st December, 2010) with carrying value of
HK$1,864,000 (2010: HK$1,792,000) were pledged against other

loans.

(c) Bank deposits and property, plant and equipment with
carrying value of HK$43,210,000 (2010: HK$45,882,000) and
HK$115,341,000 (2010: HK$115,690,000) respectively were
pledged against the bills payable.

(d) Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$910,000 (2010:
HK$867,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

(e) Certain assets of the Group are under the custody of courts, as
described in note 48(c).

At 31st December, 2010, held-for-trading investments with carrying

value of HK$4,987,000 were pledged to bank for banking facility
granted to the Group.
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(a)
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52.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

The shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary Allied Cement Holdings
Limited (“ACHL”) were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 18th January, 2012. 165,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each of ACHL were allotted and issued at price of
HK$1.00 by way of placing and public offer (“Listing”). As a
result, the Group’s shareholding interest in ACHL decreased to
75%. After the Listing, all amounts due to the Group by ACHL
and it subsidiaries (“ACHL Group”) with outstanding amount of
totally HK$136,129,000 as at 31st December, 2011 were fully
repaid in January 2012 and guarantees given from the Company
to secure bank loans of the ACHL Group with outstanding amount
of HK$85,582,000 as at 31st December, 2011 were released in
January 2012.

On 13th February, 2012, a subsidiary of ACHL in the PRC
entered into agreements with a beneficial owner of its minority
shareholder for the purpose of setting up the joint venture
company in the PRC to operate and manage the new cement
production facilities in Shanghai, the PRC after the relevant
government approvals being obtained. Upon establishment, the
joint venture company will be held as to 50% by each party.
The estimated total investment of the joint venture company will
amount to approximately HK$2,444.4 million and the registered
capital will be approximately HK$987.7 million. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcements and circulars of
the Company and ACHL dated 15th February, 2012 and 16th
March, 2012 respectively.
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53. T EMB D AIRFE

SREEHAIN EZZMBRRHEET LT
AR WEFTBERELLENR  FHW

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are

operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated

N are as follows:
ERTEBRRAEE
ERITAE HEMER A
EERRA Proportion of nominal value of issued
CHRFEMER  ordinary share capital/registered capital
Paid up issued AT
ordinary share MEAREE FEEEMN
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
= PNGIES registered Company*/ to the TEEK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
All - Shanghai Inc.™ US$15,376,500 83.33 83.33 83.33 83.33 K ETRR
Investment holding
All — cement Limited™ US$1 100 100 100 100 HEER
Investment holding
e ACREBRERAR"Y HK$4,950,000 100 - 100 - RERR
Allied Cement Holdings Limited" Investment holding
ItRESERABAER LAY US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 MERREEKE
Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Apartment Property development
Co., Ltd." and investment
CBIRE BB AR HK$151,031,629 99,97  99.97 9997 9997 ALK
CBI Investment Limited Investment holding
RERLZEHERZEFRARFY RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MIEERE
Changchun Tian An Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd."
EMRLHHERAR AR US$2,650,000 100 100 100 100  MEERER
Changzhou Tian An City Development Property development
Co., Ltd.""
BMALZESERERAR" US$8,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEERREE

Changzhou Tian An Landmark
Co., Ltd."

#3)  Annual Report 2011

Property development
and investment
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53. X EMf B A REE 2

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ERITHRE
EERRE
EHREMER

Paid up issued

(CONTINUED)

ERTEERRAHEE
EMERZ LA
Proportion of nominal value of issued
ordinary share capital/registered capital

AT

ordinary share ME D REE FEBEENL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
HEATRE registered Company*/ to the TEXK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

FMNRLTREHEZRBRAR" US$32,300,000 100 100 100 100 MEZE
Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng Property development

Real Estate Development Company

Limited®
E3 21 YN Us$1 100 100 100 100 #EBRE
Cheerchoice Limited” * " Property investment
EREEARDA HK$200 100* 100* 100 100 BEZEWR
Chinaland Management Limited Investment holding
BNMFER(LB)BRAR" US$620,000 100 100 100 100 MEEBREAER
Cornell Properties Services (Shanghai) Property management

Co., Ltd.® and Investment

holding

REBERLZFEWEREERAA" US$6,800,000 60 60 60 60 MEEE
Dalian Tian An Property Development Property development

Co., Ltd."
RERZBEFEAEER LAY US§$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERREEKE
Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd." Property development

and investment

EIESERAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 #XREE
Grandview Square Limited"” Property investment
ETREARAF" HK$2 100 100 100 100  #MFEKE

Grand Kings Limited”
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53. X EMf B A RFHBE 2 53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BRTEBERRAEE
BRITHR &R
EERRA Proportion of nominal value of issued

EHREMER

ordinary share capital/registered capital

Paid up issued KAT*

ordinary share MEQREE FEEEN

capital/Paid up held by the attributable
MEARERE registered Company*/ to the TEER
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities

2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
Grand Rise Investments Limited™ US$1 100 100 100 100  HEER
Investment holding
EIRRARAR" HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 MELE
GRP VI Limited" Property investment
BEmRKHGHERAR AR HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEBREERE
Huiyang Danshui Xinyangcheng Property development
Construction Company Limited"” and investment
EBEERERAT HK$550,756,798 68.40  68.40  68.40  68.40 REER
Jack Rock Development Limited Investment holding
FRERERAA HK$2 100 100 100 100 AR
Join View Development Limited Money lending services
Kylie Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100 REREARE
Provision of nominee
services
MRABEXERAR" US$13,500,000 100 100 100 100 YMEFRREE
Nanjing Tiandu Industry Co., Ltd." Property development
and investment
BMRREEFRERAF" US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100  MEER
Nanjing Tianning Real Estate Co., Ltd." Property development
EBRRREBRAEERAFY RMB71,333,350 100 100 100 100 WEBRE
Nantong Tian An Cyberpark Property development
Development Company Limited"

AFAEMN RRAAZBERAF" US$3,000,000 100 100 6840 6840 EEEBAALS

Pacific (Fuzhou) Golf Club Ltd.™ Golf course operation
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53. T BB A REE 2

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

ERAZERRAEE
ERITAR EMER
EERRA Proportion of nominal value of issued
EMEFEMER  ordinary share capital/registered capital

Paid up issued KRR
ordinary share HE QR FEEENL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
MBATRE registered Company*/ to the TEER
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % Y%
WIREEA ERAKTRAR AR US$14,360,000 100 100 100 100  AEREENEMAF
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Manufacturing and sales
Limited™ of cement and clinker
R EBACORERARAAY US$1,000,000 100 100 100 100 HEERHERD
Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Manufacturing and sales
Co., Ltd." of slag
LERE KRR AR US$24,000,000 60 60 50 50  BEKRMAE
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd." Trading of cement and
clinker
LEICREERRAF HK$10,000,000 100 100 100 100 REER
Shanghai Allied Cement Holdings Investment holding
Limited
EEsEEERR AR RMB275,933,200 100 100 100 100 MEBERIEE
Shanghai Greentree | Company Ltd." Property development
and investment
Ly EELAR AR RMB266,315,300 100 100 100 100  MEFRRRE
Shanghai Greentree Il Company Ltd.™ Property development
and investment
begmsLaRAT RMB260,000,000 100 100 100 100 #ERE

Shanghai Haibo Real Estate Limited"

Property investment
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53. T EM B A REE 2

ERTHE
EERRE
CAREMER

Paid up issued

ERTEERRAHEE
EMERZ A
Proportion of nominal value of issued
ordinary share capital/registered capital

AT

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

ordinary share ME A REE rEEESL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
HEARRE registered Company*/ to the TEXK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

LEEEEMELSLER AT RMB37,000,000 100 100 100 100 #FERE
Shanghai Haiguang Real Estate Holdings Property investment

Limited"
bEsnEEsE A" RMB140,000,000 100 100 100 100 KA
Shanghai Haisen Real Estate Limited" Property investment
I =l NI RMB66,000,000 100 100 100 100 KA
Shanghai Haiyi Real Estate Limited™ Property investment
LERKLBHELHAR A E" US$36,240,000 100 100 100 100 WMERER
Shanghai Sheshan Country Club Property development

Company Limited"”
LBERZRLREERATY US$28,000,000 98 98 98 98  MEFEREE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Building Co., Property development

Ltd." and investment
ERRZMEEEERAR"Y RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 9 WEERKRKRE
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Co., Ltd." Property development

and investment
FEREEMERRAR"Y RMB50,000,000 80 80 80 80 MEBRIERE
Shanghai Tianyang Real Estate Co., Ltd."” Property development
and investment

RmEERRAA HK$10 100 100 100 100 BAER

Sky Full Enterprises Limited
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53.EEM B ARFEE®) 53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BRTLERRAEE
BRITHME SEMEAR > L Bl

EERRA Proportion of nominal value of issued
EMEFEMER  ordinary share capital/registered capital

Paid up issued RAF*
ordinary share HE D REE FEBEENL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
HEATRE registered Company*/ to the TEXK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
Strait Investments (Shanghai) Limited™ US$47,500,000 99.99 99.99 99.99 99.99 BB
Investment holding

HERBRAR" US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100  HEFRRRELR

Sun Hai Tung Co., Ltd." Property development
and Investment
holding

FRE(REDARAR" HK$2,000,000 100* 100* 100 100 XA

Sun Hung Kai (China) Limited" Property investment

TARERBERAR HK$2 100 100 100 100 REWERS

T.A. Secretarial Services Limited Provision of secretarial
services

Tanya Nominees Limited HK$2 100 100 100 100 RERE AR

Provision of nominee

services

ALFEEFERAF HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 REZEBRRESER

Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and
securities dealing

RRPEEEFHERERRAA HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 HREER

Tian An China Hotel and Property Investment holding

Investments Company Limited
AR (HL)ERBRAF] HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 REER
Tian An Pearl River Company Limited Investment holding
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53. T EM B A REE 2

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ERTHE
EERRE
CAREMER

(CONTINUED)

ERTEERRAHEE
EMERZ A

Proportion of nominal value of issued
ordinary share capital/registered capital

Paid up issued KRR
ordinary share ME A REE rEEESL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
HEARRE registered Company*/ to the TEXK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %
AR(EB)REFRAR(TRZ EE])Y  US$30,000,000 100 100" 100 100 WMREREEER
Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Co., Ltd. REZR
(“TASH")™ Property development
and investment and
investment holding
A (RINEBEZERERATY HK$150,000,000 100 100 100 100 b ES Y
Tian An (Shenzhen) Enterprise Property development
Development Ltd."
AERERIDARAR" HK$112,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEFRMBLEER
Tian An Investments (Shenzhen) Property development
Co., Ltd.® and investment
(Fifl - RZEBZXBRORINDABRAF) holding
(Formerly known: Tian An Realty &
Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.)
EHRREOBRERBRBERAFT"Y  RMB197,174,341 100 100 100 100 MEZE
Tianan Intelligent Park Sensory Property development
Technology (Wuxi) Co., Ltd"
AEEE(RE)EHERERR AT US$19,069,704 100 100 68.40 68.40 MIEERE
Tianan Summit (Fujian) Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd."
REXRLZZHHFERAZEAR AR RMB550,000,000 100 100 100 100 e

Tianjin Tian An Science Parks
Development Limited™”

Property development
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53. X EMf B A REE 2

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ERITHRE
EERRE
EHREMER

Paid up issued

(CONTINUED)

ERTEERRAHEE
EMERZ LA
Proportion of nominal value of issued
ordinary share capital/registered capital

AT

ordinary share ME D REE FEBEENL
capital/Paid up held by the attributable
HEATRE registered Company*/ to the TEXK
Name of subsidiary capital subsidiaries Group Principal activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
% % % %

BEHREXR(LE)BRAR" US$16,000,000 100 100 100 100  MEHR
Value Harvest Real Estate (Shanghai) Co., Property development

Ltd.(ii)
RERBEHERBRRAR" RMB10,000,000 90 90 90 90 MERERE
Wuhan Changfu Property Development Property development

Co., Ltd."
BEHLLERARAAY US$5,000,000 95 95 95 95 MERER
Wauxi Redhill Properties Co., Ltd™ Property development
BHREEFRERAF" US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 WEERE
Wauxi Tianxin Properties Co., Ltd." Property development
EESRRERBRAR" US$12,000,000 88 88  87.97 8797 WEERRKESMK
Zhao Qing Golf and Development Co., Bi5

Ltd." Property development

and golf course
operation

REQEBERMAEREFAERE RMB226,348,222 100 100 100 100 MEERER

BRARY Property development
LEBREREHEERARY US$50,000,000 100 100 99.99  99.99 YEHERE

Property development

LEREMERERER AR RMB46,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERER
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53. T EMf B A BB 2

(ii) FEFR B AR S AR 2B 1 o
(i) FERBAERBES ML -

(ivy RAREESBRL LB60%EZ M T2
40% BB — B A T=EA

(v) ERSESEMKIL -

AERSIEETNEEERAEAEE 2 EEHK
BEREATEZMBAR -EFERA/IIL
HiHB AR ZHBEE<SEBRIIE -

BEAFREIRBEMAMER R RBRERZ

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)  Operating principally in the PRC.

(ii) Established and operating principally in the PRC.
(iii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(iv) The 60% interest in TASH is held directly by the Company and the
remaining 40% is held by a subsidiary.

(v) Incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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54. T BEH[EEHI A BB 54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

A

oy

ARIREEIR - NEBR TIIXLFEIEHAT#A At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
m o BRERARBIN  BEAREZEMEHE  following jointly controlled entities which are corporate joint ventures
B AR ST JG AR B 4 established in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
AR B AL R
FTEEEME BEA LB
HEEHQRERE Principal place Proportion of registered  EE¥
Name of jointly controlled entity of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2011 2010
% %
ERREARBEERAF] £ 40? 40" MERE
Beijing Tian An Building Company Limited Beijing Property investment
EMNHEBHEMNEERER A L 507 50 MEBERRIRE
Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Panyu Property development
Park Development Co., Ltd. and investment
FMRZHEREXFR AT =M 50® 50" MEBRRIRE
Changzhou Property development

and investment

ERRREBHAR AR BF 50% 50 MEEE

Chongqing Property development
REMRRHERAR AR R 39%® 39" WEER

Dongguan Property development
FEILTRZ BB R A L 45® 45" MEERLKE

Foshan Property development

and investment

IRRZEIBEHEREGR AT pa -3 50% 50" PIEERE
Jiangyin Property development
RINRLMEEEBRAT ol 50 50 WMEXEEMREER
Shenzhen Property management

and investment holding
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(For the year ended 31st December, 2011)

54. T EHEEFHI A RFEE 2

54.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

7 £ B P4 = 1
FEEEME BEALH
HEZFATERE Principal place Proportion of registered ~ FE¥
Name of jointly controlled entity of operation capital held by the Group  Principal activities
2011 2010
% %
AYImEEE R L BB AR AR Shenzhen 50% 50" MEBERRIRE
wIYI Property development
and investment
RINRLEEREERARAR Shenzhen 50 50 WE#ER
Y Property development
AEBHH(RE)BRAF Shenzhen 50 50 WMEBRIRENR
ol REER
Property development
and investment and
investment holding
RERZHEHER AR Tianjin 50® 507 IR
RE Property development

Hit -

iy BEAEEZMANSRGHE AEEREME
BELZ A B 2T RS EBER A K RZE
T -

(i) ZAR R FHHEREGQR (R BB (EE)
BRAR)ZHBAR -

Notes:
(i) Based on the contractual agreements between the venturers, the Group
and other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating

policies of the company.

(i) The company is a subsidiary of a jointly controlled entity, X% £ifif#i (&
E)BRAF.
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2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
TR TR TR TAT TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
RESULTS
Revenue 863,188 473,329 1,083,528 1,411,986 1,986,707
Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 702,976 711,087 1,067,379 1,432,455 868,938
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets 14,846,012 14,936,023 18,985,033 20,573,555 23,090,055
Total liabilities 5,582,904 4,797,702 7,599,516 7,207,392 8,342,712
Non-controlling interests 390,549 291,234 501,201 773,574 791,589
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 8,872,559 9,847,087 10,884,316 12,592,589 13,955,754
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
PER SHARE BASIS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 54.55 46.98 70.84 95.07 57.67
Dividend per share (HK cents) 10 3 7 10 4
Net assets per share (HK$) 5.9 6.5 7.2 8.4 9.3
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